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Special District Uniform Accounting and Reporting Procedures

FOREWORD

California Government Code section 53891(b) requires the State Controller to prescribe uniform
accounting procedures for Special Districts. Pursuant to this code section, the Uniform System
of Accounts for Special Districts manual was first issued in 1949. In 2014, the Uniform System
of Accounts for Special Districts manual was renamed and is now referred to as the Special
District Uniform Accounting and Reporting Procedures (SPD) manual.

This manual provides uniform accounting and reporting procedures that conform to Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board (GASB). Guidance for specific account structure (e.g., account numbers,
names, etc.) is left to the discretion of the individual local government as long as the statutory
reporting requirements (e.g., Financial Transactions Reports, Apportionments) of the State
Controller's Office (SCO) and the requirements within this manual are sufficiently met and
satisfied.

SCO is the legal authority for prescribing uniform accounting and reporting procedures for all
local agencies, with the exception of cities, counties, school districts, and those local agencies
that follow a system prescribed by the Public Utilities Commission of the State of California or
the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission. Local agencies will be referred to as either a
local government or a local government entity throughout the manual.

While the guidance and examples found in this manual may correlate with SCO Financial
Transaction Reporting (FTR) instructions, this manual is not intended to serve as a guide for
FTR forms and is not all-inclusive. For detailed FTR guidance, users should refer to the SCO
Local Government Reporting Forms and Instructions, which can be accessed using the
following link:

https://www.sco.ca.gov/ard local_reporting_forms.html

This edition of the manual has been updated to be consistent with GASB Codification as of
December 2023. At that time, GASB Codification included all GASB Statements up to and
including GASB Statement No. 100, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections. Although not
incorporated into Codification as of December 2023, the provisions of GASB Statement No. 101,
Compensated Absences, have been incorporated into the applicable chapters.

The provisions of GASB pronouncements (if any) that have been released, but whose guidance
will not be effective for the upcoming fiscal year (2024 - 25) are presented in Appendix A,
Upcoming Changes, as applicable. This is to assist local government entities in preparing for
future changes. Provisions from additional materials published after GASB Statement No. 101
will be incorporated into future editions of the manual. The current effective dates of GASB
pronouncements are available at https://www.gasb.org/

While this manual provides guidance on accounting and reporting procedures, it also contains
instances in which legal provisions are cited for reference purposes only. It is up to the local
government to determine the applicability of each law for its individual reports. Refer to
Chapter 3.05, Conflicts Between Legal Provisions and GAAP, for guidance concerning this
topic.
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FOREWORD

The manual provides guidance on uniform charts of accounts, fund structures, functions,
activities, and specific accounting procedures for specialized fields. The intent of the manual is
to:

e ensure conformance to generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP);

e promote transparency and consistency in financial reporting; and

e facilitate comparison and analysis of financial reports on a statewide basis by minimizing
differences between local governments’ philosophies, methods, and terminologies.

The manual serves as a guide to aid local governments in the development of accounting and
financial systems, provide continuity and consistency with State reporting requirements, answer
guestions on authority and procedures, provide accounting guidance to meet GAAP reporting
and auditing requirements, and assist in accounting evaluations.

The task of revising and/or updating the SPD manual is a cooperative effort between the SCO,
the Local Government Advisory Committee on Financial Reporting, and the Special Districts
Policy and Interpretation Committee. The result of this collaborative effort is a manual that
provides special districts with current information that is consistent with GAAP.

Special District Uniform Accounting and Reporting Procedures Page iv
2024 Edition



CONTENTS

FOREWORD ...ttt e e e et e e et e e e et e e e et e e e et e e e e e e e e e e eaneeesneeenns iii
L0 @ ] I N 1 v
INTRODUCTION AND GENERAL GOVERNING STANDARDS. ..o Vil
Chapter 1: Introduction to SPecCial DiStrCES ........ccooeieieeeeee e 1
Chapter 2: Governing Standards and RePOItING........coooeeiieeiiiieeee e 15
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES ... .ot e e e e e e et e e e e e e eaa e e eanaaees 25
Chapter 3: Governmental Accounting PrinCiples ... 27
Chapter 4: BasiS Of ACCOUNTING .....cooiiiieeeeeee oo 39
Chapter 5: FUND ACCOUNTING .....ooieeeeeeee oo 45
Chapter 6: Budgetary ACCOUNTING ......cooveeieeeeeeeee oo 67
Chapter 7: Classification and TerminolOgy ........ccooorriiieriiiiee e 83
Chapter 8: The Reporting ENLILY ........ccooiiiiiiiiiii e e e e e e eaeanns 187
Chapter 9: Reporting Capital ASSELS..........uuiiiii e e e e e e 195
Chapter 10: Reporting LiabilitieS.........cooveiriiiii e e e e 225
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ...ttt ettt e e e s e e e e e e e e e s s r e e e e e e e s s s nnnnbbaeaeeeeens 235
(@ aF=T o) (=T gl I I T P= g (o o I =T 0T T 237
Chapter 12: Cash FIOWS Stat€mMENLS ..........uuiiiiie i e e e e e e 273
Chapter 13: Component Unit Presentation and DISCIOSUIE ............cccooveeeeiiiiiiiiiiiii e, 289
SPECIFIC ACCOUNTING ITEMS ...ttt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e nnnneaees 295
Chapter 14: Contracts and AQIrEEMENTS ........cceiieiiiiiiiiiiie e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e earaas 297
Chapter 15: PPPS @n0 APAS ...ttt e e e e e e e e e e e 313
Chapter 16: Investments and LENAING ..........coiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee e e e e e e 349
Chapter 17: Demand Bonds and Debt ODligationS .........ccoooeeieiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 357
(O 0= T (] g RS T = D (T TR 371
Chapter 19: Sales, Pledges, and Intra-Entity Transfers of Future Revenues .............cccccuuuee. 425
Chapter 20: Special ASSESSMENT ACCOUNTING ....covieeeeee e 433
Chapter 21: RiSK MANAGEIMENT ......cooieiie e 447
Chapter 22: Retir@mMENt SYSIEMIS .. ..ccoo i 465
Chapter 23: Deferred Compensation PlansS ..o 523
Chapter 24: Compensated ADSENCES .......ccooie i 531
Chapter 25: Municipal Solid Waste Landfill Closure and Postclosure Care Costs.................... 541
Special District Uniform Accounting and Reporting Procedures Page v

2024 Edition



CONTENTS

(O g T o (=] g2 i =T T 547
Chapter 27: Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements .........ccccooeeevveveevvnnnnnn. 569
APPENDICES ... ittt ettt e ettt e e e e e e s ettt e e e e e e e e e a bbb e e e e e e e e e e e e nnbrarreeaaeaeeaanns 589
AppendiX A: UPCOMING CRaANQES ....uuuiii e eeeeeeieie e et s e e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e eeaaaaaneaeeaeeeeennes 591
F Y o] 1= Lo D = T ] [0 11T 1 VSRR 595
F Y o] 1= Lo D O o LT Yo 10 o =SSR 719
Appendix D: Revenue and Expense Accounts by Function (Program)..............ccceeeeeveeeeennennns 727
Appendix E: Examples of Financial REPOItiNG ............uuuuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiiiiieeeeneees 789
ACKNOWIEUGEIMEINTS. ...ttt 915
Special District Uniform Accounting and Reporting Procedures Page vi

2024 Edition



INTRODUCTION AND GENERAL GOVERNING
STANDARDS



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK



Special District Uniform Accounting and Reporting Procedures

Chapter 1: Introduction to Special Districts
Chapter Contents

Lo o[0T i o] o PO PP 3
SPECIAI DISIIICLS OVEIVIEW ....vvviieeeeeeeeeeeiii et e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e et r e e e e e e e e e eaaasa e e e eaeeeeesssnnnneeeaeees 3
1.01 What iS @ SPECIal DISIIICE? ....uuuiiee et e e e e e e e e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e eanenaa s 3
1.02 TYPES Of SPECIAI DISIIICES .....uuuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiibiie bbb enbnnenes 4
Special DISIHCE ACHVITIES ... 5
1.03 Single and Multiple Function Special DISIICES ............uuuuiuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieees 5
Special DIStHCE FUNGING ... 5
1.04 ENtErpriS@ SPECIAI DISTIICTS ......uuuuuuituiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeie bbb aeseennenees 5
1.05 NonenterpriSe SPECIAl DISTICES........uuuuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii bbb eeenaene 5
Special DISIHCt GOVEIMANCE .......cooe i 6
1.06 Independent SPECIAl DISTICES ........uuuuuuuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiii bbb eeaeenebnnene 6
1.07 Dependent SPECIAI DiSTICES ... ....uuuuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii bbb anebennnnne 6
1.08 SEATULOIY AULNOIILY ...ttt 7
1.09 California Special DiStriCtS ASSOCIALION ........ccceiiiieiiiiiie e ee e e e e e e e e e e 7
1.10 Local Agency Formation COMMISSION .......ciiiieiiiieiiiiiie e e e e e e et e e e e e et e e e e e e e eearaaaas 7
Laws and Related Codes (PriNCIPAl ACES)........uiiiiie it 8
I N [ o T o D 13 T £ ST 8
IO 0= Y1 0] g g1 = AV (T gl 101 1 o £ 8
1.13 California Water Storage DIStrCIS .........uuuiiiiii e e e 8
IO A O | (U RS TS B 1 1o £ 8
1.15 Community SErVICES DISIIICLS ......ccciiiiiiiiiiei e e e e e e e e e e anaaaas 8
1.16 Cotton Pest ADAtEMENT DISIFICES .......uuuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiiiiiiiieieae bbb eensnsnneennnnnnes 8
1.17 County Sanitation DISIIICES ........cciieeiiiiiiiice e e e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e eeraaaas 9
1.18 CoUNtY WALEE DISIICES .....iiiiiiiii e e e e e e e e e e b e e e e aaa s 9
1.19 County DraiNage DISTHCES ........uuuuuiiiiuiiiiiiiiiiiiitiiiiiieibbbbibbb bbb bbbbasaebnnennnnes 9
1.20 Fire ProteCtioN DiISTIICES . ......uuuuiiieeeeiiiieiiiiee e e e e e e e ettt s e e e e e e e e eaaaa s e e e e e e e eeasasnnneeeeeeeeeeessnnnnnes 9
2 I o T 0T 01 1 o3 £ 9
1.22 HOSPITAI DISTIICES ...ttt 9
1.23 ITIQATION DISTIICES ...ttt 10
Special District Uniform Accounting and Reporting Procedures Page 1

2024 Edition



Chapter 1: Introduction to Special Districts

1,24 LEVEE DISIICES ...ututtttiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiittitettbet bbb 10
IS I o = Y I 1= 4 o (SRR 10
1.26 MEMOTIAI DISIIICES ....utttttittiiiiiiiitiiiiietbeiebeea bbb 10
1.27 Mosquito Abatement and Vector Control DIStHCES ........covvieeeiiiieiiiiiiii e 10
1.28 Municipal Utility DIStHICtS (MUD)........coiiiiiiiiii e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e eeeannes 11
1.29 MUNICIPal WALEE DISTFICES ....vvviviiieie e e eeeeeeiiie e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e s e e e e e e e e eeeaaaaaeaeeeeeeennnes 11
1.30 Pest ADAtEMENT DISTICTS ....uuuuriiiie ettt e e e e e e et s e e e e e e e e eeeebaaeeeeeeeeeeeees 11
1.31 POIlIiCe ProteCtion DISIICES ......uuuuiiiieeiiiiiiiiiiie et e e e e e et e e e e e e e e eeaebaaaeeeeeeeeaeeee 11
I 2 o T I ] 1 [ PRSPPI 12
1.33 PUDIIC CemMELErY DISTIICES ....uuuueiiiee ettt e e e et e e e e e e e e e eeaeban s e e e e eeeeeeeees 12
1.34 PUDIIC ULIIEY DISTIICES .....uuitiiiiiiiiiiiiiiitiitiiieiiibebii e 12
1.35 ReCIamMaAtioN DISTICTS .....ceiiiiiiiiiieie e e e et e e e e et s e e e e e e e e e ee e e e e eeeeeeeeesssnnaaaeeeeeeennnes 12
1.36 Recreation and Park DISTIICES ........ccoviiiiiiiiiiiie e e e e e e e e e e e e e e eeeeeees 12
1.37 ReSOort IMProvemMENt DISIIICES. ........uuuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieii bbb eneneeneee 13
1.38 Resource Conservation DISTICES...........uuuuuiiiiiie et e e e e e e e e e e e eeeeeees 13
1.39 RIVET POt DISTICTS ... iiieeeeeeeeiiiiei ettt e e e e e ettt s e e e e e e e e e eeaas e e e e eeeeeeessssnnneaeeeeeeennees 13
1.40 SANIANY DISIIICES .. ..t eeeeeeee e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e et eeeeeeeeeeeaaasa e eaeeeeeeennnes 13
R RS g P 1 IO = U =g o T I ] 1 o £ 13
O I = 11 I ] o £ 14
1.43 Water CoNSErvation DISIICES ........uuuuuuuueiuuiuiiiiieuiiieiteiiaeeaeaeaaae b eaenesessaneseesaenennnnes 14
1.44 Water ReplenisShment DISTHCES. .........ooviiiiiiiii e e e e e eeeanns 14
1.45 Climate ReSIlIENCE DISIIICES .....uuuuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeieeeaaeee bbb aaesnsessanesessnsaennnnes 14
Special District Uniform Accounting and Reporting Procedures Page 2

2024 Edition
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Chapter 1: Introduction to Special Districts

Introduction

A special district is a separate local government that delivers specific public services to a
geographically limited area. Government Code section 56036 defines a special district as “...an
agency of the state, formed pursuant to general law or special act, for the local performance of
governmental or proprietary functions within limited boundaries....”

Special districts have four distinguishing characteristics.

e They are a form of government.

e They have governing boards.

e They provide services and facilities.
e They have defined boundaries.

Special Districts Overview
1.01 What is a Special District?

Special districts deliver diverse services including water, electricity, and transit. Most special
districts provide a single service, such as sewage treatment. Other special districts perform a
wider range of services. For example, Government Code section 61100 et seq. outlines the
various types of services community services districts may provide.

Special districts generally have most of the same basic powers as counties and cities. They can
sign contracts, employ workers, and acquire real property through purchase or eminent domain.
Following constitutional limits, they can also issue bonds, impose special taxes, levy benefits
assessments, and charge service fees. Like other governments, special districts can sue and be
sued, as they are separate legal entities.

Special districts may have corporate power and tax power, but rarely police power. Corporate
power is the ability to perform tangible work, such as public works projects to build and maintain
parks and sewers. Tax power is the authority to raise money to pay for these projects and
services. Police power is the authority to regulate private behavior to accomplish a public goal.

Special districts are not State government. Special districts are local government agencies
that deliver specific services within limited boundaries and in areas outside district boundaries
only if permitted by law. California State government officials, however, oversee California’s
special districts.

Special districts are not county governments or cities. Counties and cities are general-
purpose governments. Counties and cities perform a broad array of services to protect the
health, safety, and welfare of all of their citizens. Special districts are limited-purpose
governments.
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Special districts can provide only the services allowed by California state law and supported by
their residents. Special district financial information may be included on county reports if they
meet the criteria for reporting as a blended component unit, however, the special districts are
still responsible for their own independent reports.

Special districts are not school districts or community college districts. School districts
exist to provide one service — public education. School districts get most of their money from
the State of California. Special districts rely mostly on local revenues.

Special districts are not Mello-Roos districts or assessment districts. Counties, cities,
school districts, and many special districts can create Mello-Roos Act community facility districts
and benefit assessment districts to finance public works and public services. Mello-Roos
districts and benefit assessment districts are just financing mechanisms and do not deliver
services. Special districts use these financing mechanisms to provide public services.

Special districts are not redevelopment agencies. Cities and counties set up community
redevelopment agencies to eliminate blight by paying for public and private improvements and
economic development efforts. Special districts do not exist to eliminate blight. Special districts
provide public services and infrastructure that help communities, but they are not in the
business of direct economic development.

The above list is not all-inclusive. For example, Government Code section 56036(b)(9) states
that neither an air pollution control district nor an air quality maintenance district qualify as
special districts. Refer to Government Code sections 56032.5, 56036, 56036.5, and 56036.6 for
additional information on what constitutes a special district.

1.02 Types of Special Districts

Special districts are as diverse as the communities they serve. With over 3,300 special districts
in California, it may seem overwhelming to understand the purpose and function for all of them.
One way of understanding special districts is to examine their activities, funding, and

governance.
Most of California’s special districts perform a single function such as sewage, water, fire

protection, pest abatement, or cemetery management. Multi-function districts, like community
services districts, provide two or more services.

Examples of special districts include, but are not limited to, the following:

e Airport District

e Cemetery District

e Community Services District

e Drainage District

e Flood Control, Water Conservation District
e Fire Protection District

e Healthcare/Hospital District

e Harbor/Ports District

e Improvement District

e lIrrigation District
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e Library District

e Mosquito Abatement/Vector Control District
e Police Protection District

e Reclamation Districts

e Recreation & Park/Open Space District

e Sanitation/Sewer District

e Transit District

e Ultility District

e Water District

e Waste Management Agency/Authority

Special District Activities

1.03 Single and Multiple Function Special Districts

Many special districts are single function districts. They usually provide only one type of service
such as water, sewage, mosquito abatement, waste disposal, or fire protection.

Multiple function special districts are districts whose functions cover a various range of services,
from safety and recreation services to water, sewage, and street lighting services. Community
services districts (refer to Gov. Code, 861000 et seq., Community Services District Law) and
county service areas (refer to Gov. Code, 825210 et seq., County Service Area Law) are types
of special districts that can provide any or all of a wide variety of services. An example of a
multi-function district would be a fire protection district that is primarily formed to prevent and
suppress fires, but is also authorized to provide ambulance service.

Special districts that engage in more than one function should maintain separate revenue and
expenditure accounts for each function. Doing so will aid in the preparation of financial
statements, as well as assist with providing the necessary reports required by the State
Controller’s Office.

Special District Funding

Special districts are generally classified as either enterprise or nonenterprise, depending on the
source of their funding. Regardless of their general designations, any special district may
require accounting for both enterprise and nonenterprise funds. Refer to Chapter 5, Fund
Accounting for more information on fund reporting requirements.

1.04 Enterprise Special Districts

Enterprise special districts are primarily financed by user fees that are set at a level to cover
costs. Airports, harbors, hospitals, and water and sewer utilities are examples of districts that
operate as enterprise special districts.

1.05 Nonenterprise Special Districts

Nonenterprise special districts rely primarily on tax revenues such as property tax revenues to
fund their operations. Occasionally, a nonenterprise special district will charge user fees to fund
certain services.
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For example, a policing district may charge a fee to fund their law enforcement educational
programs. Types of nonenterprise special districts include — but are not limited to — fire and
police protection, cemeteries, libraries, and mosquito abatement programs, because the
services they provide benefit the entire community, and not just individual residents.

Special District Governance

There are two forms of special district governance. A special district is classified as either
independent or dependent, according to the type of governing body under which it operates.

1.06 Independent Special Districts

An independent special district operates under a locally elected, independent board of directors.
It is independent from other governments and is directly accountable to the people it serves.

As defined by Government Code section 56044, an “...independent special district includes any
special district having a legislative body all of whose members are elected by registered voters
or landowners within the district, or whose members are appointed to fixed terms....”
Approximately two-thirds of California State’s special districts are independent special districts.
Independent special districts have separate governing boards whose members are elected or
appointed as described in Government Code section 56044. Registered voters of a community
commonly select an independent district’s board of directors. In some water districts, political
power rests with the landowners. In circumstances where the special districts’ services primarily
benefit the land and not the people, the courts have upheld the use of landowner-voter districts.

An independent special district can be either single-function or multiple-function, and can be
either enterprise or nonenterprise. For example, a community services district is usually an
independent, multiple function, enterprise special district. This type of special district is
independent because its voters elect its governing board; it is multiple-function because it
provides various services such as sewer, street lighting, and roadside maintenance services;
and it is enterprise because the special district charges its customers user fees for the sewer
services.

1.07 Dependent Special Districts

A dependent special district operates under the control of a county board of supervisors, a city
council, or another local agency. City councils and county supervisors often appoint local
advisory boards to assist and advise them in governing dependent special districts.

Dependent special districts typically have at least one or more of the following characteristics:

e One or more of its governing body members are identical to the governing body members of
a single county or a single municipality;

e One or more of its governing body members are appointed by the governing body of a single
county or a single municipality;

e During unexpired terms, its governing body members are subject to removal at will by the
governing body of a single county or a single municipality;

e Its budget requires approval through an affirmative vote by the governing body of a single
county or a single municipality; or

e The governing body of a single county or a single municipality can veto its budget.
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As defined in Government Code section 56032.5, a “dependent special district includes any
special district that has a legislative body that consists, in whole or part, of ex officio members
who are officers of a county or another local agency, or who are appointees of those officers,
and who are not appointed to fixed terms.”

A dependent special district can be either single-function or multiple-function, and be either
enterprise or nonenterprise. For example, a fire protection district can be a dependent, single
function, nonenterprise special district. It is dependent because it is governed by a county board
of supervisors; it is single function because it delivers only one type of service (e.g., fire
protection), and it is nonenterprise because the special district is supported primarily by taxes.
Note that while nonenterprise special districts may charge user fees for providing services, user
fees are not their primary source of revenue.

1.08 Statutory Authority

There are over 50 major types of special districts ranging from airport to cemetery to water
conservation districts. However, all types of special districts operate under either a principal act

or special act.

A principal act is a generic statute that applies to all special districts of that type. For example,
the Community Services District Law (refer to Gov. Code, 861000 et seq.) governs all
community services districts. Common examples of special districts formed under principal acts
include, but are not limited to, County Service Areas, Fire Protection Districts, Community
Services Districts, Cemetery Districts, and County Water Districts.

Occasionally, local circumstances do not fit the general conditions anticipated by the principal
acts. In these cases, the California State Legislature can use a special act to create a district
that is tailored to the unigue needs of a specific area. Special act districts are typically regional
in nature, have unusual governing board requirements, provide unigue services, or need special
financing. Examples of districts formed under special acts include the Embarcadero Municipal
Improvement District (Santa Barbara County) and the Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation, and
Conservation District (Humboldt County).

The following groups provide resources to assist special districts with non-accounting guidance
related to formation and the principal acts.

1.09 California Special Districts Association

The California Special Districts Association (CSDA) is a not-for-profit association formed to
promote good governance and improved core local services through professional development,
advocacy, and other services for all independent special districts throughout California.

1.10 Local Agency Formation Commission

Local Agency Formation Commissions (LAFCos) are formed under California law (refer to
Gov. Code, 856300 et seq.) and typically oversee boundary changes of cities and special
districts, and formation of new agencies, which includes incorporation, consolidation, or
reorganization of special districts or cities.
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Laws and Related Codes (Principal Acts)

1.11 Airport Districts
California Public Utilities Code section 22001 et seq.

These special districts facilitate the development of airports, spaceports, and air navigation
facilities. The special district’s objective is to encourage airport and spaceport development and
to distribute the cost uniformly among all who benefit.

1.12 California Water Districts

California Water Code section 34000 et seq.

These special districts acquire, plan, construct, maintain, improve, and keep in repair the
necessary works for the production, storage, transmission, and destruction of water for
irrigation, domestic, industrial and municipal purposes, and any drainage or reclamation works
connected with any such projects.

1.13 California Water Storage Districts

California Water Code section 39000 et seq.

These special districts acquire, improve, and operate the necessary works for the storage and
distribution of water to customers for agricultural uses, supply hydroelectric energy to a variety
of users, and provide groundwater banking and storage services. They have the ability to
construct, purchase, lease, and exchange material for work that includes conduits, reservoirs,
storage sites, water sheds, machinery, wells, pumps, dams, and other such appliances and their
accessories.

1.14 Citrus Pest Districts

California Food and Agriculture Code section 8401 et seq.

These special districts can be formed for the effective control and eradication of citrus pests.
Citrus pest includes any infectious, transmissible, or contagious disease, any form of animal life,
or any form of vegetable life infesting citrus trees or citrus fruits.

1.15 Community Services Districts

California Government Code section 61000 et seq. and California Public Contract Code section
20680 et seq.

Community Service Districts are special districts that provide more than one of the various
services that other service-specific districts provide.

1.16 Cotton Pest Abatement Districts

California Food and Agriculture Code section 6051 et seq.

These special districts control and prevent the introduction of pests which may invade and
cause losses of several million dollars on a yearly basis to California State’s cotton crop. The
special district maintains control of cotton plants in areas that are at risk.
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1.17 County Sanitation Districts
California Health and Safety Code section 4700 et seq.

These special districts protect public health and the environment of the community by providing
wastewater collection services in a safe, efficient, and innovative manner.

1.18 County Water Districts
California Water Code section 30000 et seq.

These special districts provide various services, which include distribution of water (present or
future use), collection, treatment and disposal of sewage, garbage and trash services, fire
protection and recreational facilities.

1.19 County Drainage Districts

California Water Code section 56000 et seq.

County drainage districts typically acquire, construct, complete, operate, and maintain a surface
or underground drainage system(s) thereof and such ditches, drains, conduits, pipelines,
systems of ditches, drains, conduits or pipelines or combinations thereof as many be
determined necessary to accomplish the objects and purposes of the district.

1.20 Fire Protection Districts

California Health and Safety Code section 13800 et seq.

These special districts can be formed to provide fire protection and other emergency services in
that community. Fire protection districts are formed under the Fire Protection District Law of
1987 (SB 515).

1.21 Harbor Districts
California Harbors and Navigation Code section 6000 et seq.

These special districts are generally created for the improvement or the development of a
harbor. Services provided by these districts may also include supervision of pilots and pilotage
of sea-going vessels within the harbor, as well as regulating and controlling the anchoring,
mooring, towing and docking of vessels.

1.22 Hospital Districts
California Health and Safety Code section 32000 et seq.

These special districts typically establish, maintain, operate, or provide assistance in the
operation of, one or more health facilities or health services. These facilities or services include,
but are not limited to: outpatient programs, services, and facilities; retirement programs,
services, and facilities; chemical dependency programs, services, and facilities; or other health
care programs, services, and facilities and activities at any location within or outside the district
for the benefit of the district and the people served by the district, including ambulance services.
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1.23 Irrigation Districts
California Water Code section 20500 et seq.

A community can form irrigation districts under the Irrigation District Law, which is a principal
act. These districts generally provide services such as furnishing sufficient water for any
beneficial use, drainage for irrigation purposes, purchasing or leasing of electricity, maintaining
and operating recreation facilities for flood control, sewage disposal services, maintaining and
operating recreational facilities in connection of dams, reservoirs or other works owned and
controlled by the district.

1.24 Levee Districts

California Water Code section 70000 et seq.

These special districts acquire or construct drains, canals, sluices, bulkheads, watergates,
levees, embankments, pumping plants and pipelines in order to protect the land of the special
district from overflow, and to conserve or add water to the sloughs and drains in their respective
districts. Duties also include maintenance of these infrastructure assets.

1.25 Library Districts
California Education Code section 19400 et seq.

Library districts may establish, equip, and maintain public libraries for the dissemination of
knowledge of the arts, sciences, and general literature.

1.26 Memorial Districts

California Military and Veterans Code section 1170 et seq.

These special districts provide and maintain memorial halls, assembly halls, and buildings, as
well as suitable indoor and outdoor parks and recreation facilities, including swimming pools,
picnic areas, and playgrounds, for the use of the public or organizations.

1.27 Mosquito Abatement and Vector Control Districts
California Health and Safety Code section 2000 et seq.

Communities can form mosquito abatement and vector control districts under the Mosquito
Abatement and Vector Control District Law, the principal act for these special districts. The
special districts function as an authority over programs for the surveillance, prevention,
abatement, and control of mosquitoes and other vectors to protect the health, safety, and
welfare of the public.
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1.28 Municipal Utility Districts (MUD)
California Public Utilities Code section 11501 et seq.

These special districts provide various services such as light, power, heat transportation,
communication services, water services, sewage disposal services and solid waste services
through construction, operation, maintenance of sewers, sewage treatment works, and solid
waste resource recovery facilities for the purpose of reducing, converting, recycling solid waste,
and other services within the MUD boundaries.

1.29 Municipal Water Districts

California Water Code section 71000 et seq.

These special districts provide reliable water services to meet the needs of the community at an
economical cost while taking the steps to promote water-use efficiency. The special districts
may acquire, distribute, and store any water, including sewage and storm waters, for the
beneficial use or uses of the special district, or the owners of rights to water in the special
district.

It may also undertake a water conservation program to reduce water use and restrict the use of
special district water during any emergencies. It may also improve and operate public
recreational facilities that are not appurtenant to a water reservoir but operated by the special
district.

1.30 Pest Abatement Districts

California Health and Safety Code section 2800 et seq.

These special districts control and prevent the introduction of pests, which include any plant,
animal, insect, fish, or other matter or material, not under human control, which is offensive to
the senses or interferes with the comfortable enjoyment of life, or which is detrimental to the
agricultural industry of the State of California, and is not protected under any other provision of
law.

1.31 Police Protection Districts

California Health and Safety Code section 20000 et seq.

These special districts protect and safeguard life and property by providing police and security
services in unincorporated towns. These special districts may equip and maintain a police
department as well as ambulances to secure police protection for the members of the special
district.
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1.32 Port Districts
California Harbors and Navigation Code section 6200 et seq.

Communities can form port districts pursuant to the principal act. Port districts typically acquire,
purchase, takeover, construct, maintain, operate, develop, and regulate wharves, docks,
warehouses, grain elevators, bunkering facilities, belt railroads, floating plants, lighterage, lands,
towage facilities, and any and all other facilities, aids, or public personnel, incident to, or
necessary for, the operation and development of ports, waterways, and the district.

1.33 Public Cemetery Districts

California Health and Safety Code section 9000 et seq.

Communities can establish public cemetery districts under the Public Cemetery District Law, the
principal act for public cemeteries. Typically, public cemetery districts own, operate, improve,
and maintain cemeteries and provide interment services to communities within their allocated
boundaries.

1.34 Public Utility Districts
California Public Utilities Code section 15501 et seq.

Public Utility Districts provide a variety of services. These services include, but are not limited to
light, heating, water, power, heat, transportation, telephone service (including other means of
communication), disposition of garbage, sewage, or refuse matter, fire department services,
street lighting system, public recreational facilities (including parks) and drainage of streets,
roads and public places.

1.35 Reclamation Districts
California Water Code section 50000 et seq.

These districts are formed for the maintenance, protection, and repair of reclamation works, in
upon or appertaining to such body of lands, or for the completion of the reclamation thereof.
Services provided by these districts include, but not limited to the acquiring, constructing,
operating, maintaining, repairing, and improvement of land, works and facilities for collection,
treatment, and disposal of sewage waste. The district may also maintain and operate a
hydroelectric power plant for the sale of electricity.

1.36 Recreation and Park Districts

California Public Resources Code section 5780 et seq.

This type of special district organizes and promotes programs of community recreation, parks
and open space, parking, transportation, and other related services to improve the quality of life
in the community.
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1.37 Resort Improvement Districts
California Public Resources Code section 13000 et seq.

Resort improvement districts exist to provide various services to residents within its boundary
including water services (irrigation, sanitation, industrial use, fire protection, and recreation);
collection, treatment, or disposal of sewage, waste, and storm water of the district; fire and
police protection services; disposal of garbage or refuse matter; public recreation by means of
parks; and certain type of street and road development.

1.38 Resource Conservation Districts

California Public Resources Code section 9151 et seq.

Resource conservation districts are formed for the control of runoff, the prevention or control of
soil erosion, the development and distribution of water, and the improvement of land
capabilities, generally for the viability of agricultural land. They have the authority to conduct
surveys, investigations, and research. An elected board of directors governs these special
districts.

1.39 River Port Districts
California Harbors and Navigation Code section 6800 et seq.

These districts may acquire, purchase, take over, construct, maintain, operate, develop, and
regulate wharves, docks, warehouses, grain elevators, bunkering facilities, belt railroads,
floating plants, lighterage, lands, towage facilities, and all other facilities, aids, or public
personnel, incident to, or necessary for, the operation and development of ports, waterways,
and the district. Services may include any improvements that will aid in the improvement of
navigation or commerce within the district.

1.40 Sanitary Districts

California Health and Safety Code section 6400 et seq.

The Sanitary District Act of 1923 governs the formation, elections, governance, and operations
of a sanitary district. Sanitary districts oversee all aspects of waste management systems,
including construction, operation, collection, and treatment of garbage. An elected board
governs the special district. A sanitary district may be merged with a county sanitation district,
following the County Sanitation District Act.

1.41 Small Craft Harbor Districts

California Harbors and Navigation Code section 7000 et seq.

The district may acquire, construct, reconstruct, improve, repair, develop, maintain, and operate
a harbor and all related facilities. Other services may include, but are not limited to, dredging
services of shipways and channels; acquisition, repair, and maintenance of jetty-type facilities
(including buildings, docks, streets and roads); operation of fireboats, sanitary, and any other
facilities necessary for the proper protection of the harbor. For more information refer to section
7149 of the California Harbors and Navigation Code.
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1.42 Transit Districts
California Public Utilities Code section 24501 et seq.

Transit districts in California construct and operate rail lines, bus lines, stations, platforms,
terminals, and any other facilities necessary or convenient for transit service.

1.43 Water Conservation Districts

California Water Code section 74000 et seq.

Water conservation districts can be formed under the Conservation Act of California, the Water
Conservation Act of 1929 and the Water Conservation Act of 1931. These districts, among other
things, conserve, store, spread, and sink water. To perform these functions the district may
acquire or construct dams, dam sites, reservoirs and reservoir sites, canals, ditches and
conduits, spreading basins, sinking wells, and sinking basins.

These districts may also operate hydroelectric plants for the purposes of power generation
(including the sale of power) and the operation of recreational facilities in connection to dams,
reservoirs or other works owned or controlled by the district.

1.44 Water Replenishment Districts
California Water Code section 60000 et seq.

Water replenishment districts are formed and governed under the Water Replenishment District
Act. An elected board consisting of five members governs the special district, with the
responsibility of replenishing and protecting the ground water supply of the community it serves.

1.45 Climate Resilience Districts

California Government Code section 62300 et seq.

Climate resilience districts are formed for the purposes of raising and allocating funding for
eligible projects that address climate change and the operating expenses of these eligible
products.
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Chapter 2: Governing Standards and Reporting

Introduction

Through the passage of principal acts and special acts, as amended by California legislation,
the following statements are applicable to local governments:

e Financial reporting is an essential requirement by law;

e Local governments exist to serve a public purpose and must be held to certain minimum
standards of accountability to keep the public, general-purpose local governments, and
California State agencies informed of their statuses and activities;

e A function of the reporting requirements is to improve communication and coordination
among California State agencies, general-purpose local governments, counties, and special
districts; and

e When local governments fail to comply with minimum disclosure requirements, the State of
California has the authority to take action to assist the noncomplying local governments to
come into compliance. If necessary, legal action may be required to enforce compliance
(e.g., refer to Gov. Code, §12464).

Statutorily Required Reporting

2.01 Local Government Financial Reporting

Local government financial reporting helps to provide for the timely, accurate, uniform, and
cost-effective accumulation of financial and other information. Counties, special districts,
municipalities, and California State agencies have vital roles and responsibilities in this system.
Members of the California State Legislature and other officials rely on this information to:

e enhance citizen participation in local government;

e improve the financial condition of local governments;

e provide essential government services in an efficient and effective manner; and

e improve decision-making on the part of the California State Legislature, California State
agencies, and local government officials on matters relating to local government.

Local governments are primarily accountable to the voters who elect their governing bodies and
the citizenry who use their services. Additionally, the State of California provides critical
oversight to special district operations.

Pursuant to Government Code section 53891, local governments are required to submit annual

financial reports to the State Controller consistent with generally accepted accounting principles.
Local governments must also follow California State laws pertaining to public meetings, bonded
debt, record keeping, and elections.
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While local governments may maintain accounts best suited to their operations, they should
maintain a system that is consistent with the guidelines in this manual. Local governments are
also advised to keep records that readily correlate to the requirements needed to prepare the
various State Controller's Office (SCO) required financial reports.

2.02 Legal Disclosures

Listed below are just a few of the statutes that are applicable to all local governments:

e The Ralph M. Brown Act — most commonly referred to as The Brown Act — mandates that
all meetings of the legislative body of a local government (such as the board of
directors/supervisors) shall be open and public, and any member of the public is permitted to
attend (refer to Gov. Code, 854950 et seq.).

e The California Public Records Act gives the public the right to access public information in
the possession of public agencies, subject to privacy laws (refer to Gov. Code, §7920 et
seq.).

e The Political Reform Act of 1974 formed the California Fair Political Practices Commission,
which requires disclosure of receipts and expenditures (such as gifts, money, or services) by
public officials and employees and the filing of reports or statements. The annual filing of
Statements of Economic Interest is one such statement to ensure government serves the
needs of citizens equally without regard to wealth (refer to Gov. Code, 881000 et seq.).

2.03 Reporting to California State Agencies

California State agencies are responsible for reviewing, interpreting, and summarizing financial
information for the public, the California State Legislature, and other officials. Therefore, each
local government must submit the following reports to California State agencies, as applicable:

e Annual Financial Audit Report

e Financial Transactions Reports

e Bond Reports

e Retirement System Reports

e Government Compensation in California Report

The California State Controller’s Office: Pursuant to Government Code section 12463, every
local government in California must report its financial information, as well as the salary and
compensation of all staff and board members, to the State Controller every year. The financial
information is then published on the State Controller's website for public use.

The County Auditor-Controller's Office: California State law (Gov. Code, 826909) requires
special districts to submit to regular audits that are performed by a county auditor or a certified
public accountant. These audits are public documents and must be filed with the State
Controller's Office and the County Auditor-Controller.
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The California State Treasurer’s Office: Pursuant to Government Code section 53410 et. seq.,
every local government in California must report its bond sales, and must include a statement
indicating the specific purposes of the bond and an annual report to the Public Finance Division
of the California State Treasurer.

2.04 Reporting between Local Governments

Local governments need certain information to coordinate activities. Therefore, each special
district must submit the following to each county government in which it is located:

e Public facilities report;
e Designation of registered office and agent; and
e Regular public meeting schedule.

2.05 LAFCo Reporting Requirements

The Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCo) is responsible for conducting mandatory
reviews to ensure that special districts do not overstep their boundaries by providing services
without prior approval, and for recommending the dissolution of any special district that no
longer serves its intended purpose.

Special district information must properly classify each district and provide required information
to certain California State agencies, all general-purpose local governments, and LAFCo. Each
special district must file the following information:

e Creation document (including amendments, if any);

e A written statement referencing the basis for its independent or dependent status (from
newly formed special districts); and

e Boundary map (including amendments, if any).

In addition, Government Code section 26909 requires special districts to submit their audited
financial statements to the LAFCo of the county in which the special district is located. If the
special district is located in two or more counties, then the audited financial statement must be
provided to each LAFCo within each county in which the special district is located.

2.06 Noncomplying Local Governments

A local government that fails, or refuses, to make and file its report(s) within 20 days after
receipt of a written notice of the failure from the State Controller's Office, shall receive a penalty
in accordance with Government Code section 53895.

When the Attorney General receives notice that a local government has failed to comply with
statutorily required reporting, the State Controller’s Office will provide technical assistance and,
if necessary, initiate enforcement. Upon a satisfactory showing of good cause, the State
Controller’s Office may waive the penalties for late filing.
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In the case of a local government that did not file its required reports or information on time, the
State Controller’s Office will send a certified letter that summarizes the requirements. The
purpose of the letter is to encourage local governments to take steps to prevent noncompliance
from reoccurring.

In the case of a special district, the State Controller’s Office will send a certified letter to the
special district’s registered agent and a copy of the letter to the chair of the governing body of
the local government. The letter will include the following:

e description of the required report;

e statutory submission deadlines;

e contact telephone number for technical assistance;

e address where the report must be filed; and

e consequences of failing to comply with the requirements.

2.07 Enforcement

The State Controller's Office (SCO) will notify the Attorney General of any local government that
failed or refused to file the required reports within 20 days after receiving written notice of the
failure from SCO. At the request of SCO, the Attorney General will impose one of the following
penalties pursuant to Government Code section 53895 et al.:

e One thousand dollars ($1,000), when the local government’s total prior year revenue is less
than one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000), as reported in the Controller’'s annual
financial reports;

e Two thousand five hundred dollars ($2,500), when the local government’s total prior year
revenue is at least one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000) but less than two hundred fifty
thousand dollars ($250,000), as reported in the Controller’s annual financial reports; or

e Five thousand dollars ($5,000), when the local government’s total prior year revenue is at
least two hundred fifty thousand dollars ($250,000), as reported in the Controller’s annual
financial reports.

Upon a satisfactory showing of good cause, the State Controller's Office may waive the
penalties for late filing.

2.08 Inactive Special Districts

According to Government Code section 56042, a special district is deemed to be inactive if it
meets all of the following criteria:

e The special district meets the requirements as defined in Government Code section 56036;
e The special district has had no financial transactions in the previous fiscal year;

e The special district has no assets and liabilities; and

e The special district has no outstanding debts, judgments, litigation, contracts, liens or claims.
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Pursuant to Government Code section 56879.5, if a special district was formed by special
legislation that is required by its enabling statute to obtain funding within a specified period of
time or be dissolved, the special district shall not be regarded as an inactive special district
during that specified period of time. For more information on inactive special districts, refer to
Government Code section 56879.

2.09 Minimum Requirements for Special Districts

Special districts should maintain a carefully kept, readable checkbook that has been reconciled
to the bank statements. The following checkbook tasks should be performed:

e All money coming into the special district should be deposited into the special district bank
account and recorded in the accounting records.

e Payments should not be made using cash on hand unless the cash is part of a properly
established petty cash fund.

e A running checkbook balance should be kept and all entries made in the checkbook should
be immediate so nothing is forgotten, clearly documented, and well explained (e.g., it is not
necessary to write Deposit because that is obvious from the column it is placed in, but it is
necessary to explain where it came from and what it was for).

e The checkbook should be reconciled monthly to the bank statement.

The legislative body of the special district may adopt a resolution for the destruction or
disposition of its categorized records or adopt and comply with a record retention schedule that
complies with guidelines provided by the California Secretary of State (refer to section 2.12,
Documentation and Retention for more information).

For special districts in which the checkbook may be the official financial record, the checkbook
should be kept in a secure location.

2.10 Other Uniform Systems of Accounts

In the preparation of financial statements, local governments must determine if other guidance
(accounting or statutory) supersedes the guidance found in this manual. Local governments
should maintain their accounting systems on a legal compliance basis, but they should also
maintain sufficient additional reports to facilitate reporting according to the GAAP guidelines.

The discussion provided in this chapter section is for guidance only and contains general
recommendations. This chapter section is not an all-inclusive list of other accounting or statutory
provisions that may be applicable to local governments.

Public Utility Districts

Pursuant to Government Code section 53891(b), local governments that substantially follow a
system of accounting prescribed by the California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) or the
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) are not required to follow the accounting
procedures prescribed in this manual.
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According to Public Utilities Code section 216(a), a public utility:

Includes every common carrier, toll bridge corporation, pipeline corporation, gas
corporation, electrical corporation, telephone corporation, telegraph corporation, water
corporation, sewer system corporation and heat corporation, where the service is
performed for, or the commodity is delivered to, the public or any portion thereof.

To review accounting guidance prescribed by the CPUC, refer to their website at:
https://www.cpuc.ca.gov/

To review accounting guidance prescribed by the FERC, refer to their website at:
https://www.ferc.gov.

Transit Districts

Local governments may also refer to the Federal Transit Administration’s (FTA) — Uniform
Systems of Accounts publication on the FTA website at https://www.transit.dot.gov, for
supplemental guidance on their accounting procedures.

Hospital Districts

California Health and Safety Code section 128675, et seq., provides legal guidance for handling
health data and requires local governments that operate health facilities to follow the uniform
system of accounting and reporting prescribed by the California Department of Health Care
Access and Information (HCAI).

Refer to the HCAI website, at https://hcai.ca.gov, to view the Accounting and Reporting Manual
for California Hospitals.

Municipal Utility District Act California Law

Pursuant to Public Utilities Code section 11881 et seq., water and electric distribution districts
formed under the California Municipal Utility District Act may follow the appropriate Uniform
System of Accounts prescribed by the California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC). For more
information refer to the CPUC website at https://www.cpuc.ca.gov/.

2.11 Internal Controls

All accounting systems should contain appropriate internal controls for both the system function
and all elements of accounting. Development of either manual or automated financial systems
should provide for a methodology for review by qualified auditing personnel to verify the
adequacy of the accounting procedures, internal controls, and audit trails. Refer to the internal
control guidelines for local agencies (governments) available on the SCO’s website at
https://sco.ca.gov/pubs_guides.html (scroll down to the Other section).

The systems covered should not only include financial accounting systems, but also non-
accounting systems with financial accounting elements.
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2.12 Documentation and Retention

All financial transactions and records are subject to audit and should be well documented to
provide a complete audit trail. Expenditures, for example, should be adequately supported by
purchase agreements (purchase orders, contracts, etc.), invoices, bills of lading, inventory
records, or similar support.

The purchase agreement should be properly authorized and approved, verifying that it is
supported by both budget requirements and legal authority for the expenditure. It should also
identify an agreed-upon price and other expectations for a deliverable. The invoice should then
match the amount on the purchase agreement before payment is made. Payment should also
be supported with a bill of lading, showing the delivery was made and correctly charged, and the
inventory receipt record should further support that the delivery was properly controlled on site.

Records should be maintained and disposed of as required by applicable laws and regulations,
with internal controls and transparency in mind. According to Government Code section 12236,
the Secretary of State (SOS) administers the Local Government Records Program, which
provides the minimum guidelines for local government records maintenance and retention.

These guidelines can be found in the California State Archives section of the SOS website at
https://www.sos.ca.gov/archives/ (click the link on the SOS page for Local Government Records
Management).

Federal, State, and local agencies may have additional specific guidelines for documentation
and retention (e.g., grants, etc.). It is the responsibility of each local government to ensure that
they are in compliance with any applicable requirements.
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Chapter 3: Governmental Accounting Principles

Introduction

The guidelines in this manual are consistent with and in accordance to governmental Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). The Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB), established as an arm of the Financial Accounting Foundation in April 1984, was
created to promulgate standards of financial accounting and reporting on activities and
transactions of governments and is the source of authoritative governmental GAAP for
California local governments. Refer to Chapter 3.04, Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
for specific information on this topic.

The standards established by GASB provide guidance in accounting and reporting for
governmental operations. Government operations that are similar to business enterprises
closely parallel commercial accounting and reporting.

The GASB provides governmental accounting and reporting standards through the issuance of
GASB Pronouncements. These pronouncements require numerous changes to the manual. A
complete listing of all GASB Pronouncements is located on the GASB website, which can be
accessed at: http://www.gasb.org

Legal provisions sometimes conflict with GAAP; however, such conflicts do not require
maintaining two accounting systems. The accounting system may be maintained on a legal
compliance basis, but should include sufficient additional records to permit GAAP-based
reporting.

A government accounting system should make it possible to both:

A) present fairly and with full disclosure the funds and activities of the governmental unit in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles; and
B) determine and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal and contractual provisions.

In California, there are few, if any, provisions of general statutory law that conflict with GAAP.
However, if a conflict does exist, financial statements should still be prepared in conformance
with GAAP. In situations where legal provisions conflict with GAAP, legal basis data is typically
reflected in the accounts and in the budgetary statements, and are used as the starting point for
deriving statements prepared in conformity with GAAP. Refer to Chapter 3.05, Conflicts
between Legal Provisions and GAAP, for specific information on this topic.
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Basic Governmental Accounting Principles
3.01 GAAP Hierarchy

The hierarchy levels of authoritative GAAP guidance are displayed in the following pyramid and
table.

Category A

Original GASB
Pronouncements and
Codfication

GASB Technical Bulletins Category B

GASB Implementatin Guides

AICPA Literature cleared by the GASB

Category C

Nonauthoritative Accounting Literature
(Cannot conflict or contradict authoritative GAAP)

Legend Table — GAAP Hierarchy

Legend Definition

Accounting literature officially established by the Governmental Accounting
Category A | Standards Board (GASB), including original GASB Pronouncements and
Codification.

GASB Technical Bulletins, Implementation Guides, and American Institute of

Category B Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) literature cleared by the GASB.

Nonauthoritative literature that does not conflict with or contradict authoritative
Category C | GAAP listed in the above categories. This would include GASB literature that is
outside of categories A and B.
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3.02 Fundamental Principles

Below is a list of basic and fundamental principles of accounting and reporting that are
applicable for local governments when choosing to apply fund-based accounting as integrated
into the GASB Codification of Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards.
These principles are covered in detail throughout the manual and include, but are not limited to,
the following:

e Accounting and Reporting Capabilities

e Fund Types

e Fund Accounting Systems

e Number of Funds

e Reporting Capital Assets

e Valuation of Capital Assets

e Depreciation of Capital Assets

e Reporting Long-Term Liabilities

e Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting

e Government-wide Financial Statements

e Fund Financial Statements

e Budgeting, Budgetary Control, and Budgetary Reporting
e Transfer, Revenue, and Expenditure Account Classification
e Common Terminology and Classification

e Interim and Annual Financial Reports

Financial statements and other reports should be prepared as needed to facilitate management
control of financial operations, legislative oversight, and, where necessary or desired, for
external reporting purposes.

3.03 Use of Accounts

There is no generic set of accounts that is applicable to all local governments. Organizations
should structure accounts (accounting systems) according to their own internal reporting needs
and requirements. Where appropriate, local governments may supplement the suggested
classifications in this manual with additional account titles in order to meet the needs of their
management and reporting requirements.

Additionally, local governments do not need to incorporate all of the accounts prescribed in this
manual when designing their accounting systems. The numbering system used in this manual is
for illustrative purposes only and each local government should devise its own account coding
system consistent with its accounting needs.

A local government should keep in mind its individual purpose and the legislation that directs its
functions when designing its chart of accounts. For example, a police district will have accounts
related to public safety; a cemetery district would not use the same chart of accounts, as its
primary function does not involve public protection.
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3.04 Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) are uniform minimum standards and
guidelines for financial accounting and reporting. They provide a foundation for recording and
reporting financial transactions. The resulting standardization of financial statements allow
comparability and consistency between governmental entities across reporting periods, making
them more reliable for end users.

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Codification and original
pronouncements, as amended, are the authoritative sources of U.S. GAAP. According to the
Financial Accounting Foundation (FAF), “The GASB establishes accounting and financial
reporting standards for U.S. state and local governments that follow GAAP.”

The FAF also states that “GAAP-based financial information enables rating agencies to
compare governments, while helping investors obtain more comprehensive and reliable
information on a government’s finances.”

3.05 Conflicts between Legal Provisions and GAAP

As previously stated, legal provisions sometimes conflict with GAAP. For example, the law may
require that both operating and capital expenditures for a designated general governmental
function be paid from and accounted for through the general fund, even though long-term
borrowing is being used to finance the capital expenditures. A legal provision of this type
violates the GAAP principle that capital outlays of this nature, which are being financed from
general obligation bond proceeds, should be accounted for through a capital projects fund.
When these types of conflicts occur, the basic financial statements should be prepared in
conformity with GAAP.

Additional schedules and narrative explanations should be included in the Annual
Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) to identify and explain any differences between GAAP
and the legal requirements. The accounting system may be maintained on a legal compliance
basis if sufficient records are included to permit reporting in accordance with GAAP.

3.06 Legal and Contractual Restrictions

The entire pattern of governmental organizational structure, operations, accounting, auditing,
and financial reporting is dictated by a combination of federal, state, and local laws and other
legislative, administrative, and judicial determinations. A thorough working knowledge of the
legal requirements to which a local government is subject is a prerequisite for understanding its
operation and financial affairs.
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3.07 The Accounting Cycle

Accounting fundamentals are part of the process for recording, classifying, and summarizing in
a significant manner and in terms of money, transactions and events of the financial character of
a local government. The recording and processing of accounting data follows the cycle indicated
in the following diagram:

Frepzaring . ’

Transactions

Statements
Clozing A . C . l Journalizing
Accounts cc““ﬂhﬂg }C € Transactions
Adjusting Summarizing

Accounts ' ' Transactions

Uniformity

In order to ensure comparability from year to year and between governments, the systems and
procedures prescribed in this manual provide uniformity and are applicable to all California local
governments.

Materiality

An item may be considered material if the omission or misstatement of the item would affect the
judgment of a reasonable person relying on the financial statements. For example, a common
measure for determining whether a misstatement was material to the statement of activity
(operations) is to determine whether the amount of the misstatement was more than an
established percentage of the net increase or decrease in the net position.

Source Documents

Transactions are first evidenced by a source document, such as a deposit permit, purchase
order, invoice, warrant, or journal voucher, along with any other supporting documentation.
Source documents are the first record of a financial transaction; they serve to initiate the
accounting cycle.
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Journals

A journal (or register) is a book or form in which financial transactions are recorded. A single
journal is usually limited to recording the transactions represented by a specific type of source
document, such as a:

e check register records all checks;
e deposit register records all deposit; and
e general journal records all general journal entries.

Today, local governments can use accounting systems that have the ability to record multiple
journal entries. In order to ensure completeness of the record and to assist in its audit, source
documents should be either pre-numbered or numbered as prepared. It is also helpful if the
source documents being journalized are recorded in numerical order. Some journals may also
serve as a means of classification. For example, a check register may classify checks according
to the fund or fund group against which they are drawn.

General Ledgers

A general ledger receives postings from the general journals, along with summarized totals from
subsidiary ledgers. The general ledger summarizes all transactions of a given organization or
operating unit for presentation in the financial statements. Funds in the general ledger are a
subset of financial books and have their own assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses, and fund
balances.

Subsidiary Ledgers

As the general ledger holds all the historical journal entries, some key general ledger accounts
become so complex that a separate ledger, or subsidiary ledger, is needed to keep track of its
transactions. A subsidiary ledger is any group of accounts, the sum of the balances of which is
equal to the balance of the control account. Ledgers may be subsidiary to a general ledger
control account or they may be subsidiary to an accounting in another subsidiary ledger.

For example, the general ledger for a local government entity, such as the Sacramento
Municipal Utility District (SMUD), might include only one accounts receivable account for
purposes of recording utility bills not paid, yet it may have thousands of customers. It would be
necessary for SMUD to create a subsidiary ledger to hold each customer’s account and include
the grand total of that ledger in the general ledger.

Control Account Subsidiary Ledger
Expenditures Expenditure Ledger
Revenues Revenue Ledger

Taxes Receivable — Current — Secured | Current Secured Tax Roll

Capital Assets — Building and
Capital Assets — Motor Vehicles

Capital Assets
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Trial Balance

A trial balance is a comparison of the debit balances in a general ledger, with a similar listing of
the credit balances. If the two are equal, the accounts are said to be in balance. This process
substantiates that both the debit and the credit effects of all recorded transactions have been
posted to the general ledger. The term trial balance is also used to designate the act of totaling
all balances in a subsidiary ledger and comparing the sum with the balance of the related
control account.

Journal Entries

A journal entry is a logging of transactions into an account record keeping system. It is a concise
method of expressing the accounting effect of a transaction. The journal entry may consist of
several recordings, each of which is either a debit or credit. Account names and the amounts to
be posted are shown to be either debits or credits by their relative position, rather than by a
written designation. The total of the debits should equal the total of the credits or the general
journal entry is said to be out of balance.

The standard journal entry format used in this manual is shown in the following examples:

Example 1 — Sales Journal Entry:

Account Debits (DR) Credits (CR)

General Ledger

General ledger accounts debited DR
General ledger accounts credited CR

Subsidiary Ledger

Subsidiary ledger accounts debited DR
Subsidiary ledger accounts credited CR

December Sales

12/10 Johnson Sale, Lot $60,000

12/15 Singh Sale, Condominium $345,000
12/15 Singh Sales Credit, Condo 10% promo ($34,500)
Net Monthly Sales $370,500

Post Monthly Journal to Ledger:

General Ledger

Account Debit (DR) Credit (CR)
Debit Accounts Receivable, Dec Sales DR: $370,500

Credit Sales Account, Dec Sales CR: $370,500
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Example 2 — Subsidiary Ledger Journal Entries:

If subsidiary accounts are involved, the total of their debit or credit postings should roll up to the
related general ledger control account. The following entry shows that the general ledger Cash
account is debited $40,000, and the Revenues control account is credited $40,000.

In the subsidiary revenue ledger, the accounts are:

e Revenues — Property Taxes — Prior Year — Secured; and
e Revenues — Property Taxes — Prior Year — Unsecured

These accounts are credited $39,000 (Secured) and $1,000 (Unsecured), respectively.

Account Debits (DR) Credits (CR)
Subsidiary Ledger
Cash DR: $40,000
Revenues — Property Taxes — Prior Year — Secured CR: $39,000
Revenues — Property Taxes — Prior Year — Unsecured CR: $1,000

(Receipt of Property Tax Revenues)

General Ledger

Cash DR: $40,000
Revenues — Property Taxes CR: $40,000

(Receipt of Apportioned Taxes)

The following journal entry example shows that the general ledger account Office Supplies and
Non-Capitalized Equipment account is debited $470 and the Cash account is credited $470. In
the subsidiary ledger, the Office Supplies account is debited $150, and the Surveyor’s Minor
Equipment account is debited $320. In actual practice, the journal entry will probably be used in
this form only in the general ledger.

Account Debits (DR) Credits (CR)
Subsidiary Ledger
Office Supplies DR: $150
Surveyor — Minor Equipment DR: $320
Cash CR: $470

(Purchases of Office Supplies and Surveyor Equipment)

General Ledger

Office Supplies and Non-Capitalized Equipment DR: $470
Cash CR: $470

(Purchases by Treasurer and Surveyor)
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Electronic Methods

The formal journals and ledgers associated with manual processing are often unseen by the
user in computer-posted records. Transactions are updated and stored in data tables in the
background of the accounting system rather than physical books of original entry. Even though
the journal transactions are performed electronically, the details of the accounting cycle remain
unchanged.
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Chapter 4: Basis of Accounting
Introduction

Generally speaking, the basis of accounting has to do with when transactions should be
recognized in financial statements (timing). The types are:

e modified accrual basis;
e full accrual basis; and
e cash basis.

Local governments entities use both the modified accrual basis of accounting (governmental
funds) and the full accrual basis of accounting (proprietary and fiduciary funds). Under the
modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when they become available and
measurable, and expenditures are recognized when liabilities are incurred and due in the
measurement period.

In contrast, the full accrual basis of accounting recognizes revenues when they are earned,
regardless of when they are received. Unlike the modified accrual basis, expenses are recorded
at the time the liability is incurred, regardless of when it is due. Under the cash basis of
accounting, transactions are recognized only upon the exchange of cash. Revenues are not
recognized until cash is received and expenses are not recognized until they are paid.

In fund financial statements, governmental funds should be accounted for using the modified
accrual basis. Proprietary and fiduciary funds should be accounted for using the full accrual
basis. In government-wide financial statements, all fund types are reported on the full accrual
basis. The following sections will discuss both the full accrual basis and the modified accrual
basis in more detalil.

Accrual Basis and Measurement Focus
4.01 Modified Accrual Basis

The modified accrual basis differs from the full accrual basis in that revenues are recognized
when they become both measurable and available to finance expenditures of the current period.

The term available means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to be
used to pay liabilities of the current period. The term measurable refers to the ability to
reasonably, and with some certainty, compute the actual revenue or expenditure.

Expenditures are recognized when incurred, except:

e Inventories may be expenditures when either purchased or used; however, significant
inventories should be reported.

e Principal and interest on long-term debt are usually recognized when due.

e Prepaid expenditures extending over more than one accounting period may be accounted for
as expenditures when acquired instead of being allocated between accounting periods.
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As previously stated, the modified basis of accrual recognizes revenues and other financial
resources (e.g., bond issue proceeds) in the accounting period in which they become both
measurable and available to finance expenditures of the fiscal period.

Revenues and other increases in governmental fund financial resources that usually can and
should be recorded on the modified accrual basis include property taxes, regularly billed
charges for inspection or other routinely provided services, most grants from other governments,
interfund transfers, and other reasonably estimated transactions. Fines and forfeitures, golf and
swimming fees, inspection charges, parking fees and parking meter receipts, and the vast
multitude of miscellaneous revenues are best recognized when cash is received.

Property taxes or other imposed revenues may be collected in advance of the fiscal year to
which they apply. Such prepayments of imposed nonexchange revenues should initially be
recorded as a deferred inflow of resources and recognized as revenue in the period for which
they are levied.

4.02 Full Accrual Basis

The full accrual basis of accounting is used for preparing non-governmental (proprietary and
fiduciary) fund statements and the government-wide statements. Under the full accrual basis of
accounting, most transactions are recorded when they occur, regardless of when cash is
received or disbursed.

Non-governmental and

Governmental Fund Financial Statements

Government-wide Financial Statements

Cash flow should occur within a short enough
period(s) to affect current spendable
resources. Revenues should be both
measurable and available, and expenditures
are generally recognized when they are
expected to draw upon current spendable
resources.

Revenue/gain or expense/loss recognized
when they affect economic resources,
regardless of cash flow.

4.03 Measurement Focus

Economic Focus:

Operational accounting focuses on reporting economic activity, which includes both capital and
financial resources. It recognizes economic transactions as events occur rather than when
outflows of cash and other financial resources take place.

This focus is referred to as the economic resources measurement focus, which utilizes the full

accrual basis of accounting. Operations are charged in the period when goods and services are
used or consumed, referred to as the consumption method in accounting. The economic

measurement focus provides for a more comparable and objective view of government costs.
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Fiscal Focus:

Governmental accounting, on the other hand, focuses more on fiscal accountability, compliance,
and budgetary controls. Operational accounting is incompatible with fiscal accountability and the
reporting of existing funds and current expenditures is necessary for the management and
control of limited budgets. In order to facilitate that control and public information, the receipt
and uses of current resources are recognized. This focus is referred to as the current financial
resources measurement focus, which utilizes the modified accrual basis of accounting.

Reporting:

Governmental fund revenues and expenditures should be recognized using the current financial
resources measurement focus (modified accrual basis) in order to provide the appropriate
indicators of fiscal responsibility regarding public moneys in the financial statements.

Non-governmental funds (proprietary and fiduciary funds) should be recognized using the
economic resources measurement focus (full accrual basis) since these entities are self-
supporting through operational activities and not public moneys.

The government as a whole is represented on an operational basis in the government-wide
statements, using the economic resources measurement focus (full accrual basis). This
provides overall comparability to both commercial and public operations worldwide.

Governmental Fund Financial Statements

Non-governmental and
Government-wide Financial Statements

Flow of current financial resources — Modified
Accrual

Flow of economic resources — Full Accrual

Are there more or less resources that will be
spent or received in the near future as a
result of events and transactions of the
current period?

Will the local government be better or worse
off economically as a result of events and
transactions of the period?

Increase in spendable resources — revenue or
other financing sources

Events and transactions that improve the
economic position — revenues or gains

Decrease in spendable resources
expenditures and other financing uses

Events and transactions that diminish
economic position — expenses or losses

The following situations illustrate the differences between the two types of measurement focus:

Receipt of Long-Term Bond Proceeds:

Governmental Fund Financial Statements

Non-governmental and
Government-wide Financial Statements

Increase in spendable resources

DR Cash DR Cash
CR Other Financing Sources CR Bonds Payable
(Activity Statement only)

Economic position not improved
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Repayment of Long-Term Bond Debt:

Governmental Fund Financial Statements

Non-governmental and
Government-wide Financial Statements

Decrease in spendable resources

DR Expenditure
CR Cash

Economic position not diminished

DR Bonds Payable
CR Cash

Capital Acquisition:

Governmental Fund Financial Statements

Non-governmental and
Government-wide Financial Statements

Decrease in spendable resources

DR Capital Outlay Expenditure
CR Cash

Economic position not diminished

DR Equipment
CR Cash

Depreciation of Capital Assets:

Governmental Fund Financial Statements

Non-governmental and
Government-wide Financial Statements

No effect on spendable resources

Depreciation is not recognized

Economic position diminished

DR Depreciation Expense
CR Accumulated Depreciation

Amortization of Deferred Outflows:

Governmental Fund Financial Statements

Non-governmental and
Government-wide Financial Statements

No effect on spendable resources

Entire outflow is recognized in the prior period

Economic position diminished only by the
expense for the benefited period

DR Amortization Expense
CR Deferred Outflows
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Introduction

Governmental accounting systems should be organized and operated on a fund basis.
According to GASB Cod. Sec. 1300, Statements of Principle, a fund is defined as:

A fiscal and accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts recording cash and
other financial resources, together with all related liabilities and residual equities or
balances, and changes therein, which are segregated for the purpose of carrying on
specific activities or attaining certain objectives in accordance with special regulations,
restrictions, or limitations.

Unlike private business, which is accounted for as a single entity, a governmental unit is
accounted for through several separate fund entities as discussed in GASB Cod. Sec. 1300.101
(Section 1300, paragraph .101). Each of these funds accounts for assets, deferred outflows of
resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and net position or fund balance within each
fund.

Fund accounting systems must not only be capable of recording the day-to-day transactions in
the appropriate funds, but should also facilitate the preparation of the basic financial statements.
These basic financial statements require both government-wide and fund reporting for
government entities. Additionally, fund financial statements should be used to report additional
and detailed information with regard to the primary government entity, including its blended
component units. The focus of fund financial statements is on major funds.

Governmental Environment
5.01 Number of Funds

Governmental accounting and financial reporting requirements are intended to provide
assurance that available governmental resources are controlled and spent in accordance with
the organization’s spending, product and service delivery decisions, and a variety of legal and
contractual provisions. The general rule is to establish the minimum number of separate funds
consistent with legal specifications, operational requirements, and the principles of fund
classification.

As described in GASB Cod. Sec. 1300.101 (Section 1300, paragraph .101):

The diverse nature of governmental operations and the necessity of assuring legal
compliance preclude recording and summarizing all governmental financial transactions
and balances in a single accounting entity. Unlike a private business, which is accounted
for as a single entity, a governmental unit is accounted for through several separate fund
entities, each accounting for designated assets, liabilities, and equity or other balances.

Thus, from an accounting and financial management viewpoint, a governmental unit is a
combination of several distinctly different fiscal and accounting entities, each having a
separate set of accounts and functioning independently.
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5.02 Fund Categories

Governmental funds, as discussed in GASB Cod. Sec. 1300.102a (Section 1300, paragraph
.102a), are primarily focused on the sources, uses, and balances of current financial resources
and often have a budgetary orientation. Current financial resources are those assets that are
expendable during a budgetary period and they are often segregated into a specific
governmental fund based on restrictions imposed by outside authorities or parties, or strategies
established by internal management. Liabilities of a governmental fund are obligations that will
be paid from the current period resources held by that particular fund.

According to GASB Cod. Sec. 1300.102a (Section 1300, paragraph .102a), financial statements
for governmental funds should be presented using the current financial resources measurement
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. The governmental fund category’s includes
the general fund, special revenue funds, capital projects funds, debt service funds, and
permanent funds.

Fund Balance, as discussed in GASB Cod. Sec. 1300.102a (Section 1300, paragraph .102a), is
referred to as fund equity. It is the difference between governmental fund assets and deferred
outflows of resources, and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources.

Proprietary funds, as discussed in GASB Cod. Sec. 1300.102b (Section 1300, paragraph
.102b), are primarily focused on the determination of operating income, changes in net position
(or cost recovery), financial position, and cash flows. They are used to account for local
government activities similar to those that may be performed by commercial enterprise-type
organizations.

According to the provisions of GASB Cod. Sec. 1300.102b (Section 1300, paragraph .102b), the
required financial statements for proprietary funds are a statement of net position; a statement
of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net position; and a statement of cash flows. These
financial statements should be reported using the full accrual basis of accounting and the
economic resources measurement focus. The proprietary fund category includes enterprise
funds and internal service funds.

Fiduciary funds, as discussed in GASB Cod. Sec. 1300.102c (Section 1300, paragraph .102c),
are primarily focused on fiduciary net position and changes in fiduciary net position. They are
used to account for assets held by a local government for other parties (either as a trustee or as
an agent) and that cannot be used to finance the local government’s own operating programs.

According to the provisions of GASB Cod. Sec. 1300.102c (Section 1300, paragraph .102c), the
required financial statements for fiduciary funds are the statement of fiduciary net position and
the statement of changes in fiduciary net position. These financial statements should include
information about all fiduciary funds of the primary government, including fiduciary component
units.

As stated in GASB Cod. Sec. 1300.102c (Section 1300, paragraph .102c), fiduciary funds
should be reported using the full accrual basis of accounting and the economic resources
measurement focus. The fiduciary fund category includes pension (and other employee benefit)
trust funds, investment trust funds, private-purpose trust funds, and custodial funds. Custodial
funds are distinguished from the three types of trust funds by the existence of a trust agreement
or equivalent arrangement that has certain characteristics.
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Fund Types
5.03 Governmental Funds

Governmental funds are based on the following accounting relationship:

Assets + Deferred Outflows of Resources = Liabilities + Deferred Inflows of Resources +
Fund Balance

As previously discussed, the Governmental Fund category includes the General Fund, Special
Revenue Funds, Capital Projects Funds, Debt Service Funds, and Permanent Funds and
account for the current operating expenditures of the local government. The guidelines for the
five types of governmental funds are stated in GASB Cod. Sec. 1300.104 — .108 (Section 1300,
paragraphs .104 — .108).

The general fund is used to account for and report all financial resources not accounted for and
reported in another fund. There is only one general fund and it should only be used if no other
fund is applicable and/or appropriate.

Special revenue funds are used to account for and report proceeds of specific revenue sources
that are restricted or committed to expenditure for specified purposes other than debt service or
capital projects.

Capital projects funds are used to account for and report financial resources that are restricted,
committed, or assigned to expenditure for capital outlays, including the acquisition or
construction of capital facilities and other capital assets.

Debt service funds are used to account for and report financial resources that are restricted,
committed, or assigned to expenditure for principal and interest. Debt service funds should be
used to report resources if legally mandated. Financial resources that are being accumulated for
principal and interest maturing in future years should also be reported in debt service funds. The
debt service transactions of a special assessment issue for which the government is not
obligated in any manner should be reported in a custodial fund rather than a debt service fund.

Permanent funds are used to account for and report financial resources that are legally
restricted to the extent that only earnings, and not principal, may be used for purposes that
support the reporting government’s programs — that is, for the benefit of the government or its
citizenry. Permanent funds do not include private-purpose trust funds.

5.04 Proprietary Funds

Proprietary funds include enterprise funds and internal service funds. Funds in this category are
considered self-supporting in that the services they render are generally financed through user
charges or on a cost reimbursement basis. Proprietary funds (as well as fiduciary and
government-wide financial statements) are based on the following accounting relationship:

(Assets + Deferred Outflows of Resources) — (Liabilities + Deferred Inflows of Resources) = Net
Position
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This accounting relationship can also be displayed in a balance sheet format as:

Assets + Deferred Outflows of Resources = Liabilities + Deferred Inflows of Resources + Net
Position

According to the provisions of GASB Cod. Sec. 1300.109 — .110 (Section 1300, paragraphs
.109 — .110), the enterprise fund category is used to report any activity for which a fee is
charged to external users for goods or services. According to GASB, activities are required to be
reported as enterprise funds if any one of the GASB criteria below for an enterprise activity is
met.

Governments should apply each of following criteria in the context of the activity's principal
revenue sources:

a) The activity is financed with debt that is secured solely by a pledge of the net revenues from
fees and charges of the activity. Debt that is secured by a pledge of net revenues from fees
and charges and the full faith and credit of a related primary government or component
unit — even if that government is not expected to make any payments — is not payable
solely from fees and charges of the activity. (Some debt may be secured, in part, by a
portion of its own proceeds but should be considered as payable solely from the revenues of
the activity.)

b) Laws or regulations require that the activity's costs of providing services, including capital
costs (such as depreciation or debt service), be recovered with fees and charges, rather than
with taxes or similar revenues.

c) The pricing policies of the activity establish fees and charges designed to recover its costs,
including capital costs (such as depreciation or debt service).

The internal service fund category is used to report any activity that provides goods or services
to other funds, departments, or agencies of the primary government and its component units, or
to other governments, on a cost-reimbursement basis. Internal service funds should be used
only if the reporting government is the predominant participant in the activity.

5.05 Fiduciary Funds

Fiduciary funds focus on net position and changes in net position. These funds are used to
report assets held in a trust or agency capacity for others and, therefore, cannot be used to
support the government’s own programs. Fiduciary funds include pension (and other employee
benefits) trust funds, investment trust funds, private-purpose trust funds, and custodial funds.

Fiduciary funds (as well as proprietary and government-wide financial statements) are based on
the following accounting relationship:

(Assets + Deferred Outflows of Resources) — (Liabilities + Deferred Inflows of Resources) = Net
Position

This accounting relationship can also be displayed in a balance sheet format as:

Assets + Deferred Outflows of Resources = Liabilities + Deferred Inflows of Resources + Net
Position
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Resources held in trust for the benefit of the local government entity’s own programs, taxes, or
individuals are accounted for in a governmental or proprietary fund rather than a fiduciary fund.
Fiduciary funds are required to report net position as the difference between assets, plus
deferred outflows of resources, less liabilities, less deferred inflows of resources. The three
components of net position (restricted, net investment in capital assets, and unrestricted) are not
required to be presented in the statement of fiduciary net position.

According to GASB Cod. Sec. 1300.115 (Section 1300, paragraph .115), the custodial fund
category is used to “report fiduciary activities that are not required to be reported in pension
(and other employee benefit) trust funds, investment trust funds, or private-purpose trust funds.”

The three categories of trust funds should be used to report resources held and administered by
the reporting government when it is acting in a fiduciary capacity for individuals, private
organizations, or other governments. As stated earlier in this section, the trust funds are
distinguished from custodial funds by the existence of a trust agreement that affects the degree
of management involvement and the length of time that the resources are held. The three
categories of trust funds are:

e Pension (and Other Employee Benefit) Trust Funds: used to report fiduciary activities for
pension and other post-employment benefit plans (OPEB) that are administered through
trusts that meet certain criteria (refer GASB Cod. Sections Pe5.101, Pe6.101, P050.101, and
P051.101) and are required to be held in trust for the members and beneficiaries of defined
benefit pension plans, defined contribution plans, or OPEB. Also used to report fiduciary
activities for other employee benefit plans for which resources are held in a trust that meets
certain criteria [refer to GASB Cod. Section 1300.134c(1)] and contributions to the trust and
earnings on those contributions are irrevocable.

e Investment Trust Funds: used to report fiduciary activities from the external portion of
investment pools and individual investment accounts that are held in a trust that meets
certain criteria [refer to GASB Cod. Section 1300.134c(1)].

e Private-Purpose Trust Funds: used to report all fiduciary activities that are not required to be
reported in pension (and other employee benefit) trust funds or investment trust funds and
are held in a trust that meets certain criteria [refer to GASB Cod. Section 1300.134¢(1)].
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The following table presents a description and examples for the fiduciary fund classification:

Classification

Includes

Examples

Pension (and Other
Employee Benefit)
Trust Funds

Funds accounting for locally-
administered retirement
systems.

1937 Act Retirement Funds
Defined Contribution Plans
Defined Benefit Plans

Investment Trust
Funds

Amounts managed by the
local government treasury for
the external pool participants.

Cities with approved resolution and
investment agreement with
Treasurer’s Office

Other Local Government Entities

Private-Purpose
Trust Funds

Amounts held by a local
government entity under
which the principal and
income benefit individuals,
private organizations, or other
governments.

When legally mandated or under a
formal trust agreement

Custodial Funds

Used to account for assets
held by a local government in
a fiduciary capacity pending
transfer or distribution of
these assets to individuals,
private organizations, other
governmental entities, and/or
other funds.

Taxes withheld/collected on behalf of
other governments (e.g., property
taxes)

Interest

Tax Defaulted Land Rentals

In-lieu Monies

Tax Redemption Fees

Inheritance Taxes

Fines, Forfeitures, and Penalties
(held on behalf of other government
entities)

Sales and Use Tax

Withholding Tax

Credit Union Deduction

State Retirement System
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5.06 Fund Category Tables and Examples

General Fund

Category

Governmental

Purpose

To account for and report all financial resources under
the control of the local government except those
required to be accounted for in another fund. Only used
if no other fund is applicable and/or appropriate.

Basis of Accounting

Modified Accrual Basis.

Primary Means of Spending Control

Annual budget appropriation limitations.

Usual Financing Sources

All sources except bonds.

Measurement Focus

Flow of current financial resources

Specific Accounting Treatment

Capital asset purchases are expenditures. Capital
assets and long-term liabilities are not recorded in the
general fund.

Special Revenue Funds

Category

Governmental

Purpose

To account for and report the proceeds of specific
revenue sources (other than an expendable trust or for
major capital projects) that are legally restricted to
expenditure for specified purposes.

Basis of Accounting

Modified Accrual Basis.

Primary Means of Spending Control

Annual budget appropriation limitations

Usual Financing Sources

Legally or contractually identified revenues.

Measurement Focus

Flow of current financial resources.

Specific Accounting Treatment

Capital asset purchases are expenditures. Capital
assets and long-term liabilities are not recorded in this
fund. Special revenue funds are not required unless
legally or contractually mandated. Accounting for funds
of insignificant amounts may be consolidated as long as
the expenditures, revenues, and balance sheet or
statement of net position accounts can be identified with
the specific revenues, respectively.
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Capital Projects Funds

Category

Governmental

Purpose

Capital projects funds are used to account for and report
financial resources that are restricted, committed, or
assigned to expenditure for capital outlays, including the
acquisition or construction of capital facilities and other
capital assets.

Basis of Accounting

Modified Accrual Basis.

Primary Means of Spending Control

Grant provisions and annual/multi-year budget
appropriation limitation and bond indentures.

Usual Financing Sources

Grants, contributions from other funds, bonds.

Measurement Focus

Flow of current financial resources.

Specific Accounting Treatment

The capital projects funds does not account for the
capital activities of proprietary funds or assets that will be
held in trust for others. The capital project funds would
account only for capital activities of those projects that
are considered to be governmental rather than
proprietary. In practice, a separate Capital Projects Fund
is often established when the acquisition or construction
of a capital project extends beyond a single fiscal year
and the financing sources are provided by more than one
fund, or a capital asset is financed by specifically
designated resources. Capital outlays financed from
general obligation bond proceeds should be accounted
for through a capital projects fund.
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Debt Service Funds

Category Governmental

To account for and report financial resources that are
restricted, committed, or assigned to expenditure for
principal and interest. Debt service funds should be
Purpose used to report resources if legally mandated. Financial
resources that are being accumulated for principal and
interest maturing in future years also should be reported
in debt service funds.

Basis of Accounting Modified Accrual Basis.

A government should determine whether it is legally
obligated to establish debt service funds. If not, the
government should decide from a managerial
perspective whether it is useful to establish a debt
service fund. Where resources are being accumulated
for principal and interest maturing for future years, those
financial resources should be reported in a debt service

Primary Means of Spending Control

fund.
Usual Financing Sources Special taxes or contributions from the general fund.
Measurement Focus Flow of current financial resources.

The proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt are
recorded in governmental funds as other financing
sources in governmental funds and is not reported as
debt of the governmental funds, instead it is reported as
an obligation in the governmental-wide financial
Specific Accounting Treatment statements. Principal and interest payments due should
be recorded as a payable from the debt service fund
servicing the debt payments. Generally speaking, under
the modified accrual basis of accounting, expenditures
of a governmental fund are recognized when the related
liability is incurred.

Accounting for Debt Service Funds

A local government may create a debt service fund to account for resources that will be
accumulated and used to service general long-term debt, which are obligations of the
government. Debt service transactions for which the local government entity is not obligated in
any manner should not be reported in a debt service fund. Instead, these transactions should be
reported in a custodial fund to reflect the fact that the local government duties are limited.
Although the long-term debts are not reported in the governmental financial statements at the
fund level, assets set aside for future payment of the debt are reported at the fund level.

Only the minimum number of debt service funds consistent with legal and operating
requirements should be established. While most indenture agreements require the creation of a
separate debt service fund for each bond issue, it is desirable, when possible, to account for
general obligation bonds serviced by restricted components of the general property tax in a
single debt service fund.
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Debt service spending usually requires the approval of the operating budget and governing
board approval of bond documents. Such spending is controlled primarily through bond
indenture provisions. Debt service payments are usually accounted for as expenditures in the
year of payment.

Revenues such as property taxes or sales taxes that are restricted to debt service on general
long-term debt are generally reported in the debt service fund, but legal statutes may require tax
revenues to be recorded in the general fund before being transferred to the debt service fund.

Accounting for Debt Repayments in Governmental Funds

As no liability for long-term debt is recorded in governmental fund statements, repayment of the
debt is not recorded as a reduction of the liability. Instead, such payments are recorded as
financing uses. This also applies to current and advance refundings. Payments due within one
month after year-end may be accrued if financial resources are transferred to a debt service
fund. Accounting entries related to debt service funds are illustrated in the following examples.

Debt Service Funds — Examples
Debt Accounting

a) On January 15, 20XX, the voters authorized an addition to the civic auditorium and the
issuance of bonds aggregating $2,000,000. No formal accounting entry is necessary.

b) In October 20XX, bonds with a face value of $2,000,000 are sold, at 10% annual interest, for
$2,050,000, with issuance cost of $22,500 and interest payable semi-annually on April 1 and
October 1. The bond payments are to be paid from property tax levies:

Governmental Fund

Account Debit (DR) Credit (CR)
Cash DR: $2,027,500
Debt Issuance Expenditure DR: $22,500
Other Financing Sources- Bonds Issued CR: $2,000,000
Other Financing Sources- Premium on Bonds Issued CR: $50,000

Note: Although no long-term debt is recorded in the governmental fund, the debt is reported in
the government-wide financial statements.

c) On December 15, the first installment of 20XX—-20X1 secured taxes is apportioned (note that
the tax revenues may be required to pass through the general fund prior to transfer to the
debt service fund):

Debt Service Fund

Account Debit (DR) Credit (CR)
Cash- Debt Service Reserve DR: $125,000

Tax Revenues CR: $125,000
Special District Uniform Accounting and Reporting Procedures Page 56

2024 Edition



Chapter 5: Fund Accounting

d) On April 1, the first semi-annual interest installment of $100,000 and 5% of the bond’s
principal payment of $100,000 are due:

Debt Service Fund

Account Debit (DR) Credit (CR)
Expenditures — Interest DR: $100,000
Expenditures — Bond Principal DR: $100,000

Cash — Debt Service Reserve CR: $200,000

Note: The related reduction in the balance of the long-term debt is reported in the government-
wide financial statements only.

e) On April 15, the second installment of 20XX—20X1 secured taxes is apportioned.
Debt Service Fund

Account Debit (DR) Credit (CR)
Cash DR: $130,000
Tax Revenue CR: $130,000

Permanent Funds

Category Governmental

To account for and report resources that are restricted to
the extent that only earnings, and not principal, may be

Purpose used for purposes that support the reporting government’s
programs — that is, for the benefit of the government or its
citizenry.

Basis of Accounting Modified Accrual Basis.

Primary Means of Spending Control | Trust agreement and laws.

Usual Financing Sources Donations.

Measurement Focus Flow of current financial resources.

Permanent funds should be used to report situations in
which the government is required to use the principal or
earnings for the benefit of individuals, private
organizations, or other governments.

Specific Accounting Treatment
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Enterprise Funds

Category

Proprietary

Purpose

To account for the provision of supplies and tangible
services to the general public that are similar to services
provided by business enterprises; includes only services
financed primarily by user charges.

Basis of Accounting

Full Accrual Basis.

Primary Means of Spending Control

For supplies and services provided, matching the total cost
(including noncash expense and overhead) with the
service charge revenues generated; if bonds are issued,
the bond indenture; the annual budget (operating plan) to
the extent that it is required by the governing body.

Usual Financing Sources

Revenues, expenses, debt issue, capital contributions, and
operating subsidies.

Measurement Focus

Flow of economic resources.

Specific Accounting Treatment

Accounting practices of similar commercial enterprises are
followed. Long-term liabilities directly related to and
expected to be paid by the fund, as well as its capital
assets, are included in its accounts. All expenses
(including noncash and overhead) are charged to the fund.

Rates

Service charges should recover the full cost (including
noncash expenses and overhead), less any authorized
subsidy.

For purposes of uniformity, enterprise funds include:

Airports
Harbors

Recreation facilities and services, such as:

o Marinas

o Golf courses/Stadiums/Tennis centers

o Parks/Swimming pools
Parking facilities
Transit systems
Public housing
Toll bridges

Health services and facilities, such as:

o Hospitals/Medical facilities
Public utilities, such as:
o Water/Electricity/Gas

o Waste Collection and disposal

o Cable TV
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Internal Service Funds

Category

Proprietary

Purpose

To account for supplies and tangible services provided to
other units of the same government or different
governments on a cost reimbursement basis.

Basis of Accounting

Full Accrual Basis.

Primary Means of Spending Control

The total cost for the supplies and services provided
(including noncash expenses and overhead) should be
matched with the service charge reimbursements
generated. Other controls include the annual budget, to
the extent required by the governing body, and indirectly
through other departments’ annual budget receiving the
product or service.

Usual Financing Sources

Reimbursements

Measurement Focus

Flow of economic resources.

Specific Accounting Treatment

Accounting practices of similar commercial enterprises
are followed. Long-term liabilities directly related to and
expected to be paid by the fund, and capital assets, are
included in its accounts. All expenses (including noncash
and overhead) are charged to the fund. Cost
reimbursement entries would be recorded as revenues in
the internal service fund.

Rates

Service charges should recover the full cost (including
noncash expenses and overhead). Subsidizing internal
service fund activities should not be required.

Examples of central services appropriate for Internal Service Fund accounting include:

e Equipment, vehicle, and office machine maintenance and rental

e Stores

e Information technology/Communications
e Mailing services/Printing and duplicating

e Purchasing
e Carpentry and repair shops
e Risk management
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Fiduciary Funds (Including Fiduciary Component Units)

Fund financial statements should include information about all fiduciary funds of the primary
government, including fiduciary component units. Local government entities should report
fiduciary activities in the fiduciary fund financial statements. Fiduciary funds are comprised of
the following categories:

Pension (and Other Post-Employment Benefits) Trust Funds

Investment Trust Funds
Private Purpose Trust Funds
Custodial Funds

Pension (and Other Employment Benefit) Trust Funds

Category

Fiduciary

Purpose

To account for assets held by a government in a trustee
capacity for public employee retirement system and other
employee benefits in the public employee retirement
system. Refer to GASB Cod. Sec. 1300.112 (Section
1300, paragraph .112) for more details.

Basis of Accounting

Full Accrual Basis.

Primary Means of Spending Control

Contractual arrangements, legislative requirements (e.g.,
pension, and OPEB provisions of the law), etc.

Usual Financing Sources

Contributions by private entities, employee/employer
contributions, investment earnings, etc.

Measurement Focus

Flow of economic resources.

Specific Accounting Treatment

e Capital assets and long-term liabilities are included in
the funds’ accounts.

e Plan assets used in plan operations (for example,
buildings, equipment, furniture and fixtures, and
leasehold improvements) should be reported at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation or
amortization.
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Investment Trust Funds

Category

Fiduciary

Purpose

Used to report fiduciary activities from the external portion of
investment pools and individual investment accounts that
are administered/held through a trust in which the local
government entity itself is not a beneficiary, the assets are
dedicated to providing benefits to recipients in accordance
with the benefit terms, and the assets are legally protected
from the creditors of the local government entity.

Basis of Accounting

Full Accrual Basis.

Primary Means of Spending
Control

Cash receipts and disbursements at the direction of other
entities with cash in the local government’s treasury.

Usual Financing Sources

Deposits from external pool participants and investment
earnings.

Measurement Focus

Flow of economic resources.

Specific Accounting Treatment

Funds that are maintained by other entities to account for
the external entities’ activities.

Private-Purpose Trust Funds

Category

Fiduciary

Purpose

Used to report all fiduciary activities that are not required
to be reported in pension (and other employee benefit)
trust funds or investment trust funds and are
administered/held through a trust in which the local
government entity itself is not a beneficiary, the assets
are dedicated to providing benefits to recipients in
accordance with the benefit terms, and the assets are
legally protected from the creditors of the local
government entity.

Basis of Accounting

Full Accrual Basis.

Primary Means of Spending Control

Trust agreements and laws.

Usual Financing Sources

Donations and earnings of private-purpose trust funds.

Measurement Focus

Flow of economic resources.

Specific Accounting Treatment

Private-purpose trust funds generally should be used
when legally mandated or a formal trust agreement exists.
Capital assets and long-term liabilities are included in the
funds’ accounts.
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Custodial Funds

Category

Fiduciary

Purpose

Custodial funds are used to report those fiduciary activities
that are not required to be reported in pension and OPEB
trust funds, investment trust funds, or private-purpose trust
funds.

Basis of Accounting

Full Accrual Basis.

Primary Means of Spending Control

Fiduciary agreements and laws.

Usual Financing Sources

Custodial funds financing sources typically include
resources held in a custodial capacity. This includes
resources such as receipt, temporary investment, and
remittance of fiduciary resources to their respective
owners.

Measurement Focus

Flow of economic resources.

Specific Accounting Treatment

Custodial funds are reported in a column on the statement
of fiduciary net position and the statement of changes in
fiduciary net positions. The components of net position
(net investment in capital assets, restricted, and
unrestricted) are not required to be presented in the
statement of fiduciary net position. A government may
report a single aggregated total for additions and a single
aggregated total for deductions of custodial funds in which
resources, upon receipt, are normally expected to be held
for three months or less.

Identification of Fiduciary Activities

A local government entity or its component units may be engaged in fiduciary activities. Refer to
Chapter Section 8.02, Financial Reporting Entity Structure to get more information about what

constitutes a component unit.

5.07 Fiduciary Component Units

A component unit is a fiduciary activity (a fiduciary component unit) if it has one of the following

three arrangements:

a) A defined benefit or defined contribution pension or OPEB plan administered through a trust
where plan contributions and earnings are irrevocable, plan assets are dedicated to providing
pensions to plan members, and plan assets are legally protected from creditors. For more
information refer to GASB Statement No. 67 Financial Reporting for Pension Plans—An
Amendment of GASB Statement No. 25, as amended.

b) A pension or OPEB plan not administered through a trust (custodial fund) where plan
contributions and earnings are irrevocable, plan assets are dedicated to providing pensions to
plan members, and plan assets are legally protected from creditors. For more information refer
to GASB Statement No. 74 Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans Other Than

Pension Plan, as amended.
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c) Circumstances in which assets from entities that are not part of the reporting entity are
accumulated for pension and OPEB purposes. For more information refer to:

e GASB Statement No. 73 Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions and Related
Assets That Are Not within the GASB Statement 68 and Amendments to Certain Provisions
of GASB Statement 67 and 68, as amended.

e GASB Statement No. 74 Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans Other
Than Pension Plan, as amended.

Generally speaking, pension and OPEB plans that are administered through GASB Statement
No. 67, as amended, and GASB Statement No. 74, as amended, are legally separate entities. In
determining whether these separate legal entities are component units, the primary government
is considered to have a financial burden, if it is legally obligated to make contributions to the
defined benefit pension and defined benefit OPEB plans.

A component unit, that is not a pension or OPEB arrangement as described in the preceding list
is considered to be a fiduciary activity if the assets associated with this activity have one or more
of the following characteristics (a-c):

a) The assets are
i. administered through a trust in which the government itself is not a beneficiary,
ii. dedicated to providing benefits to recipients according to benefit terms; and
iii. legally protected from the creditors of the government.

b) The assets are for the benefit of individuals and the government does not have
administrative involvement with the assets or direct financial involvement.

c) The assets are for the benefit of organizations or other governments that are not part of the
financial reporting entity.

Control of the asset by the primary government is not a factor in determining whether a
component unit is fiduciary, but it is a factor in determining whether activities other than
component units are fiduciary.

The following charts (1, 1A, and 1B) are intended to aid in the identification of fiduciary activities.
These charts are sourced from GASB Cod. Sec. 1300.901 (Section 130 paragraph .901), and
are not meant to be all-inclusive. These charts are nonauthoritative, and as such, guidance for
local agencies should be based on the above paragraphs and tables.

Note: The paragraph references in the charts refer to paragraphs in GASB Cod. Section 1300.
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Chart 1—Flowchart for Evaluating and Reporting Potential Fiduciary Activities
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Chart 1 A—Flowchart for Evaluating and Reporting Potential Fiduciary Activities
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Chart 1B—Flowchart for Evaluating and Reporting Potential Fiduciary Activities

(Postemployment Benefit Arrangements)
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[GASBS 84 9C1, as modified]
5.08 Pension and OPEB Arrangements That Are Not Component Units

Pension and OPEB arrangements that are not component units are fiduciary activities if the
government controls the assets of the arrangement and they are one of the following
arrangements:

1. A pension or OPEB plan administered through a trust where plan contributions and earnings
are irrevocable, plan assets are dedicated to providing pensions to plan members, and plan
assets are legally protected from creditors. Refer to GASB Statement No. 67, as amended,
for more details.

2. Accumulated assets not administered through a trust (custodial fund) where assets are
designated for pension or OPEB purposes, plan contributions and earnings are irrevocable,
plan assets are dedicated to providing pensions to plan members, and plan assets are
legally protected from creditors. Refer to GASB Statement No. 74, as amended, for more
details.
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5.09 Other Fiduciary Activities

Other activities are fiduciary if all three of the following criteria is met:

1. The assets associated with the activity are controlled by the government.
2. The assets are not derived solely from the either government’s own source revenues or from
government-mandated and voluntary nonexchange transactions other than pass-through
grants.
3. The assets associated with the activity have one or more of the following characteristics:
a) The assets are administered through a trust in which the government itself is not a
beneficiary, dedicated to providing benefits to recipients in accordance with the benefit
terms, and legally protected from the creditors of the government.

b) The assets are for the benefit of individuals and the government does not have
administrative or direct financial involvement with the assets.

c) The assets are for the benefit of organizations or other governments that are not part of
the financial reporting entity.
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Chapter 6: Budgetary Accounting

Introduction

One of the fundamental principles of governmental accounting is that the accounting system
should provide the basis for appropriate budgetary control. This chapter describes the accounts
and procedures by which such control may be established. It does not deal with budget forms,
presentation, or procedure, which are governed by State law and administrative directive and
separately published in the State Controller's County Budget Guide.

This chapter is concerned with accounting for actual transactions within the framework of the
adopted (final) budget. An accurate comparison of transactions with budget estimates shows
compliance with legal provisions and assists in the preparation of future budgets.

The State Controller’'s County Budget Guide (which includes the County Budget Act) can be
found on the California State Controller’s website at https://www.sco.ca.gov/pubs _guides.html.

Budgetary Accounting
6.01 Budgetary Accounts

Budgeting is an important component of the financial planning, control, and evaluation
processes of governments. According to GASB Cod. Sec. 1700.101 (Section 1700, paragraph
.101), every local government should prepare a comprehensive budget covering all
governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary funds for each annual (or, in some cases, biennial)
fiscal period.

As discussed in GASB Cod. Sec. 1700.106 — .108 (Section 1700, paragraph .106 —.108), a
budget is a plan of financial operation for a given period of time. There are typically two types of
budgets:

e Annual Budget: authorizes and provides the basis for control of financial operations during a
fiscal year.

e Long-Term Budgets: presents estimates of revenues and expenditures or expenses for a
period of several years—usually four to six—and the proposed means of financing them. The
long-term budget is a planning document that typically emphasizes major program or capital
outlay (capital budget) plans.

According to GASB Cod. Sec. 1700.118 — .119 (Section 1700, paragraph .118 — .119), formal
budgetary accounting is an effective way of managing and controlling expenditures and
revenues of governmental entities and do not affect revenue and expenditure measurement.
The budgetary account balances are reversed at year-end during the closing process.

Formal budgetary integration is generally necessary to account for multiple projects that are
undertaken by a government’s labor force and financed through capital projects fund. In the
case of turnkey projects undertaken through contracts and independent contractors, budgetary
integration may not be necessary (professional judgment should be exercised).
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Budgetary integration is an effective way of protecting local governments against capital projects
cost overruns as well as ensuring timely and sufficient availability of resources to meet
expenditure requirements.

Budgetary accounts are those which are necessary to reflect budget operations and conditions.
Budgetary accounts are generally used as a control mechanism for general, special revenue
and similar governmental funds because the annual budget is a legal requirement for some local
governments (counties and dependent special districts). This does not mean that independent
special districts are prohibited from using budgetary accounting as a control mechanism. For
example, a community services district may adopt a budget pursuant to Government Code
section 61110 et seq.

Although largely based on estimates, budgetary accounts are used exclusively for control
purposes and therefore do not affect actual revenues and expenditures. Government Code
section 29000 et al. (County Budget Act) specifies the content of the budget, budget adoption
procedures, and dates by which actions must be taken. Special districts whose affairs and
finances are under the supervision and control of a county board of supervisors are subject to
the same rules and regulations. Government Code section 53901 requires every local agency,
including every special purpose assessing or taxing district, to file their adopted budget with the
county in which it conducts its principal operation.

Flexible budgets, as discussed in GASB Cod. Sec. 1700.109 (Section 1700, paragraph .109),
embody estimates based on fluctuating demands for goods and services, while fixed budgets
typically contain estimates of fixed dollar amounts. In proprietary funds, according to GASB Cod.
Sec. 1700.120 (Section 1700, paragraph .120), the demand for goods and services typically
drives revenues and expenses; therefore, they are better suited for proprietary fund planning,
control, and evaluation purposes than are fixed budgets.

Local governments have the option to use encumbrances. As discussed in GASB Cod. Sec.
1700.127 (Section 1700, paragraph .127), encumbrance accounting should be used to the
extent necessary to assure effective budgetary control and accountability and facilitate effective
cash planning and control.

Any encumbrances at year-end do not constitute expenditures or liabilities. They represent the
estimated amount of expenditures that will result if unperformed contracts in process at year-
end are completed. Local governments that use encumbrance accounting should disclose
significant encumbrances in the notes to the financial statements section by major funds and
non-major funds taken together in conjunction with any required disclosures about other
significant commitments.

Amounts encumbered for specific purposes should be classified as restricted, committed, or
assigned fund balance, depending upon the spending limitations of the funding source. Local
governments should not report an amount if it is going to cause a deficit in the unassigned fund
balance within the general fund.
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A contingency appropriation is an appropriation that is established for unforeseen requirements.
No specific purpose is designated for this appropriation. No expenditures may be made against
a contingency appropriation; they are available only for transfer to a specific-purpose
appropriation by the governing body. This must be accomplished through the legally specified
process. These are not restricted for reporting purposes if the contingency is internal.

6.02 Government Spending Limitation

The California State Constitution added Article Xl B as a result of the Proposition 4 (1979)
Gann Limit Initiative to put a limit on government spending for all levels of California government
(state and local). Additionally, the Traffic Congestion Relief And Spending Limitation Act of
1990, known as California Proposition 111, has made some additional changes in the
appropriations limits formula as well as funding changes for transportation and education. This
resulted in additional changes to Article XIllI B of the California Constitution in several places.

Article Xlll B provides the guidelines for calculating this legislated appropriation limit and the
total annual appropriations subject to the limit. To effectively implement the provisions of Article
XIII B, the Legislature added Government Code sections 7900 to 7914 to the California
legislation. Both resources should be carefully referenced when calculating these two reporting
items.

The County Budget Act (Gov. Code section 29000 — 29144) applies to counties, dependent
special districts, and other agencies under the supervision of the county board.

The following two Gann Limit items, as defined in Article Xlll B, are required to be included in
the budget reports under the provisions of Government Code section 29006 (f). They are to be
reported on Schedule 2 of the State Controller's County Budget Guide schedules and are also
to be reported in the State Controller's Office Financial Transaction Reports summary.

Total annual appropriations subject to limitation (ASL)
Appropriation limit (AL)

ASL = authorization to expend within a fiscal year the proceeds of taxes levied by or for the
government entity.

Includes:
e Subventions from the State, with exceptions (see Section 6 of Article XllII B).

e Contributions derived from taxes applied to a rainy day or similar fund in the year of
contribution, excluding related withdrawals, expenditures, or transfers from the fund.
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Excludes:

e Appropriations for debt service.

e Appropriations required to comply with mandates of the courts or federal government.

e Appropriations of any special district which existed 1/1/1978 that meets criteria in Section 9
of Article XIII B.

e Appropriation for all qualified capital outlay projects, as defined by the Legislature.

e Appropriations of revenue from the Cigarette and Tobacco Products Surtax Fund.

e Appropriations of revenue from the California Children and Families First Trust Fund.

e Appropriations of revenue from the California Healthcare, Research and Prevention Tobacco
Tax Act of 2016 Fund.

e Appropriations of revenues from the Road Maintenance and Rehabilitation Account.

AL = Prior year AL* + A COL + A Population +/- Adjustments
(A = change in; COL = Cost of Living)

Adjustments include those from:

Returns of revenues appropriated in excess of AL
Transfers of services
e Changes in financial sources

*The base year for AL calculations was in 1978-79, and the formula applies to each subsequent
year. The base AL for newly created entities is to be established by electors.

Pursuant to the provisions of Article XIII B, Section 3(c)(1), if an emergency is declared by the
legislative body of an entity government, then “...the appropriations limit of the affected entity of
government may be exceeded provided that the appropriations limits in the following three years
are reduced accordingly to prevent an aggregate increase in appropriations resulting from the
emergency.”

Should an emergency be declared by the Governor, the provisions of Article XIlI B, Section
3(c)(2) state that the “...appropriations approved by a two-thirds vote of the legislative body of
an affected entity of government to an emergency account for expenditures relating to that
emergency shall not constitute appropriations subject to limitation.”
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Article XlIII B Definitions

According to Article XlIl B of the California State Constitution, the following terminology applies
to government spending limitation:

Appropriations subject to limitation of an entity of local government means any
authorization to expend during a fiscal year the proceeds of taxes levied by or for that
entity and the proceeds of State subvention (other than subventions made pursuant to
State mandated reimbursements and tax refunds). With some exception, it does not
include local agency loan funds or indebtedness funds, or investment in accounts at
banks or savings and loan associations or in liquid securities. [Article Xl B, Sections 8(b)
and (i)]

Proceeds of taxes include but are not restricted to all tax revenues and proceeds from (1)
regulatory licenses, user charges, and user fees, to the extent the proceeds exceed
reasonable costs of the related service or product, and (2) the investment of tax
revenues. They include receipts of subventions from the State other than mandated
reimbursements. [Article XIII B, Section 8(c)]

Local government means any city, county, city and county, school district, special district,
authority, or other political subdivision of the State. [Article XIlII B, Section 8(d)]

Change in the cost of living for the State, a school district, or a community college district
means the percentage change in California per capita personal income from the
preceding year. For an entity of local government, other than a school district or a
community college district, it shall be either (A) the percentage change in California per
capita personal income from the preceding year, or (B) the percentage change in the
local assessment roll from the preceding year for the jurisdiction due to the addition of
local nonresidential new construction. Each entity of local government shall select its
change in the cost of living pursuant to this paragraph annually by a recorded vote of the
entity’s governing body. [Article XIII B, Section 8(e)]

Change in population of any entity of government, other than the State, a school district,
or a community college district, shall be determined by a method prescribed by the
Legislature. For a school district or a community college district it shall be the percentage
change in the average daily attendance of the school district or community college district
from the preceding fiscal year, as determined by a method prescribed by the Legislature.
[Article XIII B, Section 8(f); see Article XXX B for specifics of calculation]

Debt service means appropriations required for the cost of interest and redemption
charges on indebtedness approved according to law. [Article Xl B, Section 8(g)]

Appropriations limit of each entity of government for each fiscal year is that amount which
total annual appropriations subject to limitation shall not exceed. It shall not exceed the
appropriations limit of the entity of government for the prior year adjusted for the change
in the cost of living and the change in population, with legally necessary adjustments).
[Article XIII B, Section 8(h)]
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Additional Resources

For determining the change in population and the change in the California per capita personal
income, refer to RTC Code section 2227 and the Department of Finance website posting of
Price and Population Factors Used for Appropriation Limit Calculations at its website (bottom of
the webpage) http://www.dof.ca.gov/Forecasting/Demographics/Estimates/

For further guidance from the California State Legislature, refer to Chapter 5 of its publication,
Revenue and Taxation Reference Book, available at its website
https://arev.assembly.ca.gov/reports

6.03 Budgetary Classification and Terminology

Governmental Funds and Terminology

Common language and uniform classification can enhance effective management control and
accountability. The established terminology and classifications should be used consistently in all
phases of budgeting, accounting, and financial reporting.

Proprietary Funds Terminology

The accounts and financial reports of proprietary funds should be maintained and prepared in
essentially the same manner as those of similar business enterprises. The terminology and
classifications of the flexible budgets (operating plans) should be consistent with those used in
financial reports.

The Budgetary Accounts

Estimated Revenues: Amounts of revenue estimated to accrue or to be collected during a given
period.

Appropriations: Authorizations granted by the legislative body to make expenditures and incur
obligations for specific purposes during the fiscal year.

Encumbrances: Commitments related to open purchase orders, contracts or other obligations
that are chargeable to an appropriation and for which a part of an appropriation is reserved. The
encumbrances account should never have a credit balance and should always agree with the
Reserve for Encumbrance account. Encumbrances outstanding at fiscal year-end do not
constitute expenditures.

Estimated Transfers: Estimated transfers between funds within the local government, for
example, the capital project fund returns all or part of the funds borrowed from the general fund.
(Applicable to governmental funds only.)

Budgetary Fund Balance: This budgetary account is used to account for differences between
estimated revenue and appropriations. The use of a budgetary fund balance account simplifies
the integration of budgetary accounts into the general ledger and permits the periodic testing of
budgetary account balances with a budgetary trial balance. (Applicable to governmental funds

only.)
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At all times during the year: (1) total general ledger budgetary account debits and credits should
be equal, (2) total general ledger debits and credits should be equal, and (3) total integrated
general ledger (including both budgetary and actual account balances) debits and credits should
be equal. The equality of these relationships should be tested periodically.

Reserve for Encumbrances: The Reserve for Encumbrances account is used to offset an
encumbrance entry and identify the encumbrance commitments in the budgetary fund balance.
For example, a local government issues a purchase order expressing the intent to buy a motor
vehicle. An encumbrance is debited against the appropriation with the offsetting credit posted to
the Reserve for Encumbrances account. The amount in the Reserve for Encumbrances account
is required to be disclosed in the footnotes of the financial statements by major and non-major
funds in conjunction with other significant commitments.

The budgetary control exerted by these accounts consists of a comparison of their balances
with those of their operating account counterparts. Such a comparison indicates the degree to
which operations deviate from the original plan. Both budgetary and operating accounts are
often placed on the same subsidiary ledger page to facilitate this comparison.

Balances of budgetary accounts are always opposite in effect (debit, credit) to those of the
accounts controlled.

Account or Balance

Budgetary Account Difference Indicates

Controlled
Estimated Revenues , Over-realized or under-realized
. Revenues (credit)
(debit) revenues
Appropriations (credit) Expenditures (debit) Unexpendgd or over-expended
appropriations
Encumbrances (debit) Unexpendgd . Unexpended or over-expended
Appropriations (credit) unencumbered
Estlmated Transfers Transfers (in/out) Unrealized transfers between funds
(debit/credit)
Budaetarv Eund Balance Estimated Revenues and
getary Appropriations (planned Available fund balance
(debit/credit) .
expenditures)
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Budgetary Account Definitions

Reserve for Encumbrances

Code Accounts Definition
Estimated Revenues and The amount of revenues estimated to
602 Estimated Other Financing | accrue or be collected (depending on
Sources accounting basis) during a fiscal period.
The amount of revenues which had not
- been estimated in the budget and which are
Unanticipated Revenues . : .
i . appropriated for expenditure or applied to
603 and Other Financing . iy
the increase of specific fund balance
Sources e . :
classifications during the current fiscal
period.
Unrealized Estimated The amount of appropriations .a.nd .
: segregated fund balance provisions which
604 Revenues and Estimated . .
. : are canceled because of failure to realize
Other Financing Sources :
budgeted estimated revenues.
Appropriations and The authorizations by the governing body to
605 Estimated Other Financing | make expenditures and incur obligations for
Uses specific purposes.
Budgetary Nonspendable This account shows t_hose buqlgetary
allocations that are either not in a spendable
606 Fund Balance — Acct :
form or there is a legal/ contractual
Name L
restriction on the use of these funds.
Budgetary Restricted Fund This account shows those_ bydgetary
607 allocations that have restrictions placed on
Balance — Acct Name . . P
them by creditors or enabling legislation.
This account contains budgetary allocations
Budgetary Committed Fund | that represent commitments imposed by the
608 , )
Balance — Acct Name governing authority of the local government
entity.
This account contains those budgetary
Budgetary Assigned Fund gllocatlons that the Iocgl_ government entity
609 intends to use for specific purposes. These
Balance — Acct Name . : .
allocations not restricted, committed, or
nonspendable.
Budgetary Unassigned This account represents budgetary
allocations with no specific allocations or
610 Fund Balance — Acct A ;
restrictions (internal or external) on the use
Name
of funds.
Obligations in the form of purchase orders,
611 Encumbrances contracts, or other commitments that
recorded for budgetary control purposes.
The segregation of a portion of the fund
Budaetary Fund Balance — balance for expenditure to offset the
612 getary Encumbrances account. It should always

match the balance in the Encumbrance
account.

Special District Uniform Accounting and Reporting Procedures

2024 Edition

Page 76




Chapter 6: Budgetary Accounting

6.04 Control and Subsidiary Ledger Accounts

Budgetary accounts in the general ledger are also referred to as control accounts, including their
subsidiary ledger accounts. Detailed appropriations by budget unit and subobject can be
summarized in the general ledger appropriations control account in the same manner detailed
expenditure subobjects of a fund are summarized in a single general ledger expenditures
account.

Note: The use of budgetary control accounts in the general ledger does not affect the actual
revenues and expenditures recognized during the accounting period. This is accomplished by
simply reversing, at the end of the reporting period, the budgetary control accounts created
when the budget was initially recorded.

Combined Subsidiary Ledgers

A subsidiary ledger could be established for estimated revenues and another for appropriations,
which are both budgetary accounts. However, as both estimated revenues and expenses are
expressed in terms of the same accounts, their subsidiary ledgers are often combined.

Combining ledgers facilitates the budgetary control function and adds little, if anything, to the
size of the resulting ledger, as the recording of estimated revenue seldom requires more than
one entry for each account on an annual basis. Encumbrances may be set up in a separate
subsidiary ledger; however, it is usually more convenient and useful to include them in the
combined appropriation-expenditure ledger.

An illustrative example of a combined Revenue Ledger is shown below. For example purposes,
assume that a local government expects to receive $900,000 in property taxes in fiscal year
20X1-20X2 and on 08/06/20X1, the local government received $400,000 worth of July property
taxes.

Fund: General 20X1-20X2 Account: Recreation Services
Revenues
Postin SEUELIE Actual Unrealized
Date Referen?:e Description Estimate Revenues Balance
(Debit) (Credit)
7-1 J1 Budget $ 900,000 $ 900,000 (Debit)
8-6 DP 161 J“'VTPmpe“y $400,000 | $500,000 (Debit)
axes

The credit of $400,000 to Revenues is posted to the Actual Revenues column of the revenues
ledger; the resulting $500,000 balance indicates that this amount of property tax revenue
remains to be realized to meet the budget estimate.

Similarly, Appropriations and Expenditures are both expressed in terms of the expenditure
accounts and may be readily combined in a single appropriations/expenditure ledger. For

example, assume that a local government estimated salaries to be $100,000 in fiscal year
20X1-20X2. On 07/31/20X1, the local government paid $10,000 in salaries.
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Fund: General 20X1-20X2 Account: Recreation Office Expense
Expenditures
Posting _ Appropriations | Expenditures Unrealized
DEYS Reference DIESEMPATCI (Debit) (Credit) Balance
7-1 J1 Budget $ 100,000 $ 100,000 (Credit)
7-5 W 98 July Salaries $ 10,000 $ 90,000 (Credit)

The debit of $10,000 to expenditures is posted to the Actual Salaries Expenditure Account in the
salaries ledger, resulting in a $90,000 remaining appropriation balance, which indicates that this
amount of salary expenditures remains to be realized to meet the budget estimate.

6.05 The Encumbrance System

When appropriations are restricted on the basis of commitments, an encumbrance system is in
effect. Under this system, the encumbrances are debited and the Budgetary Fund Balance—
Reserve for Encumbrances is credited at the time a commitment is issued. The appropriation
remains encumbered until payment is made or a cancellation occurs, at which time the
encumbering entry is reversed.

Example:

1) A purchase order is issued for a laptop for a manager within the local government. The
estimated cost is $2,500.

Account Debit (DR) Credit (CR)
Encumbrances — Manager - Equipment DR: $2,500
Budgetary Fund Balance - Reserved for Encumbrances CR: $2,500

(To record encumbrance for manager’s laptop)

2) The laptop is received along with a statement for $2,530. The statement is paid.

Account Debit (DR) Credit (CR)
Budgetary Fund Balance - Reserved for Encumbrances DR: $2,500

Encumbrances — Manager - Equipment CR: $2,500
(To reverse the encumbrance for manager’s laptop)
Account Debit (DR) Credit (CR)
Expenditures — Manager - Equipment DR: $2,530

Cash CR: $2,530

(To record the payment for manager’s laptop)
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Encumbrances represent commitments (e.g., contracts and purchase orders). While doing so is
not compulsory, governments often use encumbrance accounting to control expenditures.
According to GASB Cod. Sec. 1800.185 (Section 1800, paragraph .185), governments that use
encumbrance accounting should disclose significant encumbrances in their notes to the financial
statements by major funds and non-major funds in conjunction with required disclosures about
other significant commitments.

Note: The encumbrance transaction is always reversed in the same amount for which it was
placed, regardless of the amount of the related expenditure. An encumbrance system reduces
the possibility of commitments in excess of appropriations that may arise from a delay in the
receipt of billings.

If a difference exists between the estimate and the actual cost of an item, an additional
appropriation might still be required.

Need for Encumbrance System

Generally, the need for the type of control provided by encumbrance accounting increases as
the size of the local government increases. No exact rule can be stated as to what size a local
government should be to use an encumbrance system. Encumbrance accounting should be
used to the extent necessary to assure effective budgetary control and accountability, and to
facilitate effective cash planning and control.

An alternative, to facilitate appropriate budgetary control, is through the use of a simple file of
unfilled purchase orders. When a particular purchase is proposed, this file is reviewed to
determine whether any encumbrances are outstanding against the relevant appropriation.

If so, no commitment should be made unless the unencumbered balance is sufficient to cover
the proposed purchase or there are transferrable funds in another account.

It is not necessary for a local government to have a purchasing agent in order to use the
encumbrance system. However, purchase orders should be reviewed by the chief fiscal officer
or his or her designee to determine the adequacy of unencumbered appropriations prior to
approval and issuance to vendors. A purchasing policy should be established to provide
guidelines.
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Adopted Budget
6.06 Recording the Adopted Budget

The adopted budget must be balanced. In other words, the available financing should be
sufficient to cover the total expenditure requirements.

Example:

On June 30, the General Fund has a fund balance of $60,000. The adopted budget has
estimated revenues of $1,000,000 and appropriations of $1,060,000.

The budgetary entry would be:

Account Debit (DR) Credit (CR)
Estimated Revenues DR: $1,000,000
Budgetary Unassigned Fund Balance DR: $60,000

Appropriations for Expenditures CR: $1,060,000

(To record the 20X1-X2 budget adopted by the board 7-25-X1)

If the legally adopted budget is not amended, the budgetary account balances will remain
unchanged until the end of the accounting period. If the budget is amended, appropriate
revisions are posted to the affected budgetary accounts.

6.07 Year-End Budgetary Accounting

At fiscal year-end, after reports are complete, the balances of the Appropriation and Estimated
Revenue accounts are reversed in the same amount for which they were initially entered for the
year.

Encumbrances are also reversed at year-end in the same amount entered, regardless of the
actual amount of the related expenditure, along with the offset to the Reserve for Encumbrance
account. The Budgetary Fund Balance account, with the approval of the governing body, should
be re-established, as applicable, in the new fiscal year. If prior year commitments are not re-
established in the new fiscal year, they should be canceled.

Encumbrances outstanding at year-end represent the estimated amount of the expenditures;
they do not constitute expenditures or liabilities. There is no detailed presentation of the
encumbrance system in the financial statements.
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Example:

1) At fiscal year-end when the books are closed.

Account Debit (DR) Credit (CR)

Revenues DR: $1,000,000

Appropriations DR: $1,200,000

Reserve for Encumbrances DR: $50,000

Fund Balance DR: $100,000
Estimated Revenues CR: $900,000
Expenditures CR: $1,100,000
Encumbrances CR: $50,000
Budgetary Fund Balance CR: $300,000

2) As of day one of the new fiscal year, the new budget is recorded.

Account Debit (DR) Credit (CR)
Estimated Revenue DR: $950,000
Budgetary Fund Balance DR: $150,000

Appropriations CR: $1,100,000

3) Encumbrances outstanding at the end of the preceding year are re-established, along with
their encumbered appropriations.

Budgetary Accounts

Account Debit (DR) Credit (CR)
Encumbrances DR: $50,000
Reserve for Encumbrances CR: $50,000

Deposit with Others

With respect to amounts on deposit with others, all or part of which are expected to become
expenditures, an encumbrance should be placed on the appropriation at the time the deposit is
made. In this case, the deposit is considered the equivalent of a commitment.

The encumbrance remains until the amount of expenditure is determined, at which time the
encumbrance is lifted and the appropriate part of the deposit is charged to expenditures.
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Example:
1) A depositis made for the project.
Account Debit (DR) Credit (CR)
Encumbrances DR: $50,000

Reserve for Encumbrances CR: $50,000
(Professional and special services)
Account Debit (DR) Credit (CR)
Deposits with Others DR: $50,000

Cash CR: $50,000

(Deposit Paid to Vendors)

2) Upon completion of the project, the local governments’ share of the cost is $46,000. The
remaining $4,000 on deposit is refunded.

Account Debit (DR) Credit (CR)
Reserve for Encumbrances DR: $50,000

Encumbrances CR: $50,000
(Professional and special services)
Account Debit (DR) Credit (CR)
Cash DR: $4,000
Expenditures DR: $46,000

Deposits with Other CR: $50,000

(Professional and special services)

Payments will be expensed when the check is written
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Introduction

The use of proper terminology and appropriate classification is essential throughout the
budgeting, accounting, and reporting processes, according to GASB Cod. Sec. 1800.101
(Section 1800, paragraph .101). Common terminology and classification should be used
consistently throughout the budget, accounts, and financial reports of each fund or activity.
Among other benefits, doing so will help to provide a reasonable degree of comparability among
the financial reports of governmental units.

As stated in GASB Cod. Sec. 1800.101 (Section 1800, paragraph .101):

It is especially important that:

a) transfers be distinguished from revenues and expenditures or expenses in the basic
financial statements;

b) proceeds of general long-term debt issues be distinguished from governmental fund
revenues and expenditures; and

c) the terms revenues and expenses, as used in the government-wide financial statements
and in proprietary and trust fund financial statements, be distinguished from the terms
revenues and expenditures as used in the governmental fund financial statements and
that their distinctive meaning be understood by all concerned with governmental
budgeting, accounting, and reporting.

Users of this manual should note that the chart of accounts information prescribed in this
chapter is not all-inclusive. It is strongly suggested that local government entities design their
chart of accounts based on their specific operational needs.

Balance Sheet and Statement of Net Position Accounts

7.01 Chart of Accounts Terminology

Common terminology and classifications should be used throughout the budgeting, accounting,
and financial reporting activities for special districts, and should align with the annual State
Controller's Office Special Districts Financial Transactions Report. The list of account titles used
in this chapter is not all-inclusive. Where appropriate, special districts may supplement these
classifications with additional ones in light of local circumstances. For example, the chart of
accounts in this chapter does not include detailed outflows and inflows for varied operations of
affordable housing.

Some special districts will not need all of the accounts included in this chapter. Only those
accounts needed should be used. Similar classifications enhance the comparability of
governmental financial statements and enhance their usefulness for completing the annual
State Controller’s Office Special Districts Financial Transaction Report.
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The numbering systems used throughout this manual are intended for reference purposes only.
The accounts used in this chapter are numbered consecutively. The 100 series is for Assets, the
200 series is for Deferred Outflows of Resources, the 300 series is for Liabilities, the 400 series
is for Deferred Inflows of Resources, the 500 series is for Fund Balance and Net Position, and
the 600 series is for Financing Sources/Uses and Budgetary accounts.

A special district may develop their own numbering system as long as it allows them to comply
with statutory reporting requirements. Each special district should develop an account coding
system consistent with its accounting needs. All modern financial accounting software require a
unigue alphanumeric code for each specific account.

Current Assets
According to GASB Cod. Sec. 1800.109 (Section 1800, paragraph .109):

For accounting and financial reporting purposes, the term current assets is used to designate
cash and other assets or resources commonly identified as those that are reasonably
expected to be realized in cash or sold or consumed within a year. Therefore, current assets
generally include such resources as:

(a) cash available for current operations and cash equivalents;

(b) inventories of merchandise, raw materials, goods in process, finished goods, operating
supplies, and ordinary maintenance material and parts;

(c) trade accounts, notes, and acceptances receivable;

(d) receivables from taxpayers, other governments, vendors, customers, beneficiaries, and
employees, if collectible within a year;

(e) installment or accounts and notes receivable if they conform generally to normal trade
practices and terms within the business-type activity;

(f) marketable securities representing the investment of cash available for current
operations; and

(g9) prepayments such as insurance, interest, rents, unused royalties, current paid advertising
service not yet received, and operating supplies.

Note that prepayments are not current assets in the sense that they will be converted into cash,
but in the sense that, if not paid in advance, they would require the use of current assets within
a year. As discussed in GASB Cod. Sec. 1800.111 (Section 1800, paragraph .111), unearned
discounts (other than cash, quantity discounts, etc.), finance charges, and interest included in
the face amount of receivables should be shown as a deduction from the related receivables.

Other Assets

In some instances, restriction of assets, primarily cash, is required or prudent. Such action
ensures that the resources are available when needed. The restriction of cash or other assets
could be mandated, as in the case of loan requirements, or optional, as in the case of a capital
asset replacement reserve.
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Restricted assets have external enforceable limitations and include money or other items of
value received by or promised to an organization, the use of which is legally or contractually
restricted. The restrictions generally arise from externally imposed requirements, such as those
imposed by law. Some examples of restricted assets include:

e Cash with fiscal agent

e Customer deposits

e Revenue bond construction account
e Capital asset replacement

Noncurrent assets are expected either to be liquidated or consumed beyond one year or are
restricted from being liquidated in the current year. Assets under this classification would include
restricted assets (noncurrent), capital assets (not being depreciated), capital assets (being
depreciated), and other noncurrent assets.

General capital assets, such as land, easements, buildings, infrastructure, intangible assets
(e.g., software, trademarks, leases, etc.) and equipment purchases used by governmental funds
should be recorded as a capital outlay expenditure in the governmental funds and not
represented as a fund asset. However, the capital asset is removed from expenditures and
shown in the balance sheet when reported in the government-wide financial statements.

Inexhaustible capital assets should be presented in the proprietary and fiduciary funds, and
government-wide financial statements of net position. Refer to Chapter 9, Reporting Capital
Assets, for additional information.

Current Liabilities

As stated in GASB Cod. Sec. 1800.113 (Section 1800, paragraph .113), the term current
liabilities “is primarily used to designate obligations whose liquidation is reasonably expected to
require the use of existing resources properly classified as current assets, or the creation of
other current liabilities.”

The term current liabilities is intended to include obligations the government expects to liquidate
within one year. This includes liabilities such as:

e payables incurred to acquire materials and supplies for current services;

e collections received in advance of services;

e debts that arise from operations of the operating cycle, such as accruals for wages, salaries,
commissions, rentals, and royalties;

e short-term debts arising from the acquisition of capital assets;

e maturities of long-term obligations;

e amounts required to be expended within one year under sinking fund provisions; and

e collections or acceptance of cash or other assets on behalf of third parties.

The current liability classification also includes obligations that are either due on demand or will
be due on demand within one year from the date of the financial statements. Refer to Chapter
10, Reporting Liabilities, for additional information.
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Deferred Resources (Outflows/Inflows)

Inflows of resources (such as accounts receivable from revenues) are an acquisition of net
assets applicable to the current reporting period. Qutflows of resources are a consumption of
net assets applicable to the current reporting period, for example (e.g., salaries and wages paid
for work performed). When outflows or inflows of resources are applicable to future periods, they
are deferred for reporting and shown in the financial statements separately as deferred outflows
of resources or deferred inflows of resources.

In governmental funds, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
represent certain defined transactions related to future periods that do not qualify for treatment
as either assets or liabilities (e.g., property taxes levied in the current year to finance the
subsequent year’s budget).

Amounts that are required to be reported as deferred outflows of resources should be reported
in a separate section following assets in the Statement of Net Position. Similarly, amounts that
are required to be reported as deferred inflows of resources should be reported in a separate
section following liabilities in the Statement of Net Position.

A deferred outflow of resources has a positive effect on the current reporting period’s net
position, similar to assets, deferred inflows of resources has a negative effect on the current
reporting period’s net position, similar to liabilities. Notwithstanding those similarities, deferred
outflows of resources are not assets, and deferred inflows of resources are not liabilities and,
therefore should not be included in those sections of a statement of financial position.
Additionally, the use of the term deferred is limited to items reported as deferred outflows of
resources or deferred inflows of resources and should not be used in connection with any other
account title.

The primary differences between current outflows/inflows of resources and deferred
outflows/inflows of resources is the timing of when expenses/expenditures and revenues are
recognized, and the financial statements on which they are reported.

Current outflows/inflows of resources (expenses/expenditures/revenues) are recognized when
incurred/received and are reported on the income statements. Deferred outflows/Deferred
inflows of resources (deferred expenses/revenues), on the other hand, are deferred (delayed)
until a future period and are reported on the Statement of Net Position following
Assets/Liabilities.
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The following flowchart can be used to determine whether or not an outflow or inflow meets the
definition of an asset, liability, a current outflow/inflow, or a deferred outflow/inflow.

Does the outflow/inflow meet the definition of an Outflows/Inflows Flowchart
asset or liability (See list of Definitions below)? Instructions

e Use the flowchart at left

YES to determine whether a

transaction is an
asset/liability,
Does the 0Utﬂ0W/|nﬂ0W meet Current/prior
the definition of a deferral? outflow/inflow, or a
(See list of Definitions deferred outflow/inflow.
below)?
v I v e Refer to the list below for
transaction types that
NO .
Report as an YES may be classified as an
Report as a L
Asset or Report as a current or asset/liability,
Liability Deferred Prior Period current/prior
Outflow/Inflow Outflow/Inflow outflow/inflow, or a

deferred outflow/inflow.

The following definitions are related to the terminology used in the preceding outflows/inflows
flowchart:

e Assets are resources with present service capacity that the government presently controls.

e Liabilities are present obligations to sacrifice resources that the government has little or no
discretion to avoid.

e A deferred outflow of resources is a consumption of net position by the government that is
applicable to a future reporting period.

e Adeferred inflow of resources is an acquisition of net position by the government that is
applicable to a future reporting period.

e An outflow of resources is a consumption of net assets by the government that is
applicable to the current period.

e Aninflow of resources is an acquisition of net assets by the government that is applicable
to the current reporting period.
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Common Outflows/Inflows

Items That May Be Classified As Outflows/Inflows

Items listed in the following chart should first be filtered through the Outflows/Inflows Flowchart
that was presented in the preceding section to determine whether the item is an asset/liability, a
current outflow/inflow, or a deferred outflow/inflow. The following list is not all-inclusive.

Term

General Definition

Charges for Current Services
(Governmental Fund)

Charges for current services exclusive of revenues of
proprietary funds.

Contributions and Donations from
Private Sources

Financial resources provided by private contributors.

Escheat (Property)

The State as legal sovereign typically takes custody of
private property when the owner cannot be found.
Examples include estates without an heir or an
abandoned bank account.

Extraordinary Items

Transactions or other events that are both unusual in
nature and infrequent in occurrence.

Fines

Includes money exacted as a penalty by a court or other
authority. Examples include fines imposed by a
commission for statutory offenses, violation of lawful
administrative rules and regulations, and neglect of official
duty.

Forfeitures

Includes money derived from confiscating deposits held
as performance guarantees.

Insurance Other Than Employee
Benefits

Expenditures for all types of insurance coverage,
including property, liability, and fidelity, exclusive of
employee benefits.

Intergovernmental Expenditures

Includes expenditures made by one level or unit of
government to another in support of government activities
administered by the recipient. Excluded from this
classification are matching employer contributions by a
government to a pension or retirement system
administered by another government.

Intergovernmental Payable

Amounts owed by one government entity to another. For
example, the City of EIk Grove owes money to a Special
District in Sacramento County for providing garbage
disposal services.

Intergovernmental Receivable

Represents balance of amounts due to the reporting
agency from another government. The amounts may
represent intergovernmental grants, entitlements, or
shared revenues. May also represent taxes collected for
the reporting government by an intermediary collecting
government, loans, and charges for goods or services
rendered by the reporting government to another
government.
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Term

General Definition

Intergovernmental Revenues

Revenues collected from one government on behalf of
another. Examples include operating grants, entitlements,
shared revenues, or payments in lieu of taxes.

Issuance Cost (specify debt)

Costs associated with underwriting and bond issuance.
Generally, these costs include legal fees, and other costs
associated with bond issuance.

Leases

Lease revenues expected by a lessor should initially be
recorded as a deferred inflows of resources and then
recognized as revenue in a systematic and rational
manner. (Does not include short-term lease rentals.)

Official/Administrative Fees

Services in support of the government’s various policy-
making and managerial activities. Includes management
consulting activities directed toward general governance
or business and financial management of the government,
election, and tax assessing and collecting services.

Other Financing Uses

Includes financial outflows classified separately from
expenditures.

Penalties and Interest on
Delinquent Taxes

Amount assessed as penalties for the payment of taxes
after their due date, and the interest charge on delinquent
taxes from their due date to the date of actual payment.
Separate accounts should be used for penalties and
interest on each type of tax (e.g., general property tax,
general and selective sales, and use taxes).

Printing and Binding Fees

Expenditures for printing and binding, usually according to
specifications of the government. Includes designing and
printing forms and posters, as well as printing and binding
government publications.

Proceeds of General Capital
Asset Dispositions

Financial inflows provided from the disposition of general
capital assets (e.g., sales of buildings, compensation for
loss of general capital assets).

Public-Private and Public-Public
Partnerships (PPP)

PPP revenues expected by a transferor should initially be
recorded as a deferred inflow of resources and then
recognized as revenue in a systematic and rational
manner over the PPP term.

Purchased Property Services

Services purchased to operate, repair, maintain, and rent
property owned or used by the government. These
services are performed by persons other than government
employees.
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Term

General Definition

Regulated Operations

Rate actions of a regulator can result in a deferred inflows
of resources being imposed on a regulated business-type
activity.

For example, a regulator can establish current rates
intended to recover costs that are expected to be incurred
in the future with the understanding that if those costs are
not incurred, future rates will be reduced by corresponding
amounts. The regulated business-type activity should not
recognize the amounts charged pursuant to such rates as
revenue. Those amounts should be reported as deferred
inflows of resources and recognized as revenue when the
associated costs are incurred.

A regulator can require that a gain or other reduction of
net allowable costs be given to customers over future
periods. If a gain or other reduction of net allowable costs
is to be allocated over future periods for rate-making
purposes, the regulated business-type activity should not
recognize that gain or other reduction of net allowable
costs in the current period. It should be reported as a
deferred inflow of resources for future reductions of
charges to customers that are expected to result.

Rents and Royalties

Financial resources derived from the use by others of the
government’s tangible and intangible assets.

Special Assessments

Amounts levied against certain properties to defray all or
part of the cost of a specific capital improvement or
service deemed to benefit those properties primarily.

Special Assessment Financing

Resources provided by the issuance of bond debt for
which the government is obligated to defray all or part of
the cost of a specific capital improvement.

Special ltems

Significant transactions or other events within the control
of management that are either unusual in nature or
infrequent in occurrence.

Subscription-Based Information
Technology Arrangements
(SBITA)

SBITA variable payments expected to be incurred (not
dependent on an index or rate) by a government should
be recognized as outflows of resources in the period in
which these payments are due (exceptions apply). In
subsequent financial reporting periods, the amortization of
the discount on the subscription liability should also be
reported as an outflow of resources (e.g., interest
expense).

Expenditures for transportation, meals, hotel, and other
expenses associated with staff travel for the government.

Travel S .
Payments for per diem in lieu of reimbursements for
subsistence (room and board) are also charged here.
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Uncommon Outflows/Inflows

Items in the following list are rarely deferrals; however, they should be first filtered through the
Outflows/Inflows Flowchart that was presented earlier in this chapter to determine whether the
item is an asset/liability, a current outflow/inflow, or a deferred outflow/inflow.

The following list is not all-inclusive.

General Definition

fund)

Advance to Other Funds (specify

Long-term loans to other funds.

(specify fund)

Advance from Other Funds

Long-term loans from other funds.

Due to Other Fund (specify fund)

Amounts due to other funds for goods and services
normally transferred in the following fiscal year.

fund)

Due from Other Fund (specify

Amounts due from other funds for goods and services
normally transferred in the following fiscal year.

Due to Component Unit

Amounts owed by a primary government to a discretely
presented component unit as a result of goods or services
provided or loans made by the discretely presented
component unit.

Due from Component Unit

Amounts owed by a discretely presented component unit
to a primary government as a result of goods or services
provided or loans made to the discretely presented
component unit.

Examples of Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

Most grants made and received by local governments are expenditure-driven. In other words,
local governments first spend money on a program or function and then qualify to receive a
grant reimbursing them. Sometimes a local government is required to meet certain conditions
other than spending money before the grantor will provide the grant payment, even though
grants are often paid before the recipient or receiving special district has met all of the eligibility

requirements.

If a local government receives a $500 grant payment but has not yet met all of the requirements
necessary to be eligible for the grant, it technically owes that grant payment back to the grantor
until it meets the requirements. For that reason, the recipient should report a liability and the
provider of the grant should report an asset until all of the eligibility requirements have been met
(with the exception of time requirements).

Deferred L Deferred Net
Assets * Outflows Liabilities Inflows Position
$500
* $500 Cash | + G“?‘”ts . No Change
Received in
Advance
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Alternatively, if a cash grant is received and all of the eligibility requirements have been met
(except for the time requirement), and the grant will not be not be used until the next fiscal year.
The grant should be recognized as a deferred inflow of resources.

Deferred L Deferred _ Net
Assets * | Outflows | - | labilities | - Inflows ~ | Position
(B) $500 Grants NoO
$500 Cash | + - - With Time =
. Change
Requirements

There is no effect on net position in either case. In (A), the recipient local government has not
yet done what is required in order to be eligible for the grant, and if it never meets the eligibility
requirements, then the grant should be returned. In (B), however, the local government should
wait for the next fiscal year; the inflow is related to a future period and, therefore, should be
reported as a deferral.

Balance Sheet

7.02 Fund Balance Classification and Reporting

For governmental fund types, the fund balance is the equity section of the balance sheet. The
fund balance is classified into five segments: Nonspendable, Restricted, Committed, Assigned,
and Unassigned. As discussed in GASB Cod. Sec. 1800.166 (Section 1800, paragraph .166),
these classifications provide a hierarchy based primarily on the extent to which the government
is bound to honor constraints on the specific purposes for which amounts can be spent.

Depending on the type of fund, each organization should choose the appropriate fund balance
classification that meets its needs. Fund balance classifications should be reported in the fund
level financial statements. The guidance in the following sections cover only governmental-type
funds (General Fund, Special Revenue Funds, Capital Projects Funds, Debt Service Funds, and
Permanent Funds).

Nonspendable, Restricted, Committed, and Assigned Fund Balances indicate those portions of
the total fund balance that are not available for appropriation, until some action has occurred
internally or externally, and as defined in the following chart.
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Classification

General Definition

Examples

Nonspendable

Amounts that cannot be spent because
they are either:(a) Not in spendable
form; or (b) Legally or contractually
required to be maintained intact.

Inventories

Prepaid items

Long-term receivables in the
general fund

Permanent principal of
permanent funds

Fund balances should be reported as
restricted when constraints placed on
the use of resources are either:(a)
Externally imposed by creditors,

Restricted by State statute
Unspent bond proceeds
Grants earned but not spent
Funds restricted by debt
covenants

Restricted grantors, contributors, or laws or Taxes dedicated to a specific
regulations of other governments; or purpose
Revenues restricted by
(b) Imposed by law through enabling legislation
constitutional provisions or enabling Long-term receivables in the
legislation. General Fund
Property taxes
The governing board has
Used for specific purposes pursuant to decided to spend $1M for a
Committed constraints imposed by formal action of new city hall (self-imposed
the government’s highest level of restriction)
decision-making authority. Property tax levies set for a
specific purpose by resolution
Governing board has set aside
$2M for a hospital. Executive
management of the local
government entity may amend
this up to $10M
Amounts that are constrained by the Governing body delegates the
Assigned government’s intent to be used for authority to assign fund
specific purposes, but are neither balances to the finance officer
restricted nor committed. Governing board has
appropriated fund balance to
balance next year’s budget
Positive residual balances in
governmental funds other than
the general fund
Unassigned fund balance is the
residual classification for the general
Fund. This is fund balance that has not o )
_ been reported in any other The stabilization f_u_nd (pro_v_lded
Unassigned classification. The general Fund is the there are no specific conditions

only fund that can report a positive
unassigned fund balance. Other
governmental funds would report deficit
fund balances as unassigned.

placed on the use of the fund).
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Nonspendable Fund Balance
According to GASB Cod. Sec. 1800.167 (Section 1800, paragraph .167):

The nonspendable fund balance classification includes amounts that cannot be spent
because they are either (a) not in spendable form or (b) legally or contractually required
to be maintained intact. The not spendable-in-form amounts include items that are not
expected to be converted to cash (e.g., inventories and prepaid amounts).

This classification also includes long-term loans and notes receivables, as well as property held
for resale. If the use of proceeds from the collection of the receivables or from the sale of the
properties is restricted, committed, or assigned, then the proceeds should be included in the
appropriate fund balance classification, rather than the nonspendable fund balance. The
principal component of a permanent fund is an example of an amount that is statutorily or
contractually required to be maintained intact.

The nonspendable fund balance may be inadequate to meet the anticipated actual
nonspendable fund balance requirements. In such cases, the nonspendable fund balance
should be increased by transfers from other financing requirements or, if possible, be
augmented by the unanticipated financing provisions.

Example:

A five-year, $10,000 loan is to be made to a county service area from the general fund. The
budget contains no provision for this item. An amount of $10,000 from unassigned fund balance
(general fund) will be used to make a loan to the county service area.

a) To record provisions for making a loan of $10,000 to the county service area (CSA):

Account Debit (DR) Credit (CR)
Unassigned Fund Balance DR: $10,000

Nonspendable Fund Balance—

Advance to CSA CR: $10,000

b) To record the loan made to the CSA:

Account Debit (DR) Credit (CR)
Advance to CSA Receivable DR: $10,000
Cash CR: $10,000

Restricted Fund Balance

Restricted fund balance should be used when constraints placed on the use of resources are
either imposed by external parties, constitutional provisions, or enabling legislation. This
classification is established to offset those balance sheet assets that are not available to meet
expenditure requirements during the year. Restricted fund balance classifications include
limitations imposed externally by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other
governments.
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Restricted fund balance may be inadequate to meet the anticipated actual restricted
requirements. In such cases, the restricted fund balance should either be increased by transfers
from other financing requirements or, if possible, be augmented by the unanticipated financing
provisions.

Example:

A local government entity’s governing board passed a resolution to increase its debt service
payments by an additional $100,000 due to contractual obligations. The increase in debt
payments will be met by excess funds available in the assigned fund balance portion of the
general fund.

General Fund

Account Debit (DR) Credit (CR)
Assigned Fund Balance DR: $100,000

Due to Debt Service Fund CR: $100,000
Due to Debt Service Fund DR: $100,000

Cash CR: $100,000

Debt Service Fund

Account Debit (DR) Credit (CR)
Due from General Fund DR: $100,000

Restricted Fund Balance—Debt Service CR: $100,000
Cash DR: $100,000

Due from General Fund CR: $100,000

Committed Fund Balance

Amounts that are constrained for a specific purpose by a local government using its highest
level of decision-making authority should be classified as committed fund balance. The formal
action of the local governments’ highest level of decision-making authority that commits fund
balance should occur prior to the end of the reporting period, but the amount, if any, which will
be subject to the constraint, may be determined in the subsequent period.

Committed fund balance classifications are established to offset those balance sheet assets that
are not available to meet expenditure requirements during the year. These classifications may
include limitations internally imposed, such as those approved by the Board of Supervisors.

The committed fund balance may be inadequate to meet the anticipated actual committed
requirements. Unless the decision-making authority changes the commitment, the committed
fund balance should either be increased by transfers from other financing requirements or, if
possible, be augmented by the unanticipated financing provisions.
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Assigned Fund Balance

The assigned fund balance is the amount that is constrained by a local government’s intent to
be used for specific purposes, but is neither restricted nor committed, with the exception of
stabilization arrangements that meet the GASB criteria to be considered as assigned fund
balance. This amount may include the aggregation of resources for equipment replacement,
capital projects, and capital asset acquisition not subject to accrual, which are expected to
develop in future periods. When there is no longer a need or intent to use the assigned fund
balance, the local government may make all or a portion of the remaining assigned fund balance
available for unassigned fund balance.

Unassigned Fund Balance

The unassigned fund balance is the residual amount not classified as honspendable, restricted,
committed, or assigned in the general fund. The general fund should be the only fund that
reports a positive unassigned fund balance. For other governmental funds, a negative
unassigned fund balance should be reported when the amounts expended are in excess of the
resources received by that fund.

Example:

As the result of an audit, it was determined that the expenditures for 20X1 were understated by
$100,000. The expenditures used amounts that had been classified as assigned fund balance.
The actual accounts for 20X1 are adjusted and the correction is reflected in the financial
statement.

The entry to record the 20X1 audit adjustments affecting available fund balance would be as
follows:

Account Debit (DR) Credit (CR)
Assigned Fund Balance DR: $100,000
Unassigned Fund Balance CR: $100,000

If the changes resulted in a material increase in the available fund balance, the estimated
financing requirements could be increased using the provisions for unanticipated available
financing.

7.03 Reporting Interfund Activity

As discussed in GASB Cod. Sec. 1800.102 (Section 1800, paragraph .102), activity that takes
place between funds or blended component units within the same local government—such as
transfers and their associated due to and due from, and revenues and expenses/expenditures
with their associated receivable and payable is called interfund activity.

Interfund activity within and among the three fund categories (governmental, proprietary, and
fiduciary) should be analyzed, reclassified, and eliminated in the government-wide statement of
net position and statement of activities. Such activity is reported in the fund financial statements.
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Interfund activity should be classified and reported as either reciprocal or nonreciprocal.
Reciprocal interfund activity is the internal counterpart to exchange and exchange-like
transactions and includes:

e Interfund loans — amounts provided with a requirement for repayment.
e Interfund services provided and used — sales and purchases of goods and services
between funds for a price approximating their external exchange value.

Nonreciprocal interfund activity is the internal counterpart to nonexchange transactions and
includes:

e Interfund transfers — flows of assets (e.g., cash or goods) without an equivalent flows of
assets in return and without a requirement for repayment.

¢ Interfund reimbursements — repayments from the funds responsible for specific
expenditures or expenses to the funds that initially paid for them.

It is important to carefully handle transactions and transfers between funds, in order to ensure
that the proper financing sources and uses are reflected in each fund. This same level of care
should also be exercised when handling intrafund transfers (transfers of costs between budget
units in the same governmental type fund).

When preparing consolidated financial statements and reports such as the State Controller’s
Financial Transactions Report, it may be necessary to eliminate interfund transactions to
remove the doubling-up effects, as is done with the government-wide financial statements.
Interfund transfers should net to zero on the government-wide financial statements, since the
primary government cannot owe funds to itself or expect a reimbursement from itself.
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Interfund Transactions Table

Transaction

Fund Statement

Statement of Net
Position

Statement of
Activities

Interfund Loans
(Reciprocal)

Interfund
Receivables/Payables

1. Within governmental
or business-type
activities: eliminating
receivables and
payables so that both
sides have a zero
balance.

2. This activity should
not be reported as other
financing sources or
uses in the fund financial
statements.

Not Applicable

Interfund Services
provided and used
(Reciprocal)

Interfund
Receivables/Payables
Revenues/Expenses or
Expenditures

1. Within governmental
or business-type
activities:
receivables/payables
should not be eliminated
and should be reported
in the fund balance
sheet or statement of net
position.

2. Between
governmental and
business-type activities:
should not be
eliminated.

1. Within governmental
or business-type
activities:
revenues/expenses
should not be
eliminated.

2. Between
governmental or
business-type
activities: present as
internal activity.

Interfund Transfers
(Nonreciprocal)

Governmental Funds
should report these
transactions as other
financing uses and other
financial sources of
funds. Proprietary Funds
should report this type of
transfer in their activity
statements

1. Within the
government or business-
type activities: should
not be eliminated.

2. Between
governmental and
business-type activities:
present as internal
balances.

1. Within governmental
or business-type
activities: should not
be eliminated

2. Between
governmental or
business-type
activities: present as
internal activity

Reimbursements
(Reciprocal)

1.Expenditures/Expenses
in reimbursing fund

2. Reduction of
expenditure/expenses in
fund that is reimbursed

Not Applicable

1. Expense in
reimbursing entity

2. Reduction of
expenses in entity that
IS reimbursed
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Transaction

Fund Statement

Statement of Net

Statement of

and fiduciary funds
(Non Reciprocal)

financial sources of
funds. Proprietary Funds
should report this type of
transfers in their activity
statements

from external parties

Position Activities
Governmental Funds
should report these
Transfers between | transactions as other
a local government | financing uses and other | Receivables/Payables Revenues/Expenses

from external parties

Transfers between
a local government
and discrete
component units
(Reciprocal)

Receivables/Payables
Revenues/Expenses or
Expenditures

Receivables/Payables
shown as separate line
item (receivable from
State, payable to
component units)

Revenues/Expenses
from external parties

7.04 Chart of Accounts—Balance Sheet

Current Assets

In some cases, the accounts Advances To/From and Due To/From may be current or deferred
outflows/inflows of resources. Refer to the OQutflows/Inflows Flowchart and the Items That May
Be Classified as Outflows/Inflows chart previously discussed in this chapter for additional

guidance.

The definitions in the following chart of accounts act as a guide to show how the accounts may
be used. In addition to the accounts listed, other accounts may be required in the preparation of

financial statements.

Code

Accounts

General Definition

100

Cash (including cash
equivalents)

Currency, coin, checks, checking accounts, savings
accounts, money orders, and bankers’ drafts on
hand or on deposit with the County Treasurer. May
also include deposits in other types of accounts or
cash management pools that have general
characteristic of demand deposit accounts.

101 | Petty Cash

A sum of money set aside for making change or
paying small obligations for which the issuance of a
voucher or warrant would be too expensive and
time-consuming.

102

Certificate of Deposit

A savings certificate given by a bank for the deposit
of funds for a specific time. Certificates of deposit
are usually negotiable and bear an interest rate
greater than that for ordinary bank savings
accounts.

103

Cash with Fiscal Agent
(Restricted Asset)

Deposits with fiscal agents, such as commercial
banks, for the payment of matured bonds and
interest.
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Code Accounts General Definition

Amounts placed with others as a condition
precedent to a contractual offer, legal processing, or
104 | Deposits with Others performance by a second party. An example would
be a paying a security deposit for a short-term
equipment lease.

The uncollected portion of earned revenues and
105 | Accounts Receivables reimbursable projects for which a receivable
account has not otherwise been provided.

The portion of the notes receivable which is to be
received within one year. Notes Receivables
represents claims for which format instruments of
credit are issued as evidence of debt.

The uncollected portion of taxes that a government
107 | Taxes Receivables has levied. Typically, these taxes would be collected
within one financial period.

The current portion of other receivables not
otherwise accounted for. Examples include
trade/non-trade receivables, interest receivable,
insurance claim receivable, etc.

Inventory of Materials and Materials and supplies on hand for future

Supplies consumption.

Securities and real estate held for the production of
income in the form of interest, dividends, rentals, or
lease payments. This account does not include,
110 | Short-Term Investments however, real estate used in governmental
operations. It should include any investments that a
special district has made that will expire within one

106 | Short-Term Notes Receivables

108 | Other Receivables

109

year.
That portion of Taxes Receivable that is estimated
Allowance for Uncollectible to be uncollectible. The balance in this account is
111 : )
Taxes reported as a deduction from Taxes Receivable to

indicate net taxes receivable.

That portion of Accounts Receivable that is
) estimated to be uncollectible. The balance in this
Allowance for Uncollectible . .
112 : account is reported as a deduction from Accounts
Accounts Receivables . o -
Receivable to indicate net accounts receivable. Acts
as a contra account to Accounts Receivable.

Charges entered in the accounts for benefits not yet
received. Examples of prepaid items are prepaid
rent, prepaid interest, and unexpired insurance
premiums.

Current assets, whose use is subject to constraints
that are generally externally imposed by creditors

113 | Prepaid Expenses

114 | Restricted Asset — Current (debt covenants), grantors, contributors, or laws
through constitutional provisions or enabling
legislation.
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Code Accounts General Definition
The current portion of other current assets not
115 | Other Current Assets otherwise accounted for within the current asset
category.

Allowances for uncollectible accounts should be established, as appropriate. For all fund types,
the offsetting entry is a reduction in the appropriate accounts. For example, with regard to
property taxes, the accounts affected could be Property Tax Receivable and Allowance for
Uncollectible Property Taxes.

Capital Assets

Capital Assets owned by proprietary or fiduciary funds are accounted for through those funds.
Governmental fund capital assets should be maintained in a capital assets accounting system
and maintained in sufficient detail.

The definitions in the following chart of accounts act as a guide to show how the accounts may
be used. In addition to the accounts listed, other accounts may be required in the preparation of
financial statements.

Code Accounts General Definition
The cost of land purchased or, if acquired by gift or
116 | Land donation, the estimated acquisition value on the date

received. Land that is part of a local governments’
road system or flood control districts is not included.

The cost of all permanent buildings, structures,
monuments, fences, retaining walls, pavement,
sidewalks, bridges (not part of a local governments’
road system), grading and landscaping, docks and
waterfront improvements, tunnels, viaducts, canals,
o and anything else that adds value to property. This
117 | Buildings and Improvements | jncjudes the cost of fixtures attached to and forming
a permanent part of buildings and improvements. It
also includes the cost of improvements made by a
local government entity to leased property. If the
items listed in the prior sentence are acquired via gift
or donation, they are recorded at the estimated
acquisition value on the date received.

The accumulation of periodic credits made to record
oo the expiration of the estimated service life of
Buildings and Improvements | pildings or improvements. A contra account to
Buildings and Improvements.

118 Accumulated Depreciation —

Alterations made to rental premises in order to
customize it for the specific needs of a tenant.
Leasehold improvements include painting, installing
partitions, changing the flooring, putting in
customized light fixtures, etc.

119 | Leasehold Improvements
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Code

Accounts

General Definition

120

Accumulated Depreciation —
Leasehold Improvements

The accumulation of periodic credits made to record
the expiration of the estimated service life of
Leasehold Improvements. A contra account to
Leasehold Improvements.

121

Furniture and Fixtures

Movable furniture, fixtures or other equipment that
has no permanent connection to the structure of a
building or utilities.

122

Accumulated Depreciation —
Furniture and Fixtures

The accumulation of periodic credits made to record
the expiration of the estimated service life of furniture
and fixtures. A contra account to Furniture and
Fixtures.

123

Equipment

The cost of all physical property of a permanent
nature, other than land, buildings, improvements,
and furniture. If the items listed are acquired via gift
or donation, they are recorded at the estimated
acquisition value on the date received.

124

Accumulated Depreciation —
Equipment

The accumulation of periodic credits made to record
the expiration of the estimated service life of the
equipment. A contra account to Equipment.

125

Infrastructure

The cost or estimated historical costs of roads,
bridges, tunnels, drainage systems, water and sewer
systems, dams, lighting systems, sidewalks, etc.

126

Accumulated Depreciation —
Infrastructure

The accumulation of periodic credits that record the
expiration of the estimated useful life of the
infrastructure. A contra account to Infrastructure.

127

Construction in Progress

The cost of construction work (typically capital
assets) undertaken but not yet completed.

128

Intangible Assets

These assets have a useful life which extends
beyond one accounting period but do not have any
physical substance and are non-financial in nature.
Examples include cost or historical cost of
easements, land use rights (water rights, timber
rights), computer software, patents, and trademarks.

Note: Lease assets, PPP assets, and SBITA IT
assets should be recorded separately. See Accounts
#131 — #132 (Leases), Accounts #133 — #136
(PPPs), and Accounts #137 — #138 (SBITAS).

129

Accumulated Amortization

The accumulation of periodic credits that record the
expiration of the estimated useful life of intangible
assets. Typically a contra account to Intangible
Assets.

Note: Intangible assets that are considered to have
an indefinite life should not be amortized.
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Code

Accounts

General Definition

130

Other Capital Assets

The capital assets not otherwise accounted for in
any other capital asset category. (Miscellaneous
capital assets grouped under one account.)

131

Intangible Right to Use Asset
— Leases (Lessee)

Lease assets arise (via a contractual arrangement)
when a primary government has the noncancelable
right to use another entity’s nonfinancial assets. For
example, a community service district leases land
from a private organization exclusively for public
recreation purposes.

The lease asset amount recorded is the sum of the
following:

¢ Initial measurement of lease liability;

e Lease payments made to the lessor before the
commencement of the lease term adjusted for
any lease incentives; and

e Initial direct costs necessary to place the lease
asset into service.

132

Accumulated Amortization —
Leases (Lessee)

The accumulation of periodic credits made to record
the expiration of the estimated service life of a lease
asset. A contra account to Intangible Right to Use
Asset — Leases.

133

Public-Private and Public-
Public (PPP) Underlying Asset
(Transferor)

Includes the carrying value of existing underlying
PPP assets or the acquisition value of new
(purchased or constructed) underlying PPP assets
when they are placed into service.

134

Intangible Right-to-Use Public-
Private and Public-Public
(PPP) Asset (Operator)

PPP assets occur when a local government
(transferor) contracts with an operator to provide
public services by conveying control of the right to
operate or use a nonfinancial asset (PPP asset).

The amount recorded by the operator for the PPP
asset is the sum of the following:

e Initial measurement of the liability for installment
payments;

e PPP payments made to the transferor at or
before the commencement of the PPP term;

e Cost of the purchased or constructed PPP asset
(if PPP meets definition of an Service
Concession Arrangement);

e Cost of improvements to an existing PPP asset;
and

e Initial direct costs that are ancillary charges
necessary to place the asset into service.
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Code

Accounts

General Definition

135

Accumulated Amortization —
Private-Public and Public-
Public Partnership (PPP)
Asset (Operator)

The right-to-use PPP asset should be amortized in a
systematic and rational manner over either the PPP
term or the useful life of the PPP asset, whichever is
shorter. Amortization of the right-to-use PPP asset
should be reported as an outflow of resources (e.g.,
amortization expense), which may be combined with
depreciation expense related to other capital assets
for financial reporting purposes.

136

Accumulated Depreciation —
Private-Public and Public-
Public Partnership (PPP)
Asset (Transferor)

Transferor should apply all other accounting and
financial reporting requirements related to the PPP
asset, including depreciation and impairment. If the
PPP requires the operator to return the PPP asset in
its original condition, the transferor should not
depreciate the PPP asset during the PPP term.

137

Subscription-Based
Information Technology
(SBITA) Subscription Asset

Subscription assets occur when a local government
contractually obtains the right to use another party’s
(SBITA vendor) IT software, alone or in combination
with tangible capital assets (subscription asset).

The amount recorded by the local government for
the subscription asset is the sum of the following,
less any SBITA vendor incentives received at the
commencement of the subscription term):
¢ Initial measurement of the subscription liability;
e Payments made to the SBITA vendor at the
commencement of the subscription term; and
e Capitalizable initial implementation costs

SBITA vendor incentives are (1) payments made to
or on behalf of a local government for which the local
government has a right of offset with its obligation to
the SBITA vendor or (2) other concessions granted
to the local government.

138

Accumulated Amortization —
Subscription-Based
Technology Arrangement
(SBITA) Subscription Asset

The subscription asset should be amortized in a
systematic and rational manner over either the
subscription term or the useful life of the IT assets,
whichever is shorter. Amortization of the subscription
asset should begin at the commencement of the
subscription term and be reported as an outflow of
resources (e.g., amortization expense), which may
be combined with depreciation expense related to
other capital assets for financial reporting purposes.
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Other Noncurrent Assets

Noncurrent assets include resources such as (a) cash and claims to cash that are restricted as
to withdrawal or use for other than current operations, that are designated for disbursement in
the acquisition or construction of noncurrent assets, or that are segregated for the liquidation of
long-term debts; (b) receivables arising from unusual transactions (e.g., sale of capital assets)
that are not expected to be collected within 12 months; (c) cash surrender value of life insurance
policies; (d) land and other natural resources; and (e) depreciable assets.

It should be noted that capital assets are discussed in the preceding section. All other non-
current assets that do not fall under the capital assets category are discussed in this section.

The definitions in the following chart of accounts act as a guide to show how the accounts may
be used. In addition to the accounts listed, other accounts may be required in the preparation of
financial statements.

Code Accounts Definition

Restricted cash and investment or other items of
150 | Restricted Assets — Noncurrent | value received by a promise to an organization,
the use of which is legally or contractually
restricted.

Includes the present value of lease payments
expected to be received during the lease term.

_ When measuring the lease receivable the

151 | Lease Receivable (Lessor) following items may also be included (based on
the lease terms): fixed/variable payments,
residual value guarantees, and lease incentives
payable to the lessee.

Includes the present value of installment
payments expected to be received during the
o . . PPP term. When measuring the PPP receivable,
15 | Public-Private and Public-Public | the following items should be included (if required
(PPP) Receivable (Transferor) by a PPP): fixed/variable payments (including
variable payments dependent on an index rate or
that are fixed in substance) and residual value
guarantee payments that are fixed in substance.

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Refer to the Outflows/Inflows Flowchart and the Items That May Be Classified as
Outflows/Inflows chart previously discussed in this chapter for additional guidance.

The definitions in the following chart of accounts act as a guide to show how the accounts may
be used. In addition to the accounts listed, other accounts may be required in the preparation of
financial statements.
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Code

Accounts

General Definition

200

Grants (Provider)

Grant paid in advance of meeting the timing
requirements as stipulated in the grant
agreement.

201

Matured Bonds Payable

Un-redeemed, unpaid bonds that have passed
their maturity dates.

202

Refunding of Debt (Loss)

Deferred loss from the difference between
reacquisition price and net carrying amount of old
debt.

203

Sale Leaseback (Loss)

Loss on the sale of property that is accompanied
by a leaseback of all or any part of the property
for all or any part of its remaining economic life.

Note: a gain would be recorded as a deferred
inflow of resources.

204

Hedging Derivative Instruments

Accumulated decrease in fair value of hedging
derivative instruments.

205

Government Mandated
Nonexchange Transactions
(Provider)

Transactions in which one special district provides
resources to another special district. The provider
may require the resources to be used at a certain
time. Resources received or recognized as
receivable before time requirements are met but,
after all other eligibility requirements are met, are
reported as deferred outflows.

206

Intra-Entity Transfers of Future
Revenues (Transferee)

Future revenues to be recognized over the
duration of the sale/transfer agreement and
recorded as a deferred outflow of resources.

207

Voluntary Nonexchange
Transactions (Provider)

Resources provided (before time requirements
are met, but after all other eligibility requirements
are met) that result from legislative or contractual
agreements, other than exchanges, entered into
willingly by the parties to the agreement. These
resources are recorded as deferred outflow of
resources by the special district providing the
resources.
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Current Liabilities

The definitions in the following chart of accounts act as a guide to show how the accounts may
be used. In addition to the accounts listed, other accounts may be required in the preparation of
financial statements.

Code Accounts General Definition
300 | Warrants Payable The amount of warrants issued that have not yet
been paid.
Liabilities for goods and services evidenced by
301 | Vouchers Payable vouchers that have been pre-audited and

approved for payment but have not been paid.
Amounts owed on open accounts to private
persons or organizations for goods and services
302 | Accounts Payable furnished to a local government entity (but not
including amounts owed to other funds or to
other governments).

303 | Salaries and Benefits Payable Amounts owed because of accrued salaries and
benefits.

Amounts owed to employees for unpaid vacation,
sick leave, sabbatical leave and other
compensated absences with similar

304 | Compensated Absences Payable | characteristics. Examples of other compensated
absences with similar characteristics would
include Annual Leave, Professional Development
Days, and Personal Holidays.

305 | Interest Payable Unpaid interest on bonds that have reached or
passed their maturity date.

306 | Accrued Expenses An accounting expense recognized in the books
before it is paid for.

307 | Short-Term Loan This account is comprised of any debt incurred

by a company that is due within one year.

308 | Current Maturities of Long-Term | The total amount of long-term debt that is due in
Debt the next 12 months.

Unpaid short-term lease liabilities expected to be
paid with governmental resources within the
current reporting period.

309 | Lease Payable (Short-Term) Note: Lease liabilities arising from lease

contracts that have a lease term greater than 12

months should be recorded under Account #317

Lease Liability (Lessee).

A liability for resources obtained prior to revenue
310 | Unearned Revenue recognition (revenues received before goods and
services are provided).
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Code Accounts General Definition
The component that indicates the amount of
311 | Payables from Restricted Assets | restricted assets of a proprietary fund in excess
of noncapital borrowings and other liabilities
directly associated with those restricted assets.
Has a maximum possible term under the SBITA
o ' contract of 12 months (or less), including any
Subscription-Based Information | gptions to extend, regardless of their probability
312 | Technology Arrangement of being exercised. SBITA’s liabilities arising from
(SBITA) Payable (Short-Term) SBITA’s that have a subscription term greater
than 12 months should be recorded under
Account #318, Subscription Liability.
313 | Other Current Liabilities Current liabilities not otherwise accounted for

under any other current liabilities category.

Long-Term Liabilities

Long-term liabilities owned by proprietary and fiduciary funds are accounted for through those
funds. Governmental fund long-term liabilities should be maintained in a long-term liability
accounting system and maintained in sufficient detail.

The definitions in the following chart of accounts act as a guide to show how the accounts may
be used. In addition to the accounts listed, other accounts may be required in the preparation of
financial statements.

Code

Accounts

General Definition

314

Loans

Money (debt) owed to another organization. Loans
recorded in this account are long-term in nature.

315

Notes Payables

Notes payable (other than bank notes). Long-term
principal portion. Typically includes the amount of
promissory notes outstanding.

316

Bonds Outstanding

Long-term principal portion of the unmatured
portion of bonds sold.

317

Lease Liability (Lessee)

Includes the present value of lease payments
expected to be made during the lease term. When
measuring lease liability the following items may
also be included (based on the lease contract):

fixed/variable payments,

residual value guarantees,

purchase (exercise) price,

penalties for lease termination,

lease incentives,

and any other payments that are reasonable of
being required based on assessment of all
relevant factors.
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Code Accounts General Definition

Includes present value of subscription payments
expected to be made during the subscription term.
When measuring the subscription liability, the
following items may also be included:

o . ¢ Fixed payments
Subscription-Based Information |, variaple payments that depend on an

318 | Technology Arrangement index/rate or are fixed in substance
(SBITA) — Subscription Liability | ¢ payments for penalties for terminating the
SBITA

e Any contract incentives

e Other payments to the SBITA vendor
associated with the SBITA contract that are
reasonably certain of being required on an
assessment of all factors

Liabilities for installment payments should be
measured initially at the present value of the PPP
payments expected to be made during the PPP
term. Measurement of the liability for install
payments should include the following (if required
by the PPP):

e Fixed payments;

e Variable payments dependent on a an index or

. . . . a rate (e.g., consumer price index or a market

Public-Private and Public-Public interest rate);

319 | Partnership (PPP) Liability e Variable payments that are fixed in substance;

(Operator) e Amounts that are reasonably certain of being
required to be paid by the operator under
residual value guarantees;

e Payments for penalties for terminating the PPP
(if PPP term shows operator exercising a
termination option or a fiscal funding or
cancellation clause);

e Any other payments to the transferor related to
the PPP that are reasonable certain of being
required based on assessment of all relevant
factors.
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Code Accounts General Definition
APAs may contain multiple components. An
operator may design, construct, finance, operate,
and maintain an asset (e.g., a public toll road) for a
local government in exchange for (1) fixed

Availability Payment payments to compensate the operator for the

320 Arrangement (APA) Liability associated costs and (2) variable payments based
on whether measures related to availability have
been met. These payments will take place over a
number of years. This is where the APA liability
(long-term liability) will be recognized by the local
government (not by the operator).
A number of other long-term liabilities should be
recorded, if appropriate. Included are:

321 | Other Long-Term Liabilities e Total Pension liability or Net Pgnsion Liability*;
e Other Post-Employment Benefits;
e Worker's Compensation liability;
e Other self-insurance liabilities; and
e Compensated absences.

* Net Pension liability is the difference between Total Pension Liability and Pension Plan
Fiduciary Net Position.

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Refer to the Outflows/Inflows Flowchart and Items That May Be Classified as Outflows/Inflows
chart previously discussed in this chapter for additional guidance. The definitions in the following
chart of accounts act as a guide to show how the accounts may be used. In addition to the
accounts listed, other accounts may be required in the preparation of financial statements.

Code

Accounts

General Definition

400

Deposits from Others

Amounts received from others as a condition
precedent to a contractual offer, a legal
proceeding, or performance by the local
government.

401

Unavailable Revenues

Resource inflows that do not qualify for recognition
as revenue in a governmental fund because they
are not yet considered to be available.

402

Property Tax Receivable

Property taxes received or reported as a receivable
before (a) the period for which property taxes are
levied or (b) the period when resources are
required to be used or when use is first permitted
for all other imposed nonexchange revenues in
which the enabling legislation includes timing
requirements.
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Code

Accounts

General Definition

403

Assessments Received in
Advance

Derived tax revenues (e.g. sales tax, MVFT,
hotel/motel tax, etc.) imposed nonexchange
revenues and/or any other assessments received
in advance.

404

Hedging Derivative Instruments

Accumulated increase in fair value of hedging
derivative instruments/contracts (that meet the
criteria of derivatives).

405

Service Concession
Arrangements (Transferor)

Difference between any up-front payments or the
present value of installment payments (assets)
received from an operator and any contractual
obligations (liabilities).

406

Regulatory Credits

Regulatory credits (gains or other deductions).

407

Sale-Leaseback (Gain)

Gain on the sale of property that is accompanied
by a leaseback of all or any part of the property for
all or part of its remaining economic life (Deferred
Inflow of Resources).

408

Securities Sold Under Agreement
to Repurchase

Proceeds from sales of future revenues related to
a repurchase agreement.

409

Refunding of Debt (Gain)

Deferred gain from the difference between
reacquisition price and net carrying amount of old
debt.

410

Tax Anticipation Notes Payable

A short-term interest bearing note issued by a local
government entity in anticipation of tax revenues to
be received at a later date. The debt is repaid with
future tax collections.

411

Grants (Recipient)

Grants received in advance of meeting timing
requirements as stipulated in the grant agreement.

412

Imposed Nonexchange Revenue
Transaction

Transactions (e.g., property taxes) that result from
assessments by special district on
non-governmental entities. The liability is recorded
if timing requirements (outlined by GASB
Statement No. 33, Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Nonexchange transactions, as
amended) are not met.

413

Government Mandated
Nonexchange Transactions
(Recipient)

Transactions in which one special district provides
resources to another special district. The provider
may require the resources to be used at a certain
time. Resources received or recognized as
receivable before time requirements are met but
after all other eligibility requirements are met, are
reported as deferred inflows of resources by the
recipient special district.
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Code

Accounts

General Definition

414

Voluntary Nonexchange
Transactions (Recipient)

Resources received (before time requirements are
met, but after all other eligibility requirements are
met) that result from legislative or contractual
agreements, other than exchanges, entered into
willingly by the parties to the agreement. These
resources would be recorded as deferred inflow of
resources by the recipient special district.

415

Intra-Entity Transfers of Future
Revenues (Transferor)

Future revenues received that are reported in the
government-wide and fund financial statements
and recognized as deferred inflows of resources
over duration of the sale/transfer agreement.

416

Sale of Future Revenues
(Transferor)

Proceeds should be reported in both the
government-wide and fund financial statements as
deferred inflows of resources except for instances
wherein recognition as revenue in the period of
sale is appropriate.

417

Loan Origination Fee (Points)

Points received by a lender in relation to a loan
origination should be reported as a deferred
inflows of resources and recognized as revenue in
a systematic and rational manner over the duration
of the related loan.

418

Deferred Inflow of Resources —
Lease Payments (Lessor)

These are expected future payments a government
(lessor) is expected to receive as result of entering
into a lease contract.

A lessor should take into account the following
when measuring deferred inflow of resources:
¢ Initial measurement of lease receivable; and

e Lease payments received from lessee that
apply to future periods (e.g. final month’s rent).

419

Deferred Inflow of Resources —
Public-Private and Public-Public
Partnership (PPP) Payments
(Transferor)

These deferred inflows of resources are expected

future payments a local government (transferor) is

expected to receive as a result of entering into a

PPP. A transferor should take into account the

following when measuring deferred inflow of

resources:

¢ Initial measurement of the receivable for install
payments;

e PPP payments received from the operator at or
prior to the beginning of the PPP term;

e Amount of the initial measurement for the
underlying PPP asset;

e Amount of the initial measurement for
improvements to the underlying PPP asset; and

e The amount of the initial measurement of the
receivable for the underlying PPP asset.
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Fund Balance and Net Position

Fund balance should be used only in connection with governmental funds and should not be
used in government-wide financial statements or in funds that use the full accrual basis of
accounting. Net position should be displayed in three components: net investment in capital
assets; restricted; and unrestricted. The following charts illustrate the related terminology.

The definitions in the following chart of accounts act as a guide to show how the accounts may
be used. In addition to the accounts listed, other accounts may be required in the preparation of
financial statements.

Code

Accounts

General Definition

500

Non-Spendable Fund Balance —
Acct Name

Fund balance amounts that are segregated and
cannot be spent because they are (a) not in
spendable form (not expected to be converted to
cash) or (b) legally or contractually required to be
maintained intact for specific purposes and not
available for financing the budget requirements.

501

Restricted Fund Balance —
Acct Name

The amount of fund balance that is segregated for
specific purposes due to constraints placed by
external creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws
or regulations of other governments, or imposed
by law through constitutional provisions or
enabling legislation and is not available for
financing the budget requirements.

502

Committed Fund Balance —
Acct Name

The amount of fund balance that can be used
only for specific purposes pursuant to constraints
imposed by formal action of the government’s
highest level of decision-making authority and is
not available for financing the budget
requirements.

503

Assigned Fund Balance —
Acct Name

Segregation of a portion of fund balance to
indicate the government’s tentative plans for
financial resource utilization in a future period,
such as for equipment replacement. The tentative
managerial plans or intent should be clearly
distinguished from non-spendable, restricted, or
committed fund balances.

504

Unassigned Fund Balance

That portion of the fund balance that has not been
restricted, committed, or assigned to specific
purposes and is available to finance the
budgetary requirements.
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Code Accounts General Definition

Component of net position consisting of capital
assets, net of accumulated depreciation, and
reduced by the outstanding balances of any

N | bonds, mortgages, notes, or other borrowings that
505 | et Position — Netinvestmentin | gre attributable to the acquisition, construction, or
Capital Assets improvement of those assets. Deferred outflows
and inflows of resources that are attributable to
the acquisition, construction, or improvement of
those assets or related debt should be included in
this component of net position.

Component of the net position consisting of
restricted assets reduced by liabilities and
deferred inflows of resources related to those

Net Position — Restricted For assets. Constraints on its use are generally either
Acct Name (a) externally imposed by creditors (such as
through debt covenants), grantors, contributors,
or law or regulations of governments, or (b)
imposed by law through constitutional provisions
or enabling legislation.

Component of the net position consisting of the
net amount of the assets, deferred outflows of
Net Position — Unrestricted Acct | resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of

507 Name resources that are not included in the
determination of the Net Investment in Capital
Assets or the Restricted components of the net
position.

508 | Fund Balance The difference between the total assets and total
liabilities.

506

Note: For financial reporting purposes the Fund Balance account should be reclassified to either
restricted, committed, or assigned fund balance depending on the special district’s spending
prioritization policies.
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Financing Sources/Uses and Budgetary Accounts

The definitions in the following chart of accounts act as a guide to show how the accounts may
be used. In addition to the accounts listed, other accounts may be required in the preparation of
financial statements.

Code Accounts General Definition

Increases in the net position of a governmental

. _ fund other than revenues. Examples include

600 | Other Financing Sources proceeds from debt issuance, capital asset sales
and transfers of resources (e.g., assets) from
other funds.

Decreases in the net position of a governmental
) , fund other than expenditures. Examples include
601 | Other Financing Uses debt extinguishments, payments of lease
transactions, and transfers of resources (e.g.,
assets) to other funds.

7.05 Stabilization Arrangements

As discussed in GASB Cod. Sec. 1800.181 (Section 1800, paragraph .181), some local
governments formally set aside part of their fund balance for emergencies, working capital, cash
flows, revenue shortages, or other contingencies. The authority to set aside these amounts
usually comes from statute, ordinance, resolution, charter, or constitution. These funds are
known as stabilization arrangements.

For local governments to be able to set aside these types of funds as restricted or committed,
the local government should define when these amounts may be used and specify a situation
that is not expected to occur on a routine basis. For example, identifying funds to be accessed
in an emergency does not sufficiently detail the circumstances or conditions that should be met
to consider the funds committed. The local government entity should be more specific in
defining an emergency to commit these funds.

If the stabilization arrangement meets the criteria outlined in GASB Cod. Sec. 1800.169 — .172
(Section 1800, paragraphs .169 — .172), it should be reported as either restricted or committed,
depending on the source of the constraints. Stabilization arrangements that do not meet the
criteria should be reported as part of unassigned fund balance in the general fund. For more
information on Stabilization Arrangements refer to GASB Cod. Sec. 1800.181 —.182 (Section
1800, paragraphs .181 — .182).

As discussed in GASB Cod. Sec. 1800.187 (Section 1800, paragraph .187), governments that
establish stabilization arrangements, even if an arrangement does not meet the criteria to be
classified as restricted or committed, should disclose the following information in the notes to the
financial statements:

e The authority for establishing stabilization arrangements (for example, by statute or
ordinance);

e The requirements for the additions to the stabilization amount;

e The conditions under which stabilization amounts may be spent; and
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e The stabilization balance, if not apparent on the face of the financial statements.

7.06 General Reserves

It is recommended that a general reserve be established in whatever fund might need such a
reserve. For financial reporting purposes, the general reserve should be classified as either
assigned or committed if the general reserve represents amounts that have been constrained
for specific purposes. Classifying the general reserve to restricted is appropriate when the
amounts are restricted to specific purposes and when constraints placed on those resources are
either imposed by others external to the government or imposed by law through constitutional
provisions or enabling legislation, including ordinances. The general reserve established in the
general fund without specific purpose constraints should be classified as unassigned.

The general reserve is an appropriation of resources to cover potential cash flow shortfalls. The
general reserve can only be established upon resolution adopted by the governing body of the
local government.

The following terms are commonly used when using a general reserve:

e Establishment: The general reserve is established during the budget process primarily to

provide dry period financing (when financial resources are insufficient to meet obligations).
e Adjustment: The general reserve may be adjusted only during the annual budget adoption
process, except during a legally declared emergency as defined in Government Code
section 29127.
e Use of Reserve: The general reserve is only available for use only as defined by the

governing body and may be committed, restricted, assigned, or unassigned.

For financial reporting purposes, the general reserves should be classified as restricted,
committed, or assigned fund balance dependent upon the constraints placed on those
resources.

Expenditures/Expenses

7.07 Expenditure and Expense Classifications

Whether transactions are considered to be an expenditure or an expense depends upon the
nature of the fund in which it is recorded. Expenditures are the focus of governmental fund
financial statements, while expenses are the focus of nongovernmental fund financial
statements.

As discussed in GASB Cod. Sec. 1800.131 (Section 1800, paragraph .131), the term
expenditures means decreases in (uses of) fund financial resources other than through interfund
transfers and expirations of demand bond takeout agreements (refer to GASB Cod. Sec. D30
for additional information on demand bond takeout agreements). Because governmental funds
operate on a budgetary basis rather than an operating basis, the term is more relevant to a
reduction in a fixed amount.
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Local governments should use multiple classifications (such as functions/programs,
objects/object classes, activities, organization unit, location, and character) to meet the
applicable reporting and budgetary requirements.

As stated in GASB Cod. Sec. 1800.133 (Section 1800, paragraph .133):

Multiple classification of governmental fund expenditure data is important from both
internal and external management control and accountability standpoints. It facilitates the
aggregation and analysis of data in different ways for different purposes and in manners
that cross fund and organization lines, for internal evaluation, external reporting, and
intergovernmental comparison purposes. The major accounting classifications of
expenditures are by fund, function (or program), organization unit, activity, character, and
object class.

Expenses are decreases in net position resulting from the outflow of resources in the course of
operations for nongovernmental funds (includes providing goods and services) and represent
the full costs associated with providing services. Expense accounts reflect changes in the net
position as a result of operations during a specified time period.

As discussed in GASB Cod. Sec. 1800.142 (Section 1800, paragraph .142), local governments
should report expenses by function (program), as well as by object, except for those that meet
the definitions of special or extraordinary items. Direct expenses are those that are specifically
associated with a particular service or program; they should be clearly identifiable to that
function in the financial statements. Some functions, such as support services and
administration, are indirect expenses of other functions. Local governments are not required to
allocate these indirect expenses to other functions; however, they should do so if statutorily
required.

Some local governments charge funds or programs (through internal service funds or the
general fund) for indirect centralized expenses, which may include an administrative overhead
component. Local governments are not required to identify and eliminate these administrative
overhead charges, but the summary of significant accounting policies should disclose whether
or not they are included in direct expenses.

Expenditures are usually related to their revenue stream, therefore direct expenditures may
follow activity classifications. However, the use of multiple classifications, such as additional
codes by object or by organizational unit often allows for better evaluation of operations and
budgetary controls. Proprietary fund expenses should be classified in essentially the same
manner as those found in similar business organizations, functions, or activities.

According to GASB Cod. Sec. 1800.141 (Section 1800, paragraph .141), governments should
provide data in the statement of activities at a more detailed level if the additional detail provides
more useful information without significantly reducing the readers’ understanding of the
statement. No specific level of detail is appropriate for all governments. While some
governments will have hundreds of programs, others may have only a few. It is for that reason
that reporting in greater detail than the minimum requirements (see the following paragraph)
may be practical for some governments, but not for others.

Special District Uniform Accounting and Reporting Procedures Page 119
2024 Edition



Chapter 7: Classificationion and Terminology

The government-wide statement of activities, at a minimum, should present the following
according to GASB Cod. Sec. 1800.140 (Section 1800, paragraph .140):

e Activities accounted for in governmental funds by function to coincide with the level of detail
required in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund
balances.

e Activities accounted for in enterprise funds by different identifiable activities.

7.08 Use of Objects (Accounts) and Subobjects

Expenditures should be classified by object classes; that is, according to the types of items
purchased or services obtained. Examples are goods and services, salaries and benefits,
capital outlays, and special and extraordinary items. Use of object classes should be limited to a
minimum to reduce creation of complex procedures and statement categories; their use
depends on the reporting needs of the local government.

The use of subobjects, usually represented as accounts, is left to local choice. Samples of
subobject accounts are listed in Section 7.09, Chart of Objects (Accounts) and Subobjects.

Cost analyses, statistical comparisons, and other reporting requirements may make a further
segregation of subobjects desirable. In this event, the subobject listed on the chart may be
segregated into the desired subaccount. For example, Insurance might be set up in the
accounts as:

e Insurance — Public Liability
e Insurance — Fire and Burglary
e Insurance — Other

Used in this manner, the chart of accounts allow local governments to prepare financial reports
for informational, statistical, and other statutory purposes, such as the State Controller’s
Financial Transactions Report. Subobjects can be produced separately or merged, as needed,
for reporting purposes.

A suggested chart of accounts is provided in the following section. The list of accounts in the
following charts is not all-inclusive. Where appropriate, special districts may supplement these
classifications with additional ones in light of local circumstances.
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7.09 Chart of Objects (Accounts) and Subobjects

Accounts are numbered in sequence for illustrative and reference purposes only.

Chart of Objects and Subobjects

Salaries and Employee Benefits

Code Accounts Code Accounts
1 Salaries and Wages 4 | Workers’ Compensation Insurance
2 Retirement 5 FICA/Medicare/OASDI
3 Employee Group Insurance 6 Other Benefits
Services and Supplies
Code Accounts Code Accounts
10 | Agricultural 21 | Miscellaneous Expense/Expenditures
11 | Clothing and Personal 22 | Office Expense/Expenditures
12 | Communications 23 | Professional and Specialized Services
13 | Food 24 | Publications and Legal Notices
14 | Household Expense/Expenditures 25 | Rent — Equipment
15 | Insurance Expense/Expenditures 26 | Rent — Buildings
Jury and Witness , .
16 Expense/Expenditures 27| Minor Equipment
. . Special Departmental
17 | Maintenance — Equipment 28 Expense/Expenditures
18 Maintenance — Buildings and 29 | Transportation and Travel
Improvements
19 Medlc_al, Dental, and Laboratory 30 | Utilities
Supplies
20 | Memberships N/A | N/A
Other Charges
Code Accounts Code Accounts
31 | Support and Care of Persons 42 | Income Allocation
32 | Bond Redemption 43 Contributions to Non-District
Governmental Agency
33 gggiement of Gther Long-Term 44 | Interfund Expenditures
34 | Interest on Bonds 45 | Debt Issuance Cost
35 | Interest on Other Long-Term Debt 46 | Lease Expenditures
36 | Interest on Notes and Warrants 47 | Interest on Leases
37 | Judgments and Damages 48 Pubhc-F_’rlvate and Public-Public (PPP)
Expenditures
. Interest on Public-Private and Public-
38 | Rights of Way 49 Public Partnership (PPP) Assets
39 | Taxes and Assessments 50 Subscription-Based Technology

Arrangement (SBITA) Expenditures
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Other Charges (Continued)

Code Accounts Code Accounts
Interest on Subscription-Based
40 | Depreciation 51 | Technology Arrangement (SBITA)

Subscription Assets

41 Bad Debt

Other Financing Uses

Code Accounts Code Accounts

Reciprocal Interfund Activity —

60 | Special Items 64 | \nterfund Loans

Reciprocal Interfund Activity —

61 | Extraordinary ftems 65 Interfund Services Provided and Used
L . . Nonreciprocal Interfund Activity —

62 | Appropriation for Contingencies 66 Interfund Transfers

63 | Transfers In/Out 67 Nonreciprocal Interfund Activity —

Interfund Reimbursements

Capital Assets

Code Accounts Code Accounts
71 |Land 75 | Intangible Assets
72 | Buildings and Improvements 76 | Leases (right-to-use nonfinancial asset)
Public-Private and Public-Public
73 | Equipment 77 | Partnership (PPP) Asset (right-to-use

nonfinancial asset — Operator)

Subscription-Based Information

74 | Infrastructure /8 Technology (SBITA) Subscription Asset

Transfers-Out

Code Accounts Code Accounts

81 | Transfers-Out N/A | N/A

Special Iltems

Code Accounts Code Accounts

90 | Special ltems 91 | Extraordinary ltems

Intrafund Transfers

Code Accounts Code Accounts

100 | Intrafund Transfers N/A | N/A

Appropriation For Contingencies

Code Accounts Code Accounts
110 | Appropriations for Contingencies N/A | N/A
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7.10 Explanation of Objects and Subobjects

Following are the account titles and the suggested usage of each account. As previously
discussed, special districts should take into consideration their specific purpose and statutory
requirements when designing their chart of accounts. The examples discussed in this section
include some common expense/expenditure type accounts. Accounts are numbered in
sequence for illustrative and reference purposes only.

Explanation of Objects and Subobjects

Salaries and Employee Benefits

Code

Accounts — Salaries and Employee Benefits

Salaries and Wages

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of expenses/expenditures usually
posted under this category:

Elected officials

Permanent employees

Extra help

Suggestion awards

Overtime

Premium pay

Compensation to prisoners and inmates for services rendered
Vacation and sick leave pay

Do not include expense/expenditures such as Uniform allowances under this
category. They should be posted to accounts such as “Services and Supplies,
Clothing and Personal supplies.”

Retirement

Includes the special districts share of the expenses related employee retirement
programs (pension and other post-employment benefits). For example, employer
retirement contributions and those deferred outflows of resources (pension and
OPEB related) that would be amortized within the current accounting period would
be reported under this category. Contributions to the pension plan from the employer
should be recognized as a pension expense.

Employee Group Insurance

Includes the special districts share of employee group insurance programs. The list
below, not all-inclusive, includes types of expenses/expenditures usually posted
under this category:

e Employer’s share of health, dental, life and accident insurance

e Employee share of State disability insurance

e Employer’'s share of unemployment insurance

Workers’ Compensation Insurance
Includes the Workers’ Compensation premiums paid by the special district.

Federal Insurance Contributions Act (FICA)/Medicare/Old Age Survivors
Disability Insurance (OASDI)
Employers share of O.A.S.D.l and FICA/Medicare.
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Code

Accounts — Salaries and Employee Benefits

6 Other Benefits
Includes employee benefits not covered in the other subobjects.

Services and Supplies

Code Accounts — Services and Supplies
Agricultural
The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of expenses/expenditures posted
under this category for Agricultural related special districts.
e Agricultural disinfecting and exterminating services
e Animal medicines and serums
e Custom farming services
e Eartags
o Fertilizer
e Forage
e Insecticides
e Livestock registration

10

e Nursery stock
e Peat moss
e Pest abatement supplies
e Seed
e Topsoil
e Weed Kkiller
Do not include any of these expenses/expenditures if used in building and grounds

maintenance—special districts should post these types of transactions to accounts
such as “Services and Supplies, Maintenance—Buildings and Improvements.”
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Code Accounts — Services and Supplies

Clothing and Personal

Includes items for personal use, including safety appliances.

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of expenses/expenditures usually

posted under this category:

e Badges and Chevrons

e Belts

e Buttons

e Combs

e Facial tissue

e Gloves

e (Goggles, masks

11 e Gowns

e Helmets

e Raincoats

e Rubber boots

e Safety clothing

e Sewing supplies

e Shoes

e Slippers

e Tobacco

e Toilet articles

e Uniforms

e Uniform allowances

e Yardage

Communications

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of expenses/expenditures usually

posted under this category:

e Telephone, telegraph, and teletype services

e Radio and microwave services

e Messenger services

o |° Fax machines, pagers, and cell phones

Following is a list of expenses/expenditures that are usually not posted under this

category:

e Radio repair services and supplies. Special districts should post to these type of
transactions to accounts such as “Services and Supplies, Maintenance—
Equipment.”

e Rental of communication equipment. Special districts should post these type of
transactions to accounts such as “Services and Supplies, Rent—Equipment.
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Code Accounts — Services and Supplies

Food

Includes nutriments and beverages for human consumption, either (a) presently
suitable for consumption or kitchen processing, or (b) not presently suitable, such as
livestock and poultry, but intended for ultimate conversion and use as food by the
purchasing budget unit.

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of expenses/expenditures usually
posted under this category:

e Candy and Confectionery
Cereals and related products
Cocoa and related products
Coffee substitute

Eggs and related products

Milk and products
Oleomargarine

Soft drinks

Spices, salt

Sugar and related products

Tea

Vegetables and related products

13

Following is a list of expenses/expenditures that are usually not posted under this

category:

e Dietary supplements. Special districts should post these type of transactions to
accounts such as “Services and Supplies, Medical, Dental and Laboratory
Supplies.”

e Spirituous, malt, or vinous liquors. Special districts should post these type of
transactions to accounts such as “Services and Supplies, Medical, Dental and
Laboratory Supplies”.

e Meals furnished to jurors. Special districts should post these type of transactions
to accounts such as “Services and Supplies, Jury and Witness
Expense/Expenditures.”
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Code

Accounts — Services and Supplies

14

Household Expense/Expenditures
The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of expenses/expenditures usually
posted under the this category:
e Kitchen and dining service:
e Chinaware, cooking supplies,
e Baking, meat cutting utensils and supplies
e Glassware, napkins, tablecloths
e Bedding:
e Bedspreads, blankets, mattresses
e Pillows, pillowcases, sheets
e Laundry:
e Clothes pins
e Detergents, soaps, and washing compounds
e Laundry bags, marking ink
e Outside laundry, dry cleaning

Brooms, mops, wax and cleaners

Clothes lockers

Contractual maid and custodial services
Curtains, drapes, rugs (when not capitalized)
disinfectants, drinking water

Garbage cans, hot plates, small heaters
Refuse disposal, soap

Toilet tissue, towels, towel service

Do not include supplies issued to individuals for personal use — special districts
usually post these types of expenses/expenditures to accounts such as “Services
and Supplies, Clothing and Personal.”

15

Insurance Expense/Expenditures
The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of expenses/expenditures usually
posted under this category:

Fire

Burglary

Collision

Public liability

Property damage

False arrest

Malpractice

Individual and blanket bonds
Forgery

Money and securities

Do not include share of employee group insurance type expenses/expenditures.
Special districts usually post these type of transactions to accounts such as “Salaries
and Employee Benefits, Employee Group Insurance.”
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Code Accounts — Services and Supplies

Jury and Witness Expense/Expenditures

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of expenses/expenditures usually
posted under this category:

e Fees and expenses of jurors, witnesses, and interpreters (criminal cases only).
16 |* Meals, transportation, and hotel accommodations for jurors.

e Fees and expenses of coroners’ juries

Do not include psychiatric expenses/expenditures. Special districts should post these
types of transactions to accounts such as “Services and Supplies, Professional” and
“Specialized Services.”

Maintenance — Equipment

Includes expenses/expenditures for keeping equipment, whether capitalized or not,
in efficient operating condition.

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of expenses/expenditures posted
under this category:

17 |°® Contractual repairs, overhauls

e Automotive supplies such as lubricating oil, light bulbs, spark plugs, antifreeze,
grease, polish, brake fluids, seat covers, skid chains, batteries, tires and tubes,
fan belts, filters

Gasoline, fuel for central garage vehicles

Communication and radio repair services and supplies

Repair parts

Service contracts for maintenance
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Code Accounts — Services and Supplies

Maintenance — Buildings and Improvements

Includes expenses/expenditures incurred in the process of maintaining buildings and
improvements.

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of expenses/expenditures usually
posted under this category:
e Awnings

e Boiler compounds

e Electrical and plumbing supplies and services

e Fire extinguisher refills

e Gardening expense

e Heating and cooling system repairs

e Light globes, fuses

e Minor alterations

e Nursery stock

18 | e Painting supplies and services

e Replacement parts that do not result in a betterment

e Gardening expense, including weed and pest control supplies for buildings and
grounds

Following is a list of expenses/expenditures that are usually not posted under this

category:

e Lawnmowers, hedgers, shears, ladders, etc. Special districts should post these
type of transactions to accounts such as “Services and Supplies, Minor
Equipment.”

e Water, electricity, gas, etc. Special districts should post these type of transactions
to accounts such as “Services and Supplies, Utilities.”

e Road contractual services. Special districts should post these type of transactions
to accounts such as “Services and Supplies, Professional and Specialized
Services.”

e Road supplies. Special districts should post to these type of transactions to
accounts such as “Services and Supplies, Special Department Expense.”

Special District Uniform Accounting and Reporting Procedures Page 129

2024 Edition



Chapter 7: Classificationion and Terminology

Code Accounts — Services and Supplies

Medical, Dental, and Laboratory Supplies

posted under this category:

e Alcohol

¢ Animals, fish, insects for laboratory tests
e Laboratory enamelware and glassware
Antiseptics

Antitoxins

Artificial limbs

Blood plasma

Crime laboratory supplies

Dentures

Dietary supplements

Drugs

Embalming supplies

Eyeglasses

19

Includes expenses/expenditures related to laboratory supplies.

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of expenses/expenditures usually

Memberships

other organizations that issue official publications.

20 | Includes Memberships in societies, associations of officials, trade associations, and

Miscellaneous Expense/Expenditures

inventory overages and shortages.

Includes infrequent or minor expense/expenditures, not limited in incidence to any

21 | particular department, which are not classified in any other subobject. Exercise care
that this account is not used for expense/expenditures that may be properly posted to
one of the other subjects. Examples include cash shortages and unidentifiable

Office Expense/Expenditures

posted under this category:
Accounting and report forms
Binders, docket books

Book binding and repair

Books, manuals

Bottled drinking water
Dictaphone supplies

Paper (including drafting paper)
Envelopes, stamped envelopes
Filing supplies

Letterheads

Letter scales

Metered postage, stamps, parcel post
Microfilm

Office machine ribbons

22

Includes expenses/expenditures for office-type supplies and services.

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of expenses/expenditures usually
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Code Accounts — Services and Supplies

Office Expense/Expenditures (Continued)

e Paper clips

e Subscriptions (magazines, periodicals, etc.)

e Pens, pencils

e Pencil sharpeners

e P.O. Boxrental

e Post cards

e Photography supplies

e Printing and binding

e Punch cards, tabulating forms

e Receipts, receipt books

22 | o Registered mail and special delivery

e Reproductions and blueprints

e Rubber stamps

e Scissors & Scotch tape

e Small staplers, dating and numbering machines

Following is a list of expenses/expenditures usually not posted under this category:

e Towel services. Special districts should post these types of transactions to
accounts such as “Services and Supplies, Household Expense.”

e Film development supplies and expenses. Special districts should post these type
of transactions to accounts such as “Service and Supplies, Special Departmental
Expense.”

e Books and periodicals for circulating library use, their repair and bindings. Special
districts should post these type of transactions to accounts such as “Services and
Supplies, Special Departmental Expense.”

Professional and Specialized Services

Includes most professional and skilled services. In a few cases, services of this type

are excluded, being more properly included under subobject titles indicating the

purpose of the expense/expenditure. Any of the following incurred in connection with
the acquisition of capital assets, e.g., appraisals, architectural services, etc., are
capitalized. The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of
expenses/expenditures usually posted under this category:

e Actuarial studies

e Advertising and marketing

e Aerial surveys

23 |« Ambulance service

e Appraisals

e Architectural services

e Armored car service

e Artists’ fees

e Auditing and accounting

e Bounties

¢ Chemical analyses

e Clerical services

e Consultations
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Code Accounts — Services and Supplies
Professional and Specialized Services (Continued)
e Data processing services

Engineering services

Fees paid to the humane society

Fiscal agents’ fees

Lecture and musical services

Management, salary surveys

Materials testing

Medical and sobriety examinations

Medical, dental, and laboratory services

Microfilm services

Outside animal boarding expense

Outside defense counsel, legal services
Psychiatric services

Reporting and transcribing

Road construction/maintenance

Technical identification services

Weighing and measuring services

23

Following is a list of expenses/expenditures usually not posted under this category:

e Messenger services. Special districts should post these type of transactions to
accounts such as “Services and Supplies, Communications.”

e Radio technical services. Special districts should post these type of transactions
to accounts such as “Services and Supplies, Communications.”

e Custodial services. Special districts should post to accounts such as “Services
and Supplies, Household Expense.”

e Service contracts for equipment maintenance. Special districts should post these
type of transactions to accounts such as “Services and Supplies, Maintenance —
Equipment.”

e Service contracts for maintenance of buildings and improvements. Special
districts should post these type of transactions to accounts such as “Services and
Supplies, Maintenance — Buildings and Improvements.”
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Code Accounts — Services and Supplies

Publications and Legal Notices

Includes expenses/expenditures for the publication of legally required notices and
reports. The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of expenses/expenditures
usually posted under this category:

e Tax-sale notices

e Delinquent tax lists

e Employment opportunities

e Planning commission hearings

Public administrator’s semi-annual report

Transfer of unclaimed refundable taxes

Proceedings of board of supervisors

Budgets

Crop reports

Financial reports

Ordinances

Bond sale notices

Bids for purchases

Advertising impounded animals

24

Do not include printing and binding lists of registered voters, printing ballots type’s
expenses/expenditures. Special districts should post these type of transactions to
accounts such as “Services and Supplies, Special Departmental
Expense/Expenditure.”

Rent — Equipment

Includes rents and leases paid for the use of equipment and other articles.

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of expenses/expenditures usually
posted under this category:

e Alarm system (tied to police, fire, or alarm service company)

Rent of communication equipment

Rent of films, exhibits, models

Cable T.V. rental

Other rental equipment costs that do not contain any leasing components

25

Following is a list of expenses/expenditures usually not posted under this category:

e Rental costs of lease of vehicles (e.g. cars and trucks). Special districts should
post these types of transactions to accounts such as “Services and Supplies,
Transportation and Travel.”

e Telephone service. Special districts should post these types of transactions to
accounts such as “Services and Supplies, Communications.”

e Leases. Special districts should post these types of transactions to accounts such
as “Other Charges, Lease Expenditures.”
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Code Accounts — Services and Supplies

Rent — Buildings

Includes rents and leases paid for the use of land, structures and improvements. The

list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of expenses/expenditures usually

posted under this category:

e Rent of polling places

26 | e Storage charges

e Other building rental costs that do not contain any leasing components

Do not include leasing costs of buildings under this category. Special districts should

post these types of transactions to accounts such as “Other Charges, Lease

Expenditures.”

Minor Equipment

Include minor equipment of insufficient life or value to require classification as a

capital asset, and replacement parts of such tools and instruments. The list below is

not all-inclusive; it includes types of expenses/expenditures usually posted under this
category:

e Carpentry, machine, and general-purpose tools:

e Bits, calipers, chisels, cutters

e Drills, files, flashlights, gauges

e Hammers, handsaws

e Ladders, lanterns, levels

e Oil cans, paint brushes, picks

e Reamers, screwdrivers, shovels

e Tool-boxes, wheelbarrows, wrenches
e Drafting, engineering, and surveying tools:

27 e Curve sets, drawing instruments

e Hand compasses, measuring tapes

e Plumb bobs, sextants, slide rules
e Gardening tools:

e Garden hoses, lawnmowers

e Pruning shears, rakes, sprayers

Following is a list of expenses/expenditures usually not posted under this category:

e Safety devices, such as belts, goggles, and helmets. Special districts should post
these types of transactions to accounts such as “Services and Supplies, Clothing
and Personal.”

e Supplies, for example, nails, bolts, oxygen, and welding rods. Special districts
should post these types of transactions to accounts such as “Services and
Supplies, Maintenance-Equipment.”

¢ Medical, dental and laboratory instruments. Special districts should post these
types of transactions under “Services and Supplies, Medical, Dental and
Laboratory Supplies.”
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Code Accounts — Services and Supplies

Special Departmental Expense/Expenditures

Includes comparatively specialized supplies and services, generally peculiar to one

of a few departments, for which an account has not otherwise been provided.

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of expenses/expenditures usually

posted under this category:

e Athletic supplies

28 | e Books for circulating library use

e Demonstration materials

e Election officers

e Election expenses

e Fingerprinting supplies

e Games and puzzles

e Printing ballots

e Shopping Supplies

Transportation and Travel

Includes the transportation of persons and things, except where other services

furnished in conjunction with transportation comprise the major portion of the charge,

or where the transportation is more appropriately included under subobject titles
indicating purposes.

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of expenses/expenditures usually

posted under this category:

e Central garage services

e Delivery services

e Freight, express, and other transportation charges not chargeable to a commodity
purchased

e Gasoline, diesel fuel, except when purchased for central garage

29 |e Leased or hired vehicles

e Reimbursement for private-car use

e Reimbursement for: meals, lodging,

e Conference expenses, bridge tolls,

e Train fares, bus fares, air fares, any

e Other authorized travel expense

e Transportation of prisoners and court wards

Following is a list of expenses/expenditures usually not posted under this category:

e Ambulance and armored car service. Special districts should post these types of
transactions to accounts such as “Services and Supplies, Professional and
Specialized Services.”

e Packing supplies. Special districts should post these types of transactions to
accounts such as “Services and Supplies, Office Expense. “Transportation of
indigents. Special districts should post these types of transactions to accounts
such as “Other Charges, Support and Care of Persons.”

Special District Uniform Accounting and Reporting Procedures Page 135

2024 Edition



Chapter 7: Classificationion and Terminology

Code

Accounts — Services and Supplies

29

Transportation and Travel (Continued)

Purchases for central garage vehicles. Special districts should post these types of
transactions to accounts such as “Services and Supplies, Maintenance —
Equipment.”.

Gasoline, diesel fuel, etc., used for off-highway purposes by road department or
central garage. Special districts should post these types of transactions to
accounts such as “Services and Supplies, Maintenance — Equipment.”

Natural gas, butane, fuel oil, etc. used for heating/cooling purposes. Special
districts should post these types of transactions to accounts such as “Services
and Supplies, Utilities.”

30
Bel

Utilities
The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of expenses/expenditures usually
posted under this category:

Coal, wood

Electricity

Heating and cooling supplies for buildings

Natural gas, butane, fuel oil

Sewage disposal

Street lighting on a local government entity’s property
Water

ow is a list of expenses/expenditures usually not posted under this category:
Refuse disposal. Special districts should post these types of transactions to
accounts such as “Services and Supplies, Household Expense/Expenditures.”
Telephone service. Special districts should post these types of transactions to
accounts such as “Services and Supplies, Communications.”

Gasoline, fuel for central garage vehicles. Special districts should post these
types of transactions to accounts such as “Services and Supplies, Maintenance
— Equipment.”

Fuel for department vehicles. Special districts should post these types of
transactions to accounts such as “Services and Supplies, Transportation and
Travel.”
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Other Charges

Code Accounts — Other Charges

Support and Care of Persons

Includes cash and other necessities furnished to indigents or others for whom a local
government entity has assumed burden of support.

Include:

e Allowances for incidentals to prisoners and court wards

e Contract nursing and housekeeping services for welfare recipients

e Groceries, clothing, and supplies for indigent persons

e Meals and lodging for indigent persons

Medical and dental supplies furnished to public assistance recipients
Payment for care in foster homes and private institutions

Payment of rents and utilities of indigent persons

Public assistance payments

Reimbursement to other governmental agencies for care and transportation of
prisoners

e Reimbursement to the State for care of county prisoners in State institutions
e Transportation of indigent persons

e Maternity and adoption expense

31

Do Not Include:

Support and care in county institutions; post to applicable subobjects

32 | Bond Redemption

Includes redemption of matured and called bonds.

Retirement of Other Long-Term Debt

33 Includes liquidation of long-term debt principal other than bonds, including lease
payments.

34 | Interest on Bonds

Includes interest and call premium payments on bonded debt.

35 | Interest on Other Long-Term Debt

Includes interest on long-term debt, other than bonds and leases.

Interest on Notes and Warrants

36 Includes interest payments on short-term debt, such as tax anticipation notes and
registered warrants.

Judgments and Damages

Includes expenses/expenditures in settlement of claims against the special district for
injury to persons and property.

37 Following is a list of expenses/expenditures usually not posted under this category:

e Damages paid in connection with rights of way acquisition. Special districts
should post these types of transactions to accounts such as “Other Charges,
Rights of Way” (See No. 38 for more information on “Rights of Way”).

e Damages paid in connection with land acquisition. Special districts should post
these types of transactions to the districts respective capital asset accounts.
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Code Accounts — Other Charges

Rights of Way

38 Includes amounts paid for the acquisition of easements where title is not acquired by
the special district, and for land acquired in fee title for road purposes.

Taxes and Assessments

39 Includes taxes and assessments levied against the special district by another
governmental agency.

Depreciation

40 Includes the recording of expiration in the service life of capital assets, other than
wasting assets attributable to wear and tear, deterioration, action of the physical
elements, inadequacy, and obsolescence.

Bad Debt

41 Includes amounts incurred in the current year because of the failure to collect
receivables. Expenses/Expenditures such as hospital contractual allowances are
usually posted to a contra revenue account.

Income Allocation

42 Includes allocation of net earnings to Deferred Compensation Liability account
(Deferred Compensation Fund only).

Contributions to Non-Special District Governmental Agency

Includes contributions, grants, subventions, etc., to non-special district governmental

agencies.

Include:

e Grants to recreation, soil, conservation, air pollution control, and other types of
districts

43 | Grants to State agencies for fish and game propagation and predatory animal
control

e Contributions to cities for lifeguard services

e Contributions to the U.S. Forest Service

e Disproportionate share

Do not Include:

e Grants to other county agencies such as internal service, enterprise funds; post to
“Other Financing Uses — Transfers Out.”

e Contributions to non-governmental agencies such as museums and zoos, local
celebrations and chambers of commerce, blood banks, PTA milk subsidies; post
to “Services and Supplies — Professional and Specialized Services.”

Interfund Expenditure

Include expenditures resulting from interfund transactions between governmental

fund types.

44 Include: o

e Communication

e Data processing

e Insurance

e Maintenance

e Professional and specialized services
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Code Accounts — Other Charges
Debt Issuance Cost
45 | Debt issuance cost, except any portion related to prepaid insurance costs, should be
recognized as an expense in the period incurred.
Lease Expenditures
Includes expenditures incurred in procuring the noncancelable right to use an
underlying asset (leases) belonging to another government or non-governmental
entity. For financial reporting purposes it is recommended that local governments
maintain separate subaccounts to record lease transactions. Examples of lease
transactions reported under this category includes (not-all inclusive):
e Leases — Short Term (lease contracts 12 months or less)
e lLeases— Land
e Leases — Building
46 |o Leases — Equipment
e Leases — Infrastructure
Following is a list of expenditures usually not posted under this category:
e Equipment Rentals. These types of expenditures should be posted to accounts
such as “Services and Supplies, Rent — Equipment.”
e Building Rentals. These types of expenditures should be posted to accounts such
as “Services and Supplies, Rent — Buildings.”
e Interest paid on leases. These type of expenditures should be posted to accounts
such as “Other Charges, Interest on Leases.”
Interest on Leases
Includes all expenditures pertaining to leases. For financial reporting purposes it is
recommended that local governments maintain separate subaccounts to record
lease interest expense/expenditures. Examples of transactions reported under this
category includes (not-all inclusive):
e Interest on Leases — Land
e Interest on Leases — Building
e Interest on Leases — Equipment
47 | Interest on Leases — Infrastructure
Following is a list of expenditures usually not posted under this category:
e Interest on bonds. These types of expenditures should be to accounts such as
“Other Charges, Interest on Bonds.”
e Interest on long-term debt. These types of expenditures should be posted to
accounts such as “Other Charges, Interest on Other Long-Term Debt.”
e Interest on notes and warrants. These types of expenditures should be posted to
accounts such as “Other Charges, Interest on Notes and Warrants.”
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Code Accounts — Other Charges

Public-Private and Public-Public Partnership (PPP) Expenditures

Includes expenditures incurred by the operator in obtaining (via contract) the control
of the right to operate or use a nonfinancial asset (the underlying PPP asset) from a
local government entity. An expenditure and other financing source should be

48 | reported in the period that the PPP asset is initially recognized and should be
measured as provided in the Long-Term Liabilities table in section 7.04, Chart of
Accounts — Balance Sheet (refer to Account #319). Subsequent governmental fund
PPP payments should be accounted for consistent with the principles for debt service
payments of long-term debt. For financial reporting purposes, it is recommended that
local government entities maintain separate subaccounts to record PPP transactions.
Interest on Public-Private and Public-Public Partnership (PPP) Assets

49 Includes all interest costs pertaining to PPPs. For financial reporting purposes, it is
recommended that local government entities maintain separate subaccounts to
record PPP interest costs.

Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangement (SBITA)
Expenditures

Includes expenditures incurred in obtaining (via contract) the control of the right to
use another party’s (a SBITA vendor’s) IT software, alone or in combination with
tangible capital assets (the underlying IT assets). An expenditure and other financing
5o | source should be reported in the period that the subscription asset is initially
recognized and should be measured as provided in the Long-Term Liabilities table in
section 7.04, Chart of Accounts — Balance Sheet (refer to Account #318).
Subsequent governmental fund subscription payments should be accounted for
consistent with the principles for debt service payments of long-term debt. For
financial reporting purposes, it is recommended that local government entities
maintain separate subaccounts to record SBITA subscription asset transactions.
Interest on Subscription-Based Information Technology (SBITA) Subscription
Assets

51 Includes all interest costs pertaining to SBITAs. For financial reporting purposes, it is
recommended that local government entities maintain separate subaccounts to
record SBITA interest costs.

Other Financing Uses

Code Accounts — Other Financing Uses

Special Iltems

60 | Includes significant transactions or other events within the control of management
that are either unusual in nature or infrequent in occurrence.

Extraordinary Items

61 Includes transactions or other events that are both unusual in nature and infrequent
in occurrence.

Appropriation for Contingencies

62 | A budgetary provision representing that portion of the financing requirements set
aside to meet unforeseen expenditure requirements.
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Code Accounts — Other Financing Uses

Transfers In/Out

63 | These are transfers that occur between funds within a government agency. For
example, bond money received in the general fund is transferred to the debt service
fund where used to pay debt service obligations.

Reciprocal interfund activity — interfund loans

These are loans that occur between funds within a government agency. For

64 | example, the general fund loans money to the capital projects fund to purchase a
building with the expectation that the loan will paid back within a reasonable time. If
the repayment of the loan is not paid within a reasonable time — it should be treated
as a transfer.

Reciprocal interfund activity — interfund services provided

These are exchanges of services where one fund provides services to another fund
65 | within the same government agency for an equal benefit in return. For example, the
internal services fund charges a fee to all other funds within the governmental
agency for providing risk management services.

Nonreciprocal interfund activity — interfund transfers

66 These are nonexchange type transfers that occur between funds of a government
agency. For example, the enterprise fund transfers a building to a governmental fund
without receiving nothing in return.

Nonreciprocal interfund activity — interfund reimbursements

These are nonexchange transactions where one fund incurs expenditures/expense
67 | which will be subsequently reimbursed by another fund within the same
governmental agency. For example, the general fund pays a utility bill for an
enterprise fund; the enterprise fund then reimburses the general fund at a later date.

Capital Assets

Code Accounts — Capital Assets

Land
Includes expenditures for the acquisition of land; however, land acquired for
infrastructure is optional.

Include:
e Appraisal, negotiation, title search, and surveying fees

e Cost of obtaining consents and payment for condemnation costs
e Filing costs
1o, Clearing land for use

e Cost of demolishing or relocating structures

Do Not Include:

e Purchase of right of way where title is not acquired by the county; post to “Other
Charges — Rights of Way.”

e Land acquired in fee title for infrastructure purposes if not treated as a capital
asset; post to “Other Charges — Rights-of-Way.”
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Code Accounts — Capital Assets

Buildings and Improvements
Includes expenditures for the acquisition of structures and improvements.

Include:

e Architect fees

e Costs of permits and licenses

e Condemnation costs

Insurance during construction

Costs of fixtures attached to and forming a permanent part of structures
Major alterations or improvements of existing structures
Non-removable leasehold improvements

Landscaping

Pipelines

Wells

Pavement

Sewers

Drains

Fences

Dams

72

Equipment

other than land, buildings and improvements, and infrastructure.

73 |Include:

e Freight or other carriage charges

e Sales, use, and transportation taxes
e Installation costs

Includes expenditures for the acquisition of physical property of a permanent nature,

Infrastructure

classified as buildings or building improvements.

Include:

Roads

Bridges

Tunnels

Drainage systems

Water and sewer systems
Dams

Lighting systems
Sidewalks, walkways, etc.

74

Includes expenditures for land and structures for networks and subsystems not
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Code Accounts — Capital Assets

Intangible Assets
Includes nonphysical assets that have a useful life of greater than one year

Include:

e Trademarks

e Internet domain names

e Noncompetition agreements
Order backlog

75 . )
e Licensing agreements
e Broadcast rights
e Trade secrets
e Computer software
e Literary works, etc.
Do Not Include
e |eases; post to “Capital Assets — Lease.”
Leases (Right To Use Nonfinancial Asset)
Includes costs incurred in procuring the noncancelable right to use an underlying
asset (leases) belonging to another government or non-governmental entity. For
financial reporting purposes it is recommended that local government entities
maintain separate subaccounts to record lease transactions.
Include:
e Leases — Short Term (lease contracts 12 months or less)
76 Leases — Land

Leases — Building
Leases — Equipment
Leases — Infrastructure

Do Not Include:

¢ Equipment Rentals; post to “Services and Supplies, Rent — Equipment.”
e Building Rentals; post to “Services and Supplies, Rent — Buildings.”

¢ Interest paid on leases; post to “Other Charges — Interest on Leases.”
Public-Private and Public-Public Partnership (PPP) Asset (Right To Use
Nonfinancial Asset — Operator)

Includes costs incurred by the operator in obtaining (via contract) the control of the
77 | right to operate or use a nonfinancial asset (the underlying PPP asset) from a local
government entity (e.g., infrastructure or other capital assets). Interest paid on PPP
assets should be posted to the PPP interest account and not to the PPP asset
account. For financial reporting purposes, it is recommended that local government
entities maintain separate subaccounts to record PPP asset transactions.
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Code Accounts — Capital Assets

Subscription-Based Information Technology (SBITA) Subscription Asset
Includes costs incurred in obtaining (via contract) the control of the right to use
another party’s (a SBITA vendor’s) IT software, alone or in combination with tangible
78 | capital assets (the underlying IT assets). Interest paid on SBITA assets should be
posted to the SBITA interest account and not to the SBIA asset account. For financial
reporting purposes, it is recommended that local government entities maintain
separate subaccounts to record SBITA subscription asset transactions.

Transfers Out

Code Accounts — Transfers Out

Transfers Out
81 Includes significant transactions or other events within the control of management
that are either unusual in nature or infrequent in occurrence.

Special Items

Code Accounts — Special ltems

Special Items

90 | Includes significant transactions or other events within the control of management
that are either unusual in nature or infrequent in occurrence.

Extraordinary Items

91 Includes transactions or other events that are both unusual in nature and infrequent
in occurrence.

Intrafund Transfers

Code Accounts — Intrafund Transfers

Intrafund Transfers

Intrafund transfers are included as appropriate increases/decreases to revenues or

expenditure accounts. These are optional transfers of costs between budget units in

the same governmental type fund. The account is used to distribute central staff

costs to operating departments for budgetary and internal operating statements

purposes. In all cases:

e the amounts should be supported by justifiable cost allocations or cost accounting
calculations; and

e the transfer may be shown as a single amount under (an increase for the
receiving budget unit, a decrease for the servicing unit) or as a decrease of a
single amount in expenditures for the servicing unit and an increase in each
appropriate expenditure account of the receiving unit.

100

Appropriation For Contingencies

Code Accounts — Appropriation For Contingencies
Appropriation for Contingencies

101 | A budgetary provision representing that portion of the financing requirements set
aside to meet unforeseen expenditure requirements.
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7.11 Expenditures/Expenses Accounts by Function (Program)

Common terminology and classifications should be used throughout the budgeting, accounting,
and financial reporting activities for special districts.

The list of accounts in the following charts are not exhaustive or all-inclusive. Where
appropriate, special districts should supplement these classifications with additional ones in light
of local circumstances. Other accounts may be required in the preparation of financial
statements.

Additional examples of expenditure and expense accounts by function (program) are also
available for special districts to review in Appendix D, App. D01, Expense Accounts by District

Type.

Organizations and governments, such as dependent special districts that are business
component units of a county, may choose to coordinate with their county in order to facilitate
accurate representation on the county reports.

Expenses/Expenditures

Accounts are numbered in sequence for illustrative and reference purposes only.

Expense and Expenditure by Function (Program)

General

Code Accounts

Legislative and Administrative
Finance

Counsel

Personnel

Elections

Communication

Property Management

Plant Acquisition

Promotion

OO N[OOI |W|IN|F

Public Protection

Code Accounts

10 | Judicial

11 | Police Protection

12 | Detention and Correction

13 | Fire Protection

14 | Flood Control and Soil and Water Conservation
15 | Protection Inspection

16 | Other Protection
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Public Ways and Facilities

Code Accounts
20 | Public Ways
21 | Transportation Terminals
22 | Transportation Systems
23 | Parking Facilities
Health and Sanitation
Code Accounts
30 Health
31 | Hospital Care
32 | California Children’s Services
33 | Sanitation
Public Assistance
Code Accounts
40 | Administration
41 | Aid Programs
42 General Relief
43 | Care of Court Wards
44 | Veterans’ Services
45 | Other Assistance
Education
Code Accounts
50 | School Administration
51 | Library Services
52 | Agricultural Education
53 | Other Education
Recreation and Cultural Services
Code Accounts
60 | Recreation Facilities
61 | Cultural Services
62 | Veterans Memorial Buildings
63 | Small Craft Harbors
Debt Service
Code Accounts
70 | Retirement of Long-Term Debt
71 | Interest on Long-Term Debt
72 | Interest on Notes and Warrants
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Revenues
7.12 Revenue Classification

As discussed in GASB Cod. Sec. 1800.131 (Section 1800, paragraph .131), the most significant
aspect of governmental fund accounting is that the operations measurement focus is on
sources, uses, and balances of fund financial resources. In that context, the term revenues
mean increases in (sources of) fund financial resources other than through interfund transfers
and debt issue proceeds and redemptions of demand bonds (refer to GASB Cod. Sec. D30
(Section D30) for additional information on demand bonds).

Revenue accounts therefore reflect the changes in the financial condition of a governmental
fund that occurs during a specified time period, except for those resulting from transfers and
general long-term debt issuance and issuance of special assessment bonds, refunding bonds,
and certain demand bonds.

7.13 Program Revenues

According to GASB Cod. Sec. 1800.143 (Section 1800, paragraph .143), program revenues are
directly linked to the functions/programs or from parties outside the reporting government’s
taxpayers or citizenry, as a whole; they reduce the net cost of the function to be financed from
the government’s general revenues. The statement of activities should separately report three
categories of program revenues:

e Charges for services
e Program-specific operating grants and contributions
e Program-specific capital grants and contributions

Charges for services may include a variety of program-related fees, such as garbage collection
fees, museum admissions, ball field permits, and parking fines. Most grants and contributions
include aid for specific functions and programs, such as educational aid, but may also include
amounts provided by not-for-profit organizations and other nongovernmental entities. Grants
and contributions for operating purposes and capital projects are identified separately. Multi-
purpose grants, if program-specific, should be reported as program revenue. If not program-
specific, they should be reported as general revenue.

To identify the function to which a program revenue pertains, use the following determining
factor(s):

e Charges for services — It is the function that generates the revenue.
e Grants and contributions — It is the function to which the revenues are restricted.
e Other revenues — It is the function that generates the revenue.

Earnings on endowments or permanent fund investments should be reported as program
revenues if restricted to a specific program, but otherwise should be reported separately in the
same manner as general revenues.
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7.14 General Revenues

As discussed in GASB Cod. Sec. 1800.144 (Section 1800, paragraph .144), all revenues are
deemed to be general revenues unless they are required to be reported as program revenues.
All taxes, even those that are levied for a specific purpose, are general revenues and should be
reported by type of tax. Examples of these taxes include sales tax, property tax, franchise tax,
and income tax.

Revenues such as interest, grants, contributions, or charges for service that are non-restrictive
in nature do not qualify as program revenues and should be treated as general revenue.
Examples include unrestricted aid from other governments and grants that are provided for
general support and are not tied to particular program. Investment earnings (unrestricted) are
typically reported as general revenues.

7.15 Extraordinary and Special Iltems

As described in GASB Cod. Sec. 1800.146 (Section 1800, paragraph .146), extraordinary items
are transactions or other events that are both unusual in nature and infrequent in occurrence.
They should be reported separately at the bottom of the statement of activities.

Special items are significant transactions or other events within the control of the local
government and are either unusual in nature or infrequent in occurrence, as discussed in
GASB Cod. Sec. 1800.147 (Section 1800, paragraph .147). A special item might be the gain or
loss on the sale of a capital asset for a local government that does not commonly sell capital
assets. These special items should be reported separately in the statement of activities, before
extraordinary items, if any. Local governments should disclose in the notes to the financial
statements any significant transactions or other events that are either unusual or infrequent, but
not within the control of management.

The following criteria and definitions for special and extraordinary items are discussed in GASB
Cod. Sec. 1800.149 (Section 1800, paragraph .149):

Special and extraordinary items are events and transactions that are distinguished either by
their unusual nature or by the infrequency of their occurrence, or both. The following criteria
should be met to classify an event or transaction as either unusual in nature or infrequent in
occurrence:

e Unusual nature: the underlying event or transaction should possess a high degree of
abnormality and be of a type clearly unrelated to, or only incidentally related to, the
ordinary and typical activities of the government, taking into account the environment in
which the government operates.

¢ Infrequency of occurrence: the underlying event or transaction should be of a type that
would not reasonably be expected to recur in the foreseeable future, taking into account
the environment in which the government operates.
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Certain gains and losses should not be reported as extraordinary items because they are usual
in nature or have an expected recurrence due to routine and continuing operations. Some
examples of these types of gains and losses include, but are not limited to:

a) write-down/write-off of receivables, inventories, equipment leased to others, or intangible
assets;

b) gains or losses from exchange or translation of foreign currencies;

c) other gains or losses from the sale or abandonment of capital assets used in operations;

d) effects of a strike; or

e) adjustments of accruals on long-term contracts.

In the rare situation where an event or transaction clearly meets the criteria for both unusual
nature and infrequency of occurrence as discussed earlier in this section, the event or
transaction would give rise to an extraordinary gain or loss that includes one or more of the
examples in the preceding list.

Gains or losses in these cases should be included in the extraordinary item if they are a direct
result of a major casualty (e.g., an earthquake) or a prohibition under a newly enacted law or
regulation that clearly meets the criteria for both unusual nature and infrequency of occurrence
as discussed earlier in this section. However, any portion of such losses that would have
resulted from a valuation of assets on a going-concern basis should not be included in the
extraordinary items.

Special and extraordinary items are set apart because they are not a part of the usual inflows
and outflows of the fiscal year. Showing them separately helps the users and preparers of
financial statements assess whether the local government is covering its routine costs with
routine resources, or if it is resorting to other means.

GASB does not consider outflows of resources incurred in response to the coronavirus disease
— due to for example, actions taken to slow the spread of the virus, adjustments in providing
services, or the implementation of stay-at-home orders — to be special and extraordinary items
and should not be reported as such.

7.16 Operating vs. Nonoperating Revenues

The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position (proprietary funds)
should distinguish between operating and nonoperating revenues and expenses. A local
government should establish policies that define operating revenues and expenses, disclose it
in the summary of significant accounting policies, and use these policies consistently from one
financial reporting period to another. When defining operating revenues and expenses, local
governments should determine how these transactions would be categorized for the purposes of
preparing a statement of cash flows.

Operating Revenues: revenues appropriate to the local governments’ primary activity other than
capital and related financing activities, noncapital financing activities or investing activities. This
includes program revenue, nonexchange revenues, and exchange-like revenues.
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Operating Expenses: expenses a local government incurs related to the revenue from its
primary activities. These costs include administrative expenses such as office supplies and
salaries for administrative personnel. Commissions and advertising are examples of sales
expenses related to operations. Operating expenses also include program expenses, rent, and
utilities.

Nonoperating Revenues: income resulting from events or transactions that is clearly distinct
from the local governments’ primary activity, including capital and related financing activities,
noncapital financing activities, or investing activities.

Nonoperating Expenses: expenses a local government incurs outside of its primary activity,
such as interest on capital financing.

7.17 Reporting Revenue

As discussed in GASB Cod. Sec. 1800.132 (Section 1800, paragraph .132), the primary
classification for governmental fund revenues is by fund and source. Some major revenue
source classifications include taxes, licenses and permits, intergovernmental revenues, charges
for services, fines and forfeits, and miscellaneous.

Governmental units often classify revenues by organizational units, which include departments,
bureaus and divisions, depending on the organization structure. Proprietary fund revenues
should be reported by major source. Activity, function, and program codes are often better
suited to source classifications in governmental accounting. However, reporting of revenues by
object may serve other needs of the local government. Each local government should evaluate
its own reporting needs when establishing its coding structure.

7.18 Chart of Accounts—Revenues

Common terminology and classifications should be used throughout the budgeting, accounting,
and financial reporting activities for special districts. The list of accounts in the following charts
are not exhaustive or all-inclusive.

Where appropriate, special districts should supplement these classifications with additional ones
in light of local circumstances. Other accounts may be required in the preparation of financial
statements.

Special districts may also find it beneficial to organize their revenue accounts by function
(program), especially if a district is performing multiple functions. While not all-inclusive, an
illustrative example of a list of revenue accounts by function is available for special districts to
review in Appendix D, App. D02 Chart of Programs (Functions) Revenues.

Organizations and governments such as dependent special districts that are business
component units of a county may choose to coordinate with their county in order to facilitate
accurate representation on the county reports.
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Accounts are numbered in sequence for illustrative and reference purposes only.

Revenue Chart of Accounts (by Object)

Taxes
Code Accounts - Taxes
1 Sales and Use Taxes
2 Taxes and Assessments
3 Other Taxes
Licenses, Permits, and Franchises
Code Accounts — Licenses, Permits, and Franchises
10 Animal Licenses
11 Business Licenses
12 Construction Permits
13 Road Privileges and Permits
14 Zoning Permits Administration
15 Franchises
16 Other Licenses and Permits
Fines, Forfeitures, and Penalties
Code Accounts — Fines, Forfeitures, and Penalties
20 Vehicle Code Fines
21 Other Court Fines
22 Forfeitures and Penalties
23 Penalties and Costs on Delinquent Taxes

Revenue From Use of Money and Property

Code Accounts — Revenue From Use of Money and Property
30 Investment Income
31 Rents and Concessions
32 Royalties
33 Lease Revenues
34 Public-Private and Public-Public Partnership (PPP) Revenues

Intergovernmental Revenues

Code Accounts — Intergovernmental Revenues
40 State — Aviation
41 State — Highway Users Tax
42 State — Motor Vehicle In-Lieu Tax
43 Other State — In-Lieu Tax
44 State — Public Assistance Administration
45 State — Public Assistance Program
46 State — Health Administration
47 State — California Children Services
48 State — Cerebral Palsy
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Code Accounts — Intergovernmental Revenues
49 State — Mental Health
50 State — Tuberculosis Control
51 Other State — Health
52 State — Agriculture
53 State — Civil Defense
54 State — Construction
55 State — Corrections
56 State — County Fairs
57 State — Disaster Relief
58 State — Veterans’ Affairs
59 State — Homeowners’ Property Tax Relief
60 State — Proposition 172 Public Safety Funds
61 State — Citizens Option for Public Safety (COPS)
62 State — Other
63 Federal — Public Assistance Administration
64 Federal — Public Assistance Programs
65 Federal — Health Administration
66 Federal — Construction
67 Federal — Disaster Relief
68 Federal — Forest Reserve Revenue
69 Federal — Grazing Fees
70 Federal — In-Lieu Taxes
71 Federal — Other
72 Other — In-Lieu Revenues
73 Other — Governmental Agencies

Charges For Services

Code Accounts — Charges For Services
80 Assessment and Tax Collection Fees
81 Auditing and Accounting Fees
82 Communication Services
83 Election Services
84 Legal Services
85 Personnel Services
86 Planning and Engineering Services
87 Purchasing Fees
88 Agricultural Services
89 Civil Process Services
90 Estate Fees
91 Humane Services
92 Law Enforcement Services
93 Recording Fees
94 Road and Street Services
95 Health Fees
96 Mental Health Services
97 California Children’s Services
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Code Accounts — Charges For Services
98 Educational Services
99 Library Services
100 Park and Recreation Services
101 Airport Services
102 Electric Services
103 Gas Services
104 Harbor and Port Services
105 Hospital Services
106 Sewer Services
107 Transit Services
108 Water Services
109 Interfund Revenue
Miscellaneous Revenues
Code Accounts — Miscellaneous Revenues
110 Other Revenues
111 Tobacco Settlement
112 Miscellaneous
Other Financing Sources
Code Accounts — Other Financing Sources
113 Sale of Capital Assets
114 Transfers-In
115 Long-Term Debt Proceeds
116 Leases (Lessee)
117 Public-Private and Public-Public Partnership (PPP) Asset (Operator)
118 Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangement (SBITA) Subscription
Asset
119 Other

Contributions, Special and Extraordinary Iltems

Code Accounts — Contributions, Special and Extraordinary ltems
119 Contributions
120 Extraordinary ltems
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7.19 Explanation of Revenue Objects (Accounts)

Following are the account titles and the suggested use of each account. As previously noted, a
special district should take into account their purpose and statutory requirements when
designing their chart of accounts. Accounts are numbered in sequence for illustrative and
reference purposes only.

Explanation of Revenues by Object (Account)

Taxes

Code Revenue Objects (Accounts) — Taxes

Sales and Use Taxes

Includes the net amount received from the levy of a sales and use tax under the

1 Bradley-Burns Uniform Sales Tax Law or other statutory provisions. An example of
this type if revenue would be sales and use tax received under the Transportation
Act of 1971.

Taxes and Assessments
Includes revenues from taxes and assessments.

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of tax revenues that might be
posted under this category:

Secured/unsecured property taxes

Voter approved takes

Pass-through property takes

Property assessments

Special assessments

Special taxes (for e.g., non-ad valorem taxes)
Penalties

Cost of delinquent taxes

Assessments

Y4 cent sales tax

Do not include revenues intergovernmental in lieu of taxes. These revenues should
be posted generally under the category of “Intergovernmental Revenues.”

Other Taxes

Includes special district levied taxes not included elsewhere.

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of tax revenues usually posted
3 under any tax revenue category:

e Raw material processing taxes

e Property transfer taxes

e Timber yield taxes

e Document charged by assessor, tax collector, and auditor
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Licenses, Permits, and Franchises

Code Revenue Objects (Accounts) — Licenses, Permits, and Franchises

Animal Licenses

Examples include dog licenses.

Do not include:

10 | e Kennel licenses — these revenues post to “Licenses, Permits, and Franchises —

Business Licenses;” or

e Impounding fees, placement fees, boarding fees, vaccination fees, and sale of
animal carcasses — these revenues should be posted to accounts such as
“Charges for Services — Human Services.”

Business Licenses

Include revenues from the licensing of business, occupations, and amusements.

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under

this category:

e Taxilicenses

e Private investigator licenses

e Second-hand store licenses

e Food market licenses

11 |° Carnival licenses

e Food processing health permits

e Milk and dairy health permits

e Kennel licenses

e Fire extinguisher serviceman permits

e Motion picture operator permits

e Pest control business registration

e Other business licenses or permits issued primarily for regulation

Do not include services provided that are not primarily regulatory. These revenues

should be posted to the accounts such as “Charges For Services.”
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Code Revenue Objects (Accounts) — Licenses, Permits, and Franchises

Construction Permits
Includes revenues from different types of construction permits.

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under
this category:

e Building permits

e Electrical permits

e Plumbing permits

e Sidewalk, curb and gutter permits

e Air pollution construction permits

e Septic tank dumping or permits

12
Following is a list of revenues that are usually not recorded under this category:

e Plan or map checking services when not included above. These types of
revenues should be posted to accounts such as “Charges for Services —
Planning and Engineering Services.”

e Road excavation permits. These types of revenues should be posted to accounts
such as “Licenses, Permits, and Franchises — Road Privileges and Permits.”

e Permit for breaking curb and gutter. These types of revenues should be posted to
accounts such as “Licenses, Permits, and Franchises — Road Privileges and
Permits.”

e Air pollution variance permits. These types of revenues should be posted to
accounts such as “Licenses, Permits, and Franchises — Other Licenses and
Permits.”

Road Privileges and Permits

Includes revenue from the issuance of permits for the special use or obstruction of

special district roads.

The list below is not-all inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under
13 | this category:

e Transportation permits (for movement of unusual loads on special districts roads)
Excavation permits

Permits for mains laid

Road obstruction permits

Permits for breaking curb and gutter
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Code Revenue Objects (Accounts) — Licenses, Permits, and Franchises
Zoning Permits Administration

Includes revenue from the issuance of permits to use property other than as provided
in the zoning ordinance.

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under
this category:

14 |* Zone changes

e Zone exceptions and special permits

e Cemetery permits

e Agricultural preserve applications fees

Do not include revenues such as subdivision fees. These types of revenues should
be posted to accounts such as “Charges For Services — Planning and Engineering
Services.”

Franchises

Includes revenue from persons, firms and corporations for the continuing use of
property, usually involving the elements of regulation and monopoly.

The list below is not all inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under

this category:

15 | ® Bids for franchises awarded.

e Franchises based on gross receipts.

e Franchises based on number of miles of pipeline, electrical transmission line,
street railway, etc.

Do not include permits for attaching privately owned pipelines to special district
bridges. These types of revenues should be posted to accounts such as “Licenses,
Permits, and Franchises — Other Licenses and Permits.”
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Code Revenue Objects (Accounts) — Licenses, Permits, and Franchises

Other Licenses and Permits
Includes revenue from all licenses and permits not included elsewhere.

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under
this category:

e Bicycle licenses

e Gun permits

e Fire permits

Air pollution variance permits

Oil well permits

Burial permits

Other non-business licenses and permits that are primarily regulatory
Permits for attaching privately owned pipelines to bridges
Pleasure-riding permit fees

Mobile home use permit fees

Permit fees for explosives

16

Following is a list of revenues that are usually not recoded under this category:

e Air pollution construction permits. These types of revenues should be posted to
accounts such as “Licenses, Permits, and Franchises — Construction Permits.”

e Other licenses and permits for which the payment is primarily rent or a charge for
current service. These types of revenues should be posted to the appropriate
accounts, such as “Revenue from Use of Money and Property” or “Charges for
Services.”

Fines, Forfeitures, and Penalties

Code Revenue Objects (Accounts) — Fines, Forfeitures, and Penalties
Vehicle Code Fines

Includes revenue from court fines and forfeiture of bail for violations of the State
Vehicle Code.

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under
this category:

e Special districts share of State vehicle code fines, including the county’s share
20 from arrests made in cities.

e “Driving under the Influence” fines.

Following is a list of revenues usually not recorded under this category:

¢ Violations of traffic ordinances. These types of revenues should be posted to
accounts such as “Fines, Forfeitures, and Penalties — Other Court Fines.”

¢ Fines, penalties and court costs imposed as a condition of probation. These types
of revenues should be posted to accounts such as “Fines, Forfeitures, and
Penalties.”
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Code Revenue Objects (Accounts) — Fines, Forfeitures, and Penalties
Other Court Fines

Includes revenue from court fines and forfeitures of bail for violations of other than
the State vehicle code.

The list below is not all inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under

this category:

¢ Violations of special district traffic ordinances

o1 |°® Violations of other special district ordinances

¢ Violations of the State’s fish and game code

¢ Violations of any State law other than the vehicle code

¢ Fines for possession of controlled substances

e Littering fines

e Unlawful burning fines

e The special districts share of fines, other than State vehicle code fines, resulting
from arrests by city officers

e Fees for attending traffic school

Forfeitures and Penalties

Includes revenues forfeitures and penalties other than those included under “Fines,

Forfeitures, and Penalties, Penalties and Costs on Delinquent Taxes.”

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under
this category:

e Judgments and damages.

22 |« The sale of vehicles used in commission of a crime.

e Surcharge and penalty assessment on parking, non-parking, and criminal fines.

Following is a list of revenues that are usually not recorded under this category:

e Penalties assessed for failure to secure business license. These revenues should
be posted to accounts such as “Licenses and Permits — Business Licenses.”

e The State’s share of penalty assessments. Since these revenues are owed to the
State, they generally should be treated as liabilities by special districts.

Penalties and Costs on Delinquent Taxes

Includes all amounts apportioned as a result of penalties and costs charged against

property owners for tax delinquency, exclusive of such amounts required to be

apportioned as taxes.

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under

23 this category:

e 10% penalties for late payment of first and second installments of secured taxes.

e 10% penalty for late payment of unsecured tax.

e 310 charge on each item of real estate unpaid as of April 10th for publishing
delinquent roll.

e 315 fee for seizure and sale of unsecured personal property.

e 1.5% redemption penalty on delinquent taxes charged monthly.

e Advertising of the tax-defaulted land sales.

Revenue From Use of Money and Property
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Code | Revenue Objects (Accounts) — Revenue From Use of Money and Property

Investment Income
Investment earnings on bank deposits and other forms of investment.

30 The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under
this category:

e Interest

e Dividends

e Changes in fair value of investments

Rents and Concessions

Includes revenue from the use of land, buildings, or equipment belonging to a special
district. The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes of revenues usually posted under
this category:

e Special district parking facilities

Parking meter and vending machine collections

Public telephones

Pole attachment charges

Cafeteria and cigar stand

Concession payments, other than for recreation purposes

Tenant farmers

Other rental income (including short-term rentals) that do not contain any leasing
components.

31

Rental of voting booths are usually not recorded under this category. These
revenues should be posted to accounts such as “Charges For Services — Election
Services.”

Lease revenues should not be recorded in this category. These revenues should be
accounts such as “Revenues From Use of Money and Property — Leases
Revenues.”

Royalties

Includes revenues from the use, operation, or development of property rights
belonging to the special district, other than public utility use.

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under

this category:

32 |+ Oiland gas royalties.

e Revenue from rights for removal of oil, gas, and other natural resources from
special district property.

Do not include revenues from sales of rock, gravel and other raw materials under this
category. These revenues should be posted to accounts such as “Miscellaneous
Revenues — Other Sales.”

Special District Uniform Accounting and Reporting Procedures Page 160
2024 Edition



Chapter 7: Classificationion and Terminology

Code | Revenue Objects (Accounts) — Revenue From Use of Money and Property

Leases Revenues

Includes revenues recognized by a special district (lessor) in a systematic and

rational manner over the term of a lease arrangement. The list below is not all

inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under this category:

¢ A public utility district leases generators to a county exclusively for power
generating purposes under a 30-year lease agreement.

e A community services district leases land to a private golf course under a 10-year
lease agreement.

e An agricultural district leases land to farmers exclusively for farming purposes
under a 50-year lease agreement.

33

Do not include short-term rental income under this category. These revenues should
be posted to accounts such as “Rents and Concessions.”

Public-Private and Public-Public Partnership (PPP) Revenues

Includes revenues recognized by a local government entity (transferor) in a
systematic and rational manner over the PPP term. The list below is not all inclusive;
34 |itincludes types of revenues usually posted under this category:

¢ Installment payments

e Fixed/variable payments

e Amounts received under residual guarantees (that are not fixed in substance)

Intergovernmental Revenues

Note: State and federal revenues for construction of facilities are usually posted to appropriate
State construction accounts, rather than accounts indicating the purpose of the construction. For
example, State revenue for the construction of mental facilities is posted to the State
Construction account, not to the Mental Health Facilities account.

Code Revenue Objects (Accounts) — Intergovernmental Revenues

40 State — Aviation

41 | State — Highway Users Tax

42 State — Motor Vehicle In-Lieu Tax

Other State — In-Lieu Tax

43 | Includes any apportionments to the special district of State in-lieu taxes not included
elsewhere. An example would be payments received from the State from rental of
lands held for State highway purposes.

State — Public Assistance Administration
Includes amounts received from the State as reimbursement for administrative costs

44 of special district welfare activities.

Do not include assistance payments, as distinguished from administrative
reimbursements. These types of revenues should be posted to accounts such as
“Intergovernmental Revenues — State-Public Assistance Programs.”

State — Public Assistance Program

45 | Includes amounts received from the State for families with dependent children,
adoptions, potentially self-supporting blind individuals, and for other direct assistance
programs.
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Code

Revenue Objects (Accounts) — Intergovernmental Revenues

46

State — Health Administration

Includes amounts received from the State for the administration of the special
district’s health program. An example would be payment (such as COVID-19
payments) for partial support of the special district health department to provide an
increased level of service.

47

State — California Children Services

48

State — Cerebral Palsy

49

State — Mental Health

50

State — Tuberculosis Control

51

Other State — Health
Includes any State revenue for health purposes not included elsewhere.

The list below, not all-inclusive, includes types of revenues usually posted under this
category:

Tumor registry

Mosquito/gnat control

Medically Indigent Adult Program

AB 8 Health Subvention

e COVID-19 grants or payments

52

State — Agriculture

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under
this category:

e Partial reimbursement of the salary of the agricultural commissioner

e The unclaimed agricultural gas refunds

53

State — Civil Defense

Do not include State revenues for disaster resulting from fire, flood, etc. Special
districts should post these types of revenues to accounts such as “Intergovernmental
Revenues — State-Disaster Relief.”

54

State — Construction

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under
this category:

e State revenue for construction of hospitals, juvenile halls and camps, etc.

e State revenue for construction of civil defense facilities

e State revenue for railroad crossings

Do not include amounts received for restoration of roads and other facilities damaged
by disasters. These revenues should be post to accounts such as “Intergovernmental
Revenues State-Disaster Relief.”

55

State — Corrections
Include revenues such as State payments received for operation of juvenile halls and
camps.

56

State — County Fairs

57

State — Disaster Relief

Includes amounts received from the State for emergency relief from disasters and
restoration of damaged roads and other facilities. Examples include funds received as
result of fires, earthquakes, COVID-19, etc.

58

State — Veteran’s Affairs
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Code Revenue Objects (Accounts) — Intergovernmental Revenues

State — Homeowners’ Property Tax Relief

59 Includes amounts received from the State to compensate the special district for
revenues lost because of the Homeowners’ Property Tax Exemption.

60 | State — Proposition 172 Public Safety Funds

61 | State — Citizens Option for Public Safety (COPS)
State — Other
Includes amounts received from the State for any purpose not included elsewhere.
The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under
this category:
e SB 90 reimbursements
e Tax-defaulted land rentals

62 ) : . , .
e State revenues for juvenile hall school operation and special milk program
e Cigarette taxes
e State subventions for special district libraries
e State subventions based on recoveries from absent parents
e Payments for tax losses because of open space assessments (Williamson Act)
e Off-highway motor vehicle license fees
e Cotton bale in-lieu taxes
Federal — Public Assistance Administration

63 | Includes amounts received from the federal government as reimbursement for
administrative costs of special district welfare activities.
Federal — Public Assistance Programs

64 | Includes amounts (e.g. COVID-19 payments) received from the federal government
for families with dependent children, and other direct assistance programs.
Federal — Health Administration

65 | Includes amounts received from the federal government for administration of the
special district’s health program.

66 | Federal — Construction
Includes amounts received from the federal government for construction projects.
Federal — Disaster Relief

67 Includes amounts received from the federal government for emergency relief from
disaster. Examples include funds received as result of fires, earthquakes, COVID-19,
etc.
Federal — Forest Reserve Revenue
Includes amounts received from the federal government as the special districts share

68 | of revenues of national forest areas.
Do not include rental payments for grazing lands. These revenues should be posted
to accounts such as “Intergovernmental Revenues — Federal-Grazing Fees.”
Federal — Grazing Fees

69 Includes amounts received from the federal government as the special district’s share
of revenues from the rental of grazing lands.

70 | Federal —In-Lieu Taxes
Includes items such as payments from federal housing authorities.
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Code

Revenue Objects (Accounts) — Intergovernmental Revenues

71

Federal — Other
Includes all aid from the federal government not included elsewhere.

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under

this category:

e Flood control land receipts

e Funds for the purchase of surplus equipment for civil defense

¢ Research grants

e Subventions for maternal and child health, seasonal and farm workers, chronic
illness and aging

e Grants received from the California Council on Criminal Justice

e Federal manpower program funds for which a special district is responsible

¢ Federal health grants (such as COVID-19 related grants)

e Child-support enforcement incentives

72

Other — In-Lieu Revenues

Includes amounts received from other agencies as payments in lieu of taxes and
assessments. An example would be payments received from public housing
authorities, other than federal authorities.

Do not include payments by housing authorities. These revenues should be posted to
accounts such as “Intergovernmental Revenues — Federal In-Lieu Taxes.”

73

Other — Governmental Agencies

Includes amounts, other than in-lieu revenues, received from other governmental
agencies; for example, revenues received from redevelopment successor agencies.
Revenues from redevelopment successor agencies usually come from the following
sources:

e Excess low and moderate-income housing funds

e Excess funds, other than housing funds

e Sales of capital assets

e Reserve Balances

Charges For Services

Code Revenue Objects (Accounts) — Charges For Services

Assessment and Tax Collection Fees
Includes revenues from tax segregation and collection of taxes and special
assessments of other governmental agencies.

80 The items in the list below are types of revenues usually posted under this category:
e The sale of copies of assessment roll
e The sale of indices
e Documents fees charged by assessor, tax collector and auditor
Auditing and Accounting Fees

81 Included in this category are revenues received by providing accounting and/or
system services to other government agencies or funds.
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Code Revenue Objects (Accounts) — Charges For Services

Communication Services

g2 | The items in the list below are types of revenues usually posted under this category:

e Services provided under contract to other governmental agencies

e Telephone service provided to other governmental agencies

Election Services

The items in the list below are types of revenues usually posted under this category:

e Services provided to governmental agencies under contract

e Rental of vending booths

e Charges for consolidating elections

Legal Services

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under

84 | this category:

e Legal services provided in connection with the public administrator’s duties.

e Legal services provided for other governmental agencies

Personnel Services

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under

85 | this category:

e Services provided under contract to other governmental agencies

e Examination fees

Planning and Engineering Services

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types for revenues usually posted under

this category:

e Subdivision fees

e Planning services provided to other governments and private entities under
contract

86 | e Engineering services provided to other governments and private entities under

contract

Legal advertising required by planning ordinance

Traffic surveys

The sale of plans and specifications

The sale of blueprints

Plan or map-checking fees, when not an integral part of permits listed below

83

Do not include revenues from building permits, electrical permits, plumbing permits,
etc. for construction or alteration. These revenues should be posted to accounts such
as “Licenses and Permits — Construction Permits.”

Purchasing Fees

87 Includes revenue from commissions from the purchase of materials and supplies for
other governmental agencies.
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Code Revenue Objects (Accounts) — Charges For Services

Agricultural Services

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues that are usually

posted under this category:

e Enforcement of the plan pest-quarantine program for the other governments or

88 private entities

¢ Rodent abatement

e Noxious weed abatement

e Quarantine inspection fees

e Standardization inspection fees for fruits, vegetables, milk, eggs, poultry, honey,
aviaries, and nurseries

Civil Process Services

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under

this category:

g9 |e* Fees and mileage for serving or executing notices, writs, levies of attachment,
warrants or orders

e Posting advertising or conducting sales of real or personal property

e Subpoenaing witnesses

e Summoning trial juries and garnishment fees

Estate Fees

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under

90 | this category:

e Statutory and extraordinary fees allowed the public administrator for administering
estates; and

e Handling charges for deposits by the public administrator.

Humane Services

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under

this category:

Veterinarian service provided to city zoos

Placement fees

Boarding fees

Vaccination fees

Impounding fees

e Sale of animal carcasses

Law Enforcement Services

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under

this category:

e Services provided under contract to governmental agencies

e Transporting prisoners

91

92

Do not include revenues such as “Care of Prisoners.” These revenues should be
posted to accounts such as “Charges For Services — Institutional Care and
Services.”
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Recording Fees
Includes recording and related fees.

93 | The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under

this category:

e Recording services

e Certified copies

Road and Street Services

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under

this category:

94 |e* Street maintenance, construction, striping curb and gutter, and traffic signal work
provided under contract to other governmental agencies.

e Street side tree services provided under contract to other governmental agencies.

e Cooperative road projects with adjoining property owners.

e Payments for extraordinary maintenance of roads.

Health Fees

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under

this category:

e Services provided under contract to other governmental agencies

Search of health records

Preparation of medical reports

Clinic fees, other than hospital

Vaccination charge

95

Do not include revenues such as “Certified Copies of Birth and Death Certificates” —

special districts should post these types of revenues to accounts such as “Charges

For Services — Recording Fees.”

96 | Mental Health Services

Includes reimbursement for services provided under Mental Health program.

g7 | California Children’s Services

Includes reimbursement for services provided under California Children’s program.

Educational Services

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under

this category:

e Reimbursement of the cost of the U.S. Veterans’ Administration medical training
program.

e Training nurses, peace officers, social workers, etc.

98 | e Other services provided under contract to other governmental agencies.

Following is a list of revenues usually not recorded under this category.

e Library services. These revenues should be posted to accounts such as “Charges
for Services — Library Services.”

e Museum exhibit admission fees and lending service charges. These revenues
should be posted to accounts such as “Charges For Services — Park and
Recreation Fees.”
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99

Library Services
The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under
this category:

Book fines (including fines related lost and damaged books)

Lost or damaged books

Reservation fees

Services provided under contract to other governmental agencies
Film or other special materials usage fees

100

Do

Park and Recreation Services
Includes revenue from the use of special district recreational facilities.

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under
this category:

Boat usage fees

Park and recreation services to governmental agencies
Concessions for a district’s recreation facilities

Golf and equipment usage fees

Swimming pool fees

Archery fees

Swimming pool charges to organizations

Art craft charges and sale of craft material

Lighting charges

Picnic area usage fees

Club house usage fees

Use of small craft harbor facilities

Camping fees

Museum exhibit admission fees and lending service charges
Parking fees from recreational facilities

Reimbursement for lost or damaged recreational equipment
Other recreational fees

not include revenue from fairs, including off-season rentals. These revenues

should be posted to accounts such as “Revenue From Investment and Property —
Rents and Concessions.”
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Airport Services
Includes revenue for services that are not included elsewhere.

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues that maybe posted
under this this category:

e Aircraft landing fees

e Aircraft flight plan fees

101 |« Fuel flowage fees

e Landing fees

e Gate and ramp fees

e Passenger facility charges

Do not include revenues such hangar rentals and sales from concessions under this
category. These types of revenues should be recorded under “Rents and
Concessions” or “Other Sales Revenue.”

Electricity Services

Includes revenue related to electricity sales.

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues that maybe posted
102 under this category:

Electricity sales: residential, commercial industrial, and rural.

Sales to other public authorities, and utilities for resale.

Customer installations.

Other electricity services revenues services (not specifically identified under this
category).

Gas Services

Includes revenue related to gas sales.

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes revenues that maybe posted under this
103 | category:

e Gas sales: residential, commercial, industrial, and rural.

e Sales to other public authorities and utilities for resale.

e Customer installations.

e Other gas services related revenues (not specifically identified in this category).
Harbor and Port Services

Includes revenue derived from harbor and port activities.

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues that maybe posted

under this category:

104 |*® Marines sales and services: dockage, wharfage, storage, demurrage and space
rental, loading and unloading, service charges (bulk loader and cargo), and
stevedoring.

e Other marine sales and services (not specifically identified in this category).

e Harbor and sales services: slip rentals, launching charges, and fuel sales.

e Other harbor sales and services revenues (not specifically identified in this
category).
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105

Hospital Services
Hospital type special districts should be following the chart of accounts prescribed in

the Accounting and Reporting Manual for California Hospitals available at the
Department of Health Care and Access Information: https://hcai.ca.gov/data-and-
reports/submit-data/financial-reporting/

106

Sewer Services

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues that may be posted
under this category:

e Service charges—sewer and drainage services

Inspection fees

Connection fees

Standby and availability charges

Service penalties

Other sewer services revenues (not specially identified under this category)

Do not include “Permits” or “Service-Type Assessments” revenues in this category.
Permits should be recorded under the “Construction Permits” category and “Service-
Type Assessments” should be recorded under the “Taxes and Assessments”
category.

107

Transit Services
Includes revenues derived from transit operations.

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues that may be posted

under this category:

e Passenger fares

e Transportation revenues: school bus service, freight tariffs, charter service and
auxiliary transportation revenues

e Other transit revenues (not specifically identified under this category)

Do not include revenues such as “1/4 sales tax” and “Special District Augmentation
Fund Revenues” under this category. “1/4 sales tax” should be recorded under the
“Taxes and Assessments” category and “Special District Augmentation Fund
Revenues” should be recorded under the “Special District Augmentation Fund”
category.

Note: Transit districts who are also special districts may also refer to the chart of
accounts prescribed by the United States Department of Transportation at,
https://www.transit.dot.gov/ntd/uniform-system-accounts-usoa.
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Water Services
Includes revenues derived from water sales.

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues that may be posted

under this category:

e Retail water sales: residential, business, industrial, irrigation, and other utilities.

108 |« \Water services revenue: fire prevention, groundwater replenishment, connection
fees, and standby and availability charges.

e Other retail water services (not specifically identified under this category).

e Other water services revenue (not specifically identified under this category).

Do not include “Service-Type Assessments” revenues in this category. These
transactions should be recorded under the “Taxes and Assessments” category.
Interfund Revenues

Includes revenues resulting from services performed by the internal service
department.

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under
this category:

Auditing and accounting fees

Communication services

Data processing

Legal services

Personnel services

Planning and engineering services

Purchasing services

Road and street services

109
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Other Revenues

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues that are not posted in
any other category:

e Poison for pest extermination

Books, pamphlets, postcards

Slides, tobacco, candy, etc., purchased for resale

Commissary sales

Fire prevention codes

Directories, Indices, Ordinances, Surveys

Items produced in vocational programs for the aged and blind

Any other sales revenue type transactions that do not fit the criteria of “operating
revenue” of a special district (do not include capital assets sale type transactions
under this category).

Depending on the type of special district, some of the revenue items listed above
may constitute operating revenues of a special district and therefore, may not be
110 | treated as other sales revenue.

Below is a list of revenues that are usually not recorded under this category:

e Sale of certified copies and transcripts. These revenues should be posted to
accounts such as “Charges for Services.”

e Sale of copies of the assessment roll. These revenues should be posted to
accounts such as “Charges for Services — Assessment and Tax Collection
Fees.”

e Meals for employees or others. These revenues should be posted to accounts
such as “Charges for Services — Other.”

e Art craft materials. These revenues should be posted to accounts such as
“Charges for Services — Park and Recreation Fees.”

¢ Animal carcasses. These revenues should be posted to “Charges for Services —
Humane Services.”

e Sewage by-products. These revenues should be posted to accounts such as
“Charges for Services — Sanitation Services.”

e Garbage. These revenues should be posted to accounts such as “Charges for
Services — Sanitation Services.”

111 | Tobacco Settlement
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112

Miscellaneous
Includes monetary donations from private agencies, persons, or other sources.

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under
this category:

e Consultant fees from other sources

e Services by private physicians in special district institutions

e Contributions and donations

Insurance proceeds

Compensation insurance refunds

Contributions from trust funds

Cash overages

Cancelled warrants and checks

Some of the revenues listed above may fall under the Special Items or Extraordinary
items category.

Other Fi

nancing Sources

Code

Revenue Objects (Accounts) — Other Financing Sources

113

Sale of Capital Assets
Examples include land, buildings, other improvements, furniture and equipment.

114

Transfer-In
Includes transfers between funds (governmental, proprietary or fiduciary) for which
no reimbursement is expected.

It is recommended that interfund accounts or subaccounts be used to identify and
control interfund activity. Identifying such activities separately will be useful when
preparing consolidated financial reports that require interfund eliminations (e.g., the
State Controller's Office Annual Report of Financial Transactions concerning special
districts and governmental GAAP compliant financial statements).

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under

this category:

e Transfers of tax revenues from the general fund or a special revenue fund to the
debt service fund.

e Operating subsidy transfers from the general fund or a special revenue fund to an
enterprise or internal services fund.

e Transfers from the general fund to a special revenue fund or capital projects fund.
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Long-Term Debt Proceeds
Includes long-term obligations incurred to meet operating or capital requirements.

The list below is not all-inclusive; it includes types of revenues usually posted under
this category:

115 | Bond proceeds

e Long-term notes

e Other long-term obligations

Following is a list of revenues that are usually not recorded under this category:
e Short-term obligations

e Obligations incurred to cover short-term cash requirements

Leases (Lessee)

Includes recording of all lease transactions under the modified accrual basis of
accounting by the lessee. For financial reporting purposes it is recommended that
local governments maintain separate subaccounts to record lease transactions.
Examples of lease transactions reported under this category includes (not-all
inclusive):

116 |® Leases— Land

Leases — Building

Leases — Equipment

Leases — Infrastructure

Note: Lease revenues (lessor) should not be recorded under this account. They
should recorded under “Revenue from Use of Money and Property, Lease
Revenues.”

Public-Private and Public-Public Partnership (PPP) Asset (Operator)

Includes the recording of all PPP transactions under the modified accrual basis of
117 accounting by the operator. For financial reporting purposes, it is recommended that
local government entities maintain separate subaccounts to record PPP asset
transactions.

Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangement (SBITA)
Subscription Asset

118 | Includes the recording of all SBITA transactions under the modified accrual basis of
accounting by the local government entity. For financial reporting purposes, it is
recommended that local government entities maintain separate subaccounts to
record SBITA subscription asset transactions.

Other

119 | Includes all other increases (not previously identified in the Other Financing Sources
category) in fund balances of a governmental fund other than revenues and inflows
associated with future periods.
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Code | Revenue Objects (Accounts) — Contributions, Special and Extraordinary Iltems

120 | Contributions
Includes revenues such as contributions to endowments from citizens or business.

Special and Extraordinary Items
121 | Includes revenues that are infrequent or unusual in nature. An example would include

insurance money received due to storm damage to a special district facility, provided
that storms are not a natural occurrence in the area where the facility is located.

Pension/OPEB Plan Accounts
7.20 Chart of Accounts and Explanation of Accounts

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

Local government entities should design their chart of accounts to be consistent with their
accounting needs. The following list of chart of accounts is not all-inclusive. Local government
entities should supplement these classifications with additional account titles as needed.

Sample Accounts for Statement of

Fiduciary Net Position EXpIET LN G AEEOT

Pension/OPEB plan assets should be subdivided
into (a) the major categories of assets held (for
PENSION/OPEB PLAN ASSETS example, cash and cash equivalents, receivables,
investments, and assets used in pension plan
operations) and (b) the principal components of the
receivables and investments categories.

Currency on hand, short-term, or highly liquid

. investments that are both (a) readily convertible to
Cash & Cash Equivalents known amounts of cash, and (b) near enough to
maturity that they present insignificant risk of
changes in value.

Pension/OPEB plan receivables are generally short
_ term and consist of contributions due as of the end
Receivables of the reporting period from employers, non-
employer contributing entities and plan members,
and interest and dividends on investments.
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Sample Accounts for Statement of
Fiduciary Net Position

Explanation of Account

Contributions

Amounts recognized as receivables for contributions
should include only those due pursuant to legal
requirements. Contributions that are payable to the
pension/OPEB plan more than one year after the
end of the reporting period (for example, pursuant to
installment contracts) should be recognized in full in
the period the receivable arises. If a receivable is
recognized at its discounted present value, interest
should be accrued using the effective interest
method, unless use of the straight-line method would
not produce significantly different results.

Member Contributions

The amount charged each year to a member
(including personal and stakeholder pensions) to
cover the cost to the provider of investing and
administering the member's plan.

Employer Contributions

Contributions an employer makes to his or her
employee's employer-sponsored retirement plan that
are not included in employer’s salary expense.

Current Investments

These are securities, bonds, stock or other assets
held by a pension plan to generate income for the
pension/OPEB plan.

Accrued Interest

Interest that has accumulated between the most
recent payment and the sale of a bond or other
fixed-income security.

Dividends

A distribution of a portion of a company’s earnings
on stocks or other investments.

Real Estate Mortgage Loans

The current portion a debt instrument, secured by
the collateral of specified real estate property, that
the borrower is obliged to pay back with a
predetermined set of payments.

Hedge Funds

These are usually pooled investments held by a
pension/OPEB plan to exceed anticipated market
returns or hedge against unforeseen market
changes to maximize return on investment.

Sales of Securities

The sale of a financial instrument that represents an
ownership position in a publicly-traded corporation
(stock), a creditor relationship with governmental
body or with a corporation (bond), or rights to
ownership as represented by an option.

Real Estate Income

Income from property bought or developed to earn
income through renting, leasing, or price
appreciation.
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Sample Accounts for Statement of

Fiduciary Net Position SRR @ AEEEmT

Receivables not specifically described above. In
Miscellaneous each case, these accounts are to be analyzed and
managed according to the control procedures that
are most applicable to the particular receivable.

Purchases and sales of investments should be
recorded on a trade-date basis. Pension/OPEB plan
investments, whether equity or debt securities, real
Hedge Investments estate, investment derivative instruments, or other
(at Fair Value) investments (excluding allocated insurance
contracts), should be reported at their fair value at
the end of the pension/OPEB plan’s reporting period.

Any investments that a company has made that will
Short-Term Hedge Investments expire within one year, including time certificates of
deposits, banker acceptances, and commercial and
finance paper.

N These are foreign financial assets (e.g. bonds and
Global Debt Securities mortgage-backed securities) held by a pension plan
as part of its pension plan investment portfolio.

Include preferred stock that either is required to be
redeemed by the issuing entity or is redeemable at
U.S Government Securities the option of the investor, and a collateralized
mortgage obligation or other instrument that is
issued in equity form, but is accounted for as a non-
equity instrument.

Domestic Corporate Bonds A bond issued in a domestic market by a foreign
entity, in the domestic market’s currency.

A debt security issued by a state, municipality, or

Municipal Bonds local government entity to finance its capital
expenditures.
International Bonds Debt securities issued by foreign companies or

governments and sold domestically.

These are stocks both foreign and domestic held by

Global Equity Securities a pension plan as part of its pension plan investment
portfolio.
Domestic Stocks The stocks of American companies traded on the
various stock exchanges.
International Stocks The stocks of companies based outside of the U.S.

These are securities held as collateral. These
securities are usually not traded in the stock
Securities Lending Collateral exchange, exceptions apply. Examples include
stocks, bonds, cash or any asset that can be readily
converted to cash.
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Sample Accounts for Statement of
Fiduciary Net Position

Explanation of Account

Private Equity

Equity securities and debt in operating companies
that are not publicly traded on a stock exchange.

Real Estate Equity

The difference between the current market value of
the property and the amount the owner still owes on
the mortgage of real estate property such as land
and buildings.

Other Investments

These are various investments held by a
pension/OPEB plan; however they are reported in
the financial statements in an aggregated form, as
these investments are not significant/material
enough to be listed separately in a Statement of Net
Position.

Capital Assets (Net of Accumulated
Depreciation)

These assets include land, building, equipment and
other tangible or intangible assets (such as leases).

Equipment and Furniture

Tangible property of a more or less permanent
nature, other than land or buildings and
improvements thereon.

Accumulated Depreciation —
Equipment and Furniture

A valuation account to record the accumulation of
periodic credits made to record the expiration of the
estimated service life of capital assets.

Buildings and Improvements

A capital asset account reflecting the acquisition cost
of permanent structures owned or held and
improvements thereon.

Accumulated Depreciation —
Buildings and Improvements

A valuation account to record the accumulation of
periodic credits made to record the expiration of the
estimated service life of capital assets.

Land

A capital asset account that reflects the cost of land
owned or held.

Other Assets

Those assets that cannot be reasonably categorized
under the asset classification discussed above (e.g.,
long-term receivables).

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF
RESOURCES

Certain defined transactions that do not qualify for
treatment as either assets or liabilities related to
future periods.

PENSION PLAN LIABILITIES

Pension/OPEB plan liabilities generally consist of
benefits due to plan members (including refunds of
plan member contributions), and accrued investment
and administrative expenses. Pension/OPEB plan
liabilities for benefits should be recognized when the
benefits are currently due-and-payable in
accordance with the benefit terms.
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Sample Accounts for Statement of
Fiduciary Net Position

Explanation of Account

Net Pension Liability

Net pension/OPEB liability is the difference between
the actuarial present value of a projected benefits
owed to employees (total pension liability) and a
pension plans fiduciary net position.

Usually net pension/OPEB liability is reported as a
single figure in a local government’s financial
statements. Pension plan assets and liabilities in this
instance are managed by an outside agency such as
CalPERS.

Other Liabilities

Those liabilities that cannot be reasonably
categorized under liability classifications discussed
above.

Refunds Payable

These include refunds of contributions payable to
plan members and other nonemployer(s)
organizations who contribute into the pension/OPEB
plan.

Claims Payable

These are claims that have matured and are due to
be paid to plan members with current expendable
resources.

Other Payables

Payables not specifically described above. In each
case, these accounts are to be analyzed and
managed according to a respective special districts
control procedures. These accounts are usually
immaterial in nature and therefore not reported
separately in the Fiduciary Statement of Net
Position.

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES

Certain transactions related to future periods that do
not qualify for treatment as either assets or liabilities.
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Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

Local government entities should design their chart of accounts to be consistent with their
accounting needs. The following list of chart of accounts is not all-inclusive. Local government

entities should supplement these classifications with additional account titles as needed.

Sample Accounts for Statement of
Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

Explanation of Account

ADDITIONS

The additions section of the Statement of Changes in
Fiduciary Net Position should include separate
display of the following, if applicable:

(a) Contributions from employers;

(b) Contributions from non-employer
contributing entities (for example, state
government contributions to a local
government pension plan);

(c) Contributions from plan members, including
those transmitted by the employers; and

(d) Net investment income, including separate
display of:

(1) investment income, and

(2) investment expense, including investment
management and custodial fees and all other
significant investment-related costs.

Contributions

These are contributions that are made by the
employee, employer, and other nonemployer entities
into a special districts pension/OPEB plan.

Employer Contributions

Following are examples of employer related
contributions into a pension/OPEB plan.

Safety

Employer contributions paid into the system to fund
basic, cost-of-living, and other retirement benefits
related to safety type employees.

Miscellaneous

Employer contributions paid into the system to fund
basic, cost-of-living, and other retirement benefits that
are not qualified as safety.

Combined

Employer contributions paid into the system to fund
basic, cost-of-living, and other retirement benefits that
cannot be properly divided into safety and
miscellaneous members.

Member Contributions

Following are examples of member related
contributions into a pension/OPEB plan.

Safety

Member contributions paid into the system to fund
basic, cost-of-living, and other retirement benefits
(detail by safety members).

Miscellaneous

Member contributions paid into the system to fund
basic, cost-of-living, and other retirement benefits that
are not qualified as safety.
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Sample Accounts for Statement of
Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

Explanation of Account

Combined

Member contributions paid into the system to fund
basic, cost-of-living, and other retirement benefits that
cannot be properly divided into and safety and
miscellaneous members.

Other Contributions

Those contributions that cannot be reasonably
categorized under liability classifications discussed
above.

Safety

Contributions paid into the system to fund basic, cost-
of-living, and other retirement benefits made by other
contributors not including employer(s) or members.

Miscellaneous

Contributions paid into the system to fund basic, cost-
of-living, and other retirement benefits made by other
contributors not including employer(s) or members
that are not qualified as safety.

Combined

Contributions paid into the system to fund basic, cost-
of-living, and other retirement benefits made by other
contributors not including employer(s) or members
that cannot be properly divided into safety and
miscellaneous members.

Investments Income

Contributions include (a) the net increase (decrease)
in the fair value of pension plan investments, and (b)
interest income, dividend income, and other income

not included in (a).

(Loss)
Components (a) and (b) of investment income may
be separately displayed or combined and reported as
one amount.
Investments

Income from stock, bonds, derivatives, etc.

Short-Term Investments

Investments that a company has made that will expire
within one year.

Dividends Income

Earnings and distributions from stock.
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Sample Accounts for Statement of
Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

Explanation of Account

Net Appreciation
(Depreciation) in Fair Value
of Investments

The sum of:

1. Realized gains and losses on investments both
bought and sold during the year, measured as the
difference between the proceeds of sale and the
original cost;

2. Realized gains and losses on investments bought
in prior years and sold during this year, measured
as the difference between the proceeds of sale
and the fair value of the investment at the
beginning of the year; and

3. Unrealized gains and losses for the year on
investments held at year-end, measured as the
difference between fair value of the investment at
year-end, and either the original cost (if purchased
during the year) or the fair value of the investment
at the beginning of the year (if purchased in a prior
year).

Securities Lending Income

Income from lending securities (e.g. bonds and
stocks). Most common form of income from securities
lending is interest income.

(Cost of Lending Securities)

Costs incurred when entering into a securities lending
contract. Examples include legal fees, brokerage
fees, borrower rebate and management fees.

Note: the revenues and costs associated with
securities lending should be shown separately.

Other Investment Income

Investment income that cannot be reasonably
categorized under the investment income
classification discussed above.

(Investment Expenses)

Investment-related costs should be reported as
investment expense if they are separable from (a)
investment income, and (b) the administrative
expense of the pension plan.

Other Income

Those revenues that cannot be reasonably
categorized under classifications previously
discussed.

DEDUCTIONS

The deductions section of the Statement of Changes
in Fiduciary Net Position should separately display, at
a minimum, (a) benefit payments to plan members
(including refunds of plan member contributions) and
(b) total administrative expense.

Benefit Payments

These are benefit payments made to an employee
based on an employee’s pension/OPEB plan.
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Sample Accounts for Statement of
Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

Explanation of Account

Service Retirement

Pension, annuity, cost-of-living, and lump sum
payments due to service retirement.

Safety

Pension and annuity payments due to service
retirement. Includes survivor continuance benefits
(detail by safety members).

Miscellaneous

Pension and annuity payments due to service
retirement. Includes survivor continuance benefits
that are not qualified as safety.

Combined

Pension and annuity payments due to service
retirement. Includes survivor continuance benefits
that cannot be properly divided into safety and
miscellaneous members.

Disability

Payments including cost-of-living allowances to
members retired due to total and permanent
disability, or payments due to partial and temporary
disability.

Safety

Payments to members retired due to total and
permanent disability, or payments due to partial and
temporary disability (detail by safety members).

Miscellaneous

Payments including cost-of-living allowances to
members retired due to total and permanent
disability, or payments due to partial and temporary
disability that are not qualified as safety.

Combined

Payments including cost-of-living allowances to
members retired due to total and permanent
disability, or payments due to partial and temporary
disability that cannot be properly divided into safety
and miscellaneous members.

Other Benefit Payments

Those benefit payments that cannot be reasonably
categorized under the benefit payments classification
previously discussed.

Safety

Payments made to safety type members from
employer contributions prior to normal or early
retirement age, death benefits, life insurance
premium payments, and other ancillary benefit
payments.

Miscellaneous

Payments made to miscellaneous members from
employer contributions prior to normal or early
retirement age, death benefits, life insurance
premium payments, and other ancillary benefit
payments.
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Sample Accounts for Statement of
Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

Explanation of Account

Combined

Payments made to members from employer
contributions prior to normal or early retirement age,
death benefits, life insurance premium payments, and
other ancillary benefit payments that cannot be
properly divided into safety and miscellaneous
members.

Member Refunds

These are refunds of excess contributions made to
the employee’s or nonemployer contributing entities.

Safety

A refund of contributions, including interest, to a
member upon separation from service, or to the
beneficiary upon the member’'s death (detail by safety
members).

Miscellaneous

A refund of contributions, including interest, to a
member upon separation from service, or to the
beneficiary upon the member’s death that are not
gualified as safety.

Combined

A refund of contributions, including interest, to a
member upon separation from service, or to the
beneficiary upon the member’s death (detail by
general and safety members) that cannot be properly
divided into safety and miscellaneous members.

Member Withdrawals

These are withdrawals made by plan members.

Safety

Report member withdrawals (detail by safety
members).

Miscellaneous

Report member withdrawals that are not qualified as
safety.

Combined

Member withdrawals that cannot be properly divided
into safety and miscellaneous members.

Administration Expenses

A fee charged by an insurer or other authorized
agency to cover expenses related to record keeping
and/or other administrative costs.

General

Administrative and management cost pertaining to
the retirement system.

Professional Services

Investment counseling fees, actuarial services, audit
services, and other professional charges.

Actuarial Services Fee

Fee for actuarial services including the analysis of
rates of disability, morbidity, mortality, retirement,
survivorship and other contingencies.

Custodian Services Fee

Fees to a financial institution that holds customers'
securities for safekeeping so as to minimize the risk
of their theft or loss.
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Sample Accounts for Statement of

Changes in Fiduciary Net Position EXPEGENON S AEEEUT

As defined by the Investment Advisors Act of 1940,
any person or group that makes investment
Investment Counselor Fee recommendations or conducts securities analysis in
return for a fee, whether through direct management
of client assets or via written publications.

Other Expenses Those expenses that cannot be reasonably
categorized under classifications discussed above.
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Chapter 8: The Reporting Entity

Introduction

According to GASB Cod. Sec. 2100.102 (Section 2100, paragraph .102), “accountability is the
cornerstone of all financial reporting in government.” It is the paramount objective of
governmental financial reporting from which all other financial reporting objectives flow. An
accountability perspective should provide the basis for defining the financial reporting entity.

In keeping consistent with the accountability perspective, financial reporting information should
be useful for economic, social, and political decisions. To meet this objective, financial reports
should contain information beneficial for:

e comparing actual financial results with the legally adopted budget;

e assessing financial condition and the results of operations;

e assisting in determining compliance with finance-related laws, rules and regulations; and
e assisting in evaluating efficiency and effectiveness.

The organizational structure of governments are becoming increasingly complex as the demand
for services from their constituents continues to grow. Unfortunately, the demands placed upon
the local government may outpace their ability to provide these services in a traditional
governmental environment.

For this reason and others, many local governments are starting to create separate
organizations to provide these services. Whatever the reason, public accountability demands
that the financial data of these separate organizations be incorporated in the primary
governments financial statements, where applicable.

Financial Reporting Entity Overview

8.01 Financial Reporting Entity Concept

The concept underlying the definition of the financial reporting entity is that elected officials are
accountable to their constituents for their actions. Financial reporting by a local government
should report the elected officials’ accountability for those organizations.

Financial statements of the reporting entity should allow users to differentiate between the
primary government, its component units, and other relationships, such as joint power
authorities. This is done by providing information about their relationships with the primary
government.

8.02 Financial Reporting Entity Structure

The financial reporting entity consists of the primary government and organizations for which the
primary government is financially accountable. The reporting entity’s government-wide financial
statements should present information about the reporting government as a whole and use
separate rows/columns to distinguish between the total primary government and its discretely
presented component units.
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The financial statements of the reporting entity should allow users to distinguish between the
primary government and its component units by communicating information about the
component units and their relationships with the primary government rather than creating
perception that the primary government and its component units are one legal entity.

The fund financial statements should display the primary reporting entity’s governmental,
proprietary, and fiduciary funds (including its blended component units), reporting major funds
individually and nonmajor funds in the aggregate. The fiduciary component units should be
reported only in the statements of fiduciary net position and changes in fiduciary net position
should be reported with the primary government’s fiduciary funds.

Primary Government Definition

As noted in GASB Cod. Sec. 2100.112 — .113 (Section 2100, paragraphs .112 — .113) a primary
government has a separately elected governing body, is a legally separate entity, and is fiscally
independent of other state and local governments. In the financial reports, the primary
government should include all funds, organizations, institutions, agencies, departments, and
offices that are part of its direct fiscal responsibility.

Component Unit Definition

Component units are legally separate organizations and, while legally separate from the primary
government, are included on the financial statements of the primary government because the
primary government is financially accountable for them and excluding them from the primary
governments’ financial statements would be misleading. Therefore, they are required to be
reported on the financial statements of the primary government. A component unit may be
reported as either blended or discretely presented on the financial statements.

For more information on financial requirements reporting of component units, refer to GASB
Cod. Sec. 2100.144 — .146 (Section 2100, paragraphs .144 — .146).

Determining Fiscal Independence or Dependence—Special Purpose Governments

A special-purpose government (e.g., special district) is said to be fiscally independent if it has
the authority to do all of the following:

e Determine its budget without another government’s having the authority to approve and
modify that budget.

e Levy taxes or set rates or charges without the approval of another government.

e Issue bonded debt without approval by another government.

A special-purpose government is said to be fiscally dependent if the primary government that
oversees the special-purpose government holds one or more of the authoritative powers
previously discussed in this section. It should be noted that a special-purpose government might
still be fiscally dependent on a primary government regardless of whether it receives financial
assistance from the primary government. Fiscal dependency does not necessarily imply that a
financial benefit or a burden relationship exists.
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Refer to GASB Cod. Sec. 2100.115 —.117 (Section 2100, paragraphs .115 — .117) for more
information on fiscal independence and fiscal dependence as it pertains to special-purpose
governments.

8.03 Financial Accountability

Financial accountability is the relationship where a legally separate organization is included in
the reporting statements of another government entity. The circumstances that outline a primary
government’s financial accountability for a legally separate organization are stated in GASB
Cod. Sec. 2100.120 (Section 2100, paragraph .120) as follows:

a) The primary government is financially accountable if it appoints a voting majority of the
organization’s governing body and (1) it is able to impose its will on that organization or (2)
there is a potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose
specific financial burdens on, the primary government.

b) The primary government is financially accountable if an organization is fiscally dependent on
and there is a potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose
specific financial burdens on, the primary government regardless of whether the organization
has (1) a separately elected governing board, (2) a governing board appointed by a higher
level of government, or (3) a jointly appointed board.

c) The primary government is financially accountable for a legally separate organization if the
primary government’s holding of a majority equity interest in that organization does not meet
the definition of an investment.

There may be instances where a primary government may treat an organization as a
component unit even though the organization does not meet the specifics of the financial
accountability criteria identified earlier in this section. This is done to prevent the primary
government’s financial statements from being misleading to the end user. This determination
should be based on the nature and significance of the organizations relationship with the
primary government.

Appointment of a Voting Majority

A primary government that appoints a simple majority of an organization’s governing board
usually has a voting majority. However, if any financial decisions require approval of more than
a simple majority, the primary government is not accountable for the organization.

In determining if accountability exists, a primary government’s appointment authority should be
substantive. The appointment authority of a primary government is not substantive if the number
of candidates is severely limited by the nominating process (e.g., a primary government is
required to select three appointees from a group of only five candidates).

A primary government’s appointment authority would not be substantive in situations where the
primary government’s responsibility is limited to the confirming appointments made by
individuals or groups other than the primary government’s officials or appointees.
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The same legal provisions that outline the procedures for the appointment of an organization’s
officials, generally provides for continuing appointment authority. In cases where such authority
is not specified, the basis for ongoing accountability is provided via the ability of a primary
government to unilaterally disband the organization. As long as a primary government makes
continuing appointments, it is accountable for an organization.

In certain circumstances component units do not always have a governing board. In such an
event, the primary government is considered to be financially accountable for a component unit
if the primary government performs the duties that a typical governing body of a component unit
would perform — thus, the primary government is seen to be appointing a voting majority to the
governing board of its component unit.

However, this does not apply to component units that are:

e a defined contribution pension plan
e a defined contribution OPEB plan
e any other employee benefit plan (e.g., Section 457 plans)

Imposition of Will

A primary government is considered to be financially accountable for an organization if it
appoints a voting majority of an organization’s officials and has the ability to impose its will on
the organization. There are certain conditions that indicate the primary government’s ability to
affect the day-to-day operations of an organization. Such conditions indicate a government’s
ability to impose its will on an organization.

As stated in GASB Cod. Sec. 2100.126 (Section 2100, paragraph .126):

A primary government has the ability to impose its will on an organization if it can
significantly influence the programs, projects, activities, or level of services performed or
provided by the organization.

The existence of any one of the following conditions clearly indicates that a primary
government has the ability to impose its will on an organization:

a) The ability to remove appointed members of the organization’s governing board at
will.

b) The ability to modify or approve the budget of the organization.

c) The ability to modify or approve rate or fee changes affecting revenues, such as water
usage rate increases.

d) The ability to veto, overrule, or modify the decisions (other than those in b and c) of
the organization’s governing body.

e) The ability to appoint, hire, reassign, or dismiss those persons responsible for the
day-to-day operations (management) of the organization.
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Other conditions may also indicate that a primary government has the ability to impose its will on
an organization. In determining whether imposition of will exists, a distinction should be made
between substantive approvals and ministerial (or compliance) approvals, as discussed in
GASB Cod. Sec. 2100.116 —.117 (Section 2100, paragraphs .116 —.117).

Some examples of approvals that may be considered to be ministerial or compliance oriented in
nature rather than substantive include a requirement for:

a) A state agency to approve a local government entity’s debt after review for compliance with
certain limitations (e.g., debt margin calculation based on a percentage of assessed
valuation).

b) A state agency (e.g., a department of education) to review a local government entity’s
budget in evaluating qualifications for state funding.

c) A county government official (e.g., a county clerk) to approve tax rates and levy amount after
review for compliance with limitations related to tax rates and levies.

Financial Benefit or Burden on a Primary Government

An organization can provide a financial benefit to or impose a financial burden on a primary
government in a variety of ways. This includes appointing the majority of the board members of
an organization and having the ability to impose its will on an organization (as mentioned in the
preceding sections).

In addition, if the primary government appoints a voting majority of another organization’s
governing board, which in-turn leads to this organization either providing a financial benefit or
imposing financial burden on the primary government, the primary government is deemed to be
financial accountable for this organization.

An organization has a financial benefit or burden relationship with the primary government if any
one of the following conditions exist:

e The primary government is legally entitled to or can otherwise access the organization’s
resources.

e The primary government is legally obligated or has otherwise assumed the obligation to
finance deficits of, or provide financial support to, the organization.

e The primary government is obligated in some manner for the debt of the organization.

e The primary government is legally obligated or has otherwise assumed the obligation to
make contributions to an organization that is a defined benefit pension plan or defined
benefit OPEB plan administered through a trust, exceptions apply.

Refer to GASB Cod. Sec. 2100.127 — .133 (Section 2100, paragraphs .127 — .133) for more
information concerning the financial benefits to or burdens on primary governments.
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Financial Accountability Arising from Fiscal Dependency

A primary government may be financially accountable for a fiscally dependent government
regardless of whether the fiscally dependent government has a separately elected governing
board, a board appointed by another government, or a jointly appointed board. A fiscally
dependent government that has the potential to provide a financial benefit to or to impose a
financial burden on, a primary government would be reported as part of that primary
government's financial reporting entity.

For more information about financial accountability arising from fiscal dependency, refer to
GASB Cod. Sec. 2100.134 — .137 (Section 2100, paragraphs .134 — .137).

Majority Equity Interests

An equity interest is a financial interest in a legally separate organization by another
government. The equity interest may be shown by stock ownership of the organization or by an
explicit and measurable claim to the net resources of the organization.

If the primary government’s holding of a majority equity interest in a separate legal organization
does not meet the definition of an investment, then the primary government is financially
accountable for the separate organization and should report it as a component unit.

Potential for Dual Inclusion

In some instances, the financial accountability criteria (see preceding sections) indicate that an
organization (e.g., dependent special district) is a component unit of a particular primary
government. However, that organization (e.g., dependent special district) may also be fiscally
dependent on and have a financial benefit or burden relationship with another state or local
government. In these situations, this particular organization may qualify for inclusion in more
than one reporting entity. However, the organization in question should only be included as a
component unit of one reporting entity. It is the responsibility of the reporting entities to
determine which of them should report the organization as a component unit.
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Chapter 9: Reporting Capital Assets

Introduction

Local government entities should make a clear distinction between general capital assets and
capital assets in their financial statements. The purpose of this chapter is to provide an overview
as to how capital assets should be reported in governmental funds, proprietary funds, and
fiduciary funds.

Capital Asset Accounting
9.01 Capital Assets

A clear distinction should be made between general capital assets and capital assets of
proprietary and fiduciary funds. While the capital assets of proprietary funds should be reported
in both the government-wide and fund financial statements, the capital assets of fiduciary funds
(including fiduciary component units) should be reported only in the statement of fiduciary net
position.

All other capital assets of the governmental unit are general capital assets and should not be
reported as assets in governmental funds, but instead should be reported in the governmental
activities column in the government-wide statement of net position.

Capital assets should be reported at historical cost, including capitalized interest and ancillary
charges necessary to place the asset into its intended location and condition for use. Donated
capital assets should be reported at their acquisition value plus any ancillary charges, if
applicable. Interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period should not be
capitalized as part of the assets historical cost.

A local government may establish a capitalization policy to determine which assets are to be
treated as capital assets (including general capital assets). The general rule is that if an asset
has a cost of at least $5,000, the asset should be capitalized. When it comes to a group of
assets (such as 100 computers), the general rule of materiality should apply. Expensing assets
is acceptable provided the financial statements are not materially misstated.

Local governments usually exercise conscientious physical and accounting controls over cash;
however, with capital assets in which cash has been invested, controls are frequently
inadequate or lacking.
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Accounting controls over capital assets (including general capital assets) are recommended in
order to:

e safeguard a sizeable investment;

e fix responsibility for the custody of equipment;

e assist in the formulation of acquisition and retirement policies through accumulation of data
regarding prices, sources of supply, and useful life;

e provide data for financial reporting;

e provide record support and to account for reimbursement or depreciation under grants and
proprietary service programs; and

e provide information for insurance purposes.

The term capital assets includes land, improvements to land, easements, buildings, building
improvements, vehicles, machinery, equipment, works of art and historical treasures,
infrastructure, and all other tangible or intangible assets that are used in operations and have
useful lives beyond a single reporting period. Infrastructure assets are long-lived capital assets
that are normally stationary in nature and can be preserved for a significantly greater number of
years than most capital assets. Some examples include roads, bridges, tunnels, drainage
systems, water/sewer systems, dams, lighting systems, and buildings (only if part of an ancillary
network of infrastructure assets).

General Capital Assets

General capital assets are capital assets of the government that are not specifically related to
activities reported in proprietary or fiduciary funds. They are associated with, and generally arise
from, governmental activities. As general capital assets usually arise from the expenditure of
governmental fund financial resources, they should not be reported as assets in governmental
funds, but should be reported in the governmental activities column in the government-wide
statement of net position.

Purchases of general capital assets are typically charged as expenditures, commonly known as
capital outlays, in the fund from which they were purchased and are capitalized at cost in the
capital assets accounting system. In addition to outright purchases, the capital assets
accounting system may include general assets acquired by the following methods:

e Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships (PPP): An arrangement where a local
government entity (transferor) conveys the control of the right to use its nonfinancial asset to
an operator (government or nongovernmental entity) to provide public services.

e Subscription Based Information Technology Arrangement (SBITA): Contract that conveys
the right to use another entity’s IT Software or in combination with tangible IT Assets.

e Lease: Contract that conveys control of the right to use another entity’s nonfinancial asset
that does not meet the criteria of a PPP or SBITA.

e Construction: Recorded at the related governmental fund expenditures.

e Eminent Domain: Recorded the amount awarded to property owners.

e Donations: Recorded at the estimated value on the date of acquisition.
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General capital assets acquired by tax or special assessment foreclosure, which are to be
resold in the near future, are accounted for in the governmental fund to which the taxes or
assessments are owed. Reporting infrastructure as individual capital assets is optional (e.g.,
roads, bridges, curbs and gutters, streets and sidewalks, drainage systems, lighting systems
and similar assets that are immovable and of value only to the governmental unit).

Upon disposition, the gain or loss on sale should be reported as nonoperating revenue or as
nonoperating expenses, respectively. A gain or loss is measured by the difference between
book value (i.e., cost less accumulated depreciation) and the proceeds received from the sale,
salvage, or insurance claims.

Land

Land includes the investment in real estate other than:

e buildings and improvements; and
e land acquired for street and road purposes.

Land — including any acreage, parcel, or plot associated with infrastructure — should be
reported at cost, estimated cost, or estimated fair value at the date of acquisition. Any time that
a determination is made that all or part of any land acquired for street or road purposes is no
longer needed for those purposes, that portion shall be capitalized as a capital asset. Usually,
land is not depreciated because it has an indefinite life.

Buildings and Improvements

Buildings and improvements are physical property of a permanent (non-moveable) nature;
examples include buildings, structural attachments or fixtures, storage tanks, reservoirs and
parking areas. Sidewalks, trees, and drives in connection with other structures or parks should
also be capitalized.

In practice, buildings and improvements with a minimum value of $5,000 or any other amount
established by the fiscal officer or governing body of the local government, should be
capitalized. If a local government exercises the option to capitalize selected items of lesser
value, it should be done on a consistent basis. Items such as parking meters and portable traffic
signals are considered equipment and should be reported as such.

Fixtures are defined as permanent attachments to buildings that are not intended to be removed
and that function as part of the building, such as boilers, lighting fixtures, or plumbing.
Equipment

Equipment includes moveable personal property of a relatively permanent nature and of
significant value, such as furniture, machines, tools, vehicles.

e Relatively permanent is generally defined as a useful life of one year and longer.
e Significant value is generally defined as a minimum value of $100 to $5,000 as established
by the fiscal officer or governing body of the local government’s capitalization policy. The

cost test may be applied in some instances to aggregates of units of similar type or purpose,
such as blocks of folding chairs, shelving, and filing drawers, rather than to the unit itself.
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The cost of equipment includes:

e purchase price or construction costs less any discounts;
e freight or other carriage charges;

e sales, use or transportation taxes; and

e installation costs.

In establishing the capital asset accounting system, information on equipment may be obtained
from departmental inventories on file, insurance carrier, and from special physical inventories
(including physical inventory audit).

Intangible Assets

As described in GASB Cod. Sec. 1400.127 (Section 1400, paragraph .127), intangible assets
are assets that lack physical substance, are nonfinancial in nature (not in a monetary form), and
have an initial useful life extending beyond a single reporting period. Examples include
easements, water rights, rights to use another entity’s computer software/IT Assets (SBITA),
copyrights, patents, intellectual property, leases, public-private and public-public partnerships
(PPPs) and availability payment arrangements (APAs), goodwill and other intangible property
necessary or valuable in the conduct of operations. For more information on leases,
PPPs/APAs, and SBITAs refer to the following:

e PPPs/APAs: Chapter 15, Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships and Availability
Payment Arrangements.

e Leases: Chapter 26, Leases (intangible assets that do not meet the criteria of PPPs/APAs
and SBITAS).

e SBITAs: Chapter 27, Subscription Based Information Technology Arrangements.

An intangible asset should be considered to have an indefinite useful life if there are no legal,
contractual, regulatory, technological, or other factors that limit the useful life of the asset. A
permanent right-of-way easement is an example of an intangible asset that should be
considered to have an indefinite useful life. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives should
not be amortized.

Easements are land or any interest in land acquired for the purpose of public or private rights-of-
use and passage (including persons, vehicles, and heavy equipment). Easement rights also
include erecting, laying, placing, and maintaining drains, ditches, pipes, and transmission lines
or wires for the conveyance, transmission, or transportation of water and electric power or for
any other purpose necessary for the construction, operation, and maintenance of the project or
undertaking. Easements are not depreciated because they have an indefinite useful life.

Internally Generated Intangible Assets

According to GASB Cod. Sec. 1400.127 — .139 (Section 1400, paragraphs .127 — .139), specific
conditions should be present in order to recognize internally generated intangibles (e.qg.,
computer software developed by a local government entity).
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Capitalization of costs begins after all of the following criteria are met:

e Determination of the specific objective of the project (work effort) and the nature of the
service capacity that is expected to be provided by the intangible asset upon completion;

e Demonstration of the technical or technological feasibility that the completed project (work
effort) will provide its expected service capacity; and

e Demonstration of the current intention, ability, and presence of effort to complete or continue
(as in the case of a multi-year project or work effort) development of the intangible asset.

Only costs incurred subsequent to meeting the preceding criteria should be capitalized. Costs
incurred prior to meeting those criteria should be expensed. Also, note that in the above
definition the term service capacity refers to either internally generated computer software or
acquired software that requires more than a minimal incremental effort to achieve expected
service capacity.

Specific Amortization Issues

The useful life of an intangible asset that arises from contractual (e.g., leases) or other legal
rights should not exceed the period to which the service capacity of the assets is limited by
contractual or legal provisions. For example if a local government entity got the rights to use a
building for 10 years and the remaining useful life of the building (physical asset) is 25 years —
the local government entity can only amortize the building for 10 years. Renewal periods maybe
considered when determining the useful life of intangible assets.

Intangible assets with no legal, contractual, regulatory, technological, or other factors limiting
their useful life should be considered to have an indefinite useful life and should not be
amortized. As an example, a permanent right-of-way easement would be considered to have an
indefinite useful life. For more information on specific amortization issues local governments
should refer to GASB Cod. Sec. 1400.140 — .141 (Section 1400, paragraphs .140 — .141).

9.02 Capital Assets System

General capital assets, as distinguished from proprietary fund assets (including those acquired
from the resources of a particular fund), are accounted for in a capital asset accounting system.
General capital assets are associated with and generally arise from governmental activities. The
asset accounts in this group include all aforementioned capital assets (land, buildings and
improvement, equipment, infrastructure, intangible assets, etc.) used in operations with useful
lives beyond a single reporting period.

The equity of the local government in these assets is shown in a number of investment
accounts, set up according to the source of the outlay. The list below is not all-inclusive.

e Investment in Capital Assets — General Fund;

e Investment in Capital Assets — Special Revenue Fund,

e Investment in Capital Assets — General Obligation Bonds;

e Investment in Capital Assets — Accumulative Capital Outlay Fund; or
e Investment in Capital Assets — Donations
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These accounts are posted simultaneously with, but independently of, the related transactions
recorded in the operating funds. Several investment accounts could be combined into one
amount on a balance sheet or statement of net position, if a condensed presentation is desired.

9.03 Treatment of Costs Subsequent to Acquisition

Expenditures on general capital assets that are incurred after their original acquisition are
defined and recorded as one of the following:

e Maintenance: generally regarded as expenditures that neither materially add to the value of
the property nor appreciably prolong its life, but merely keep it in an ordinarily efficient
operating condition (typically not capitalized) or

e Capitalized Expenditures: generally regarded as expenditures that materially add to the
value of the asset or appreciably extend its life. The cost of capitalized expenditures should
be added to the book value of the asset where the original cost of a component being
improved can be specifically identified. The remaining book value should be written off and
the new cost capitalized. Capitalized expenditures are on occasion referred to as
betterments.

The decision as to whether expenditures should be capitalized should be made by an evaluation
of engineering, physical, or other relevant factors apart from cost. Following are examples of
factors that should be considered when capitalizing an asset:

e Additions: generally treated as new separate units, or extensions of existing units, and are
considered to be general capital assets (or capital assets). The test of
significance/materiality should be applied, as with betterments.

e Alterations: generally treated as changes in the physical structure or arrangement of general
capital assets, the cost of which does not qualify as an increase in general capital assets
under the foregoing definitions of betterments and additions. Alterations should not be
capitalized.

With respect to structures and improvements, a significant betterment is generally one that
results in an improvement of at least $5,000.

Capital Asset Valuations
9.04 Valuation Basis

As a general rule capital assets should be reported at historical cost, including ancillary charges
necessary to place the asset into its intended location and condition for use.

The cost of a capital asset includes not only its purchase price or construction cost, but also the
costs necessary to place the asset in its intended location and condition for use. These costs
include freight and transportation charges, site preparation expenditures, professional fees, and
legal claims directly attributable to asset acquisition.
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Occasionally, a local government will acquire a capital asset for which the historical cost
information may not be available. In such cases, the local government may use either of the
following approaches to estimate the historical cost of capital assets:

e Standard Costing: The cost that other governments may have paid for a similar asset; or

e Normal Costing: The cost to acquire the normal asset today and then using a price index to
adjust the cost of the asset to the amount the asset would have cost in the year the asset
was actually acquired.

Land Cost

The cost of land includes all expenditures in connection with its acquisition. Following is a list
(not all-inclusive) of such expenditures.

e Purchase price

e Appraisal and negotiation fees

e Title search fees and Surveying Fees

e Cost of contents

e Relocation costs

e Condemnation costs

e Clearing land for use

e Demolishing or removing structures

e Filing costs and Legal Fees

e Escrow costs related to acquisition (this does not include taxes, interest or insurance)

Any receipts from the sales of items located on the property should be credited against the land
cost. In establishing the capital asset accounting system, the assessor may be able to provide
information about the location and value of land owned if the local government itself does not
have adequate records.

Structure and Improvement Costs

The cost of structures and improvements includes all expenditures in connection with their
acquisitions. Following is a list (not all-inclusive) of such expenditures.

e Purchase price of construction cost

e Fixtures attached to the structure

e Architects’ fees

e Accident or injury costs

e Payment of damages

e Insurance during construction

e Cost of permits and licenses

e Legal and escrow costs related to acquisition (this does not include taxes, interest or
insurance)
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The cost should be reduced for:

e sale of salvage from materials charged against the construction;
e discounts, allowance, and rebates secured; or
e amounts recovered through surrender of liability and casualty insurance.

Rentals of property during the construction period should be credited to revenue unless
otherwise restricted. Interest costs incurred in relation to acquisition, construction, development,
or improvement of capital asset (governmental funds) are treated as ancillary charges.

In establishing the capital asset accounting system, the assessor and the insurance carrier may
be able to provide information about the structures and improvements owned if the local
government itself does not have adequate records.

Equipment Replacement Reserve (Designation)

Government Code section 25262 allows county governments to establish an equipment
replacement reserve. It states the following:

The county budget may contain a provision for an equipment replacement reserve within
a fund. The amount in this reserve shall be identified with the class of fixed assets, and
may accumulate from year to year, but at no time shall it exceed the estimated
replacement cost of the items of fixed assets for which it has been accumulated. The
particular amounts in the reserve shall be made available for expenditure in the year that
the items are replaced or removed from service without replacement. The estimated
replacement cost of the fixed assets shall be adjusted each year.

Legislation determines whether component units or governments other than the county are
authorized to maintain a designated equipment reserve. For example, a community services
district, pursuant to Government Code section 61112, may establish a designated reserve for
capital outlays.

The methodology used to determine the replacement cost, or inflationary factor, may vary
depending on the class of equipment, availability of information (indices), or other market
factors.
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Example:

A. The following illustrative case assumes the availability of accurate replacement cost
information and a capital asset system that is capable of depreciating by class, using the
straight-line method and historical cost.

1. The Motor Pool Internal Service Fund wishes to establish an Equipment Replacement
Reserve (Designation) based on replacement cost beginning with fiscal year 20X5-X6.
The straight-line depreciation based on historical cost for the year is $50,000, while
replacement cost for the same vehicles equals $62,000. The equipment rental rates used
to bill the various departments would be based on the $62,000; the actual depreciation
expense would be $50,000, in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (GAAP).

2. The total revenue raised by the rental rates based on replacement cost for FY 20X5-X6
would be $147,600.

A new entry to establish the Equipment Replacement Reserve (Designation) based on
replacement cost would be as follows:

Motor Pool Fund

Account Debit (DR) Credit (CR)
Net Position — Unrestricted DR: $12,000
Equipment Replacement Reserve CR: $12,000

B. The case assumed required accurate replacement information and a sophisticated capital
asset system. This capability will not exist in all counties; as a result, other methods of
estimating replacement cost may be used. The case offered below assumes the availability
of an industry-wide inflationary index for vehicles:

1. Once again, the Motor Pool Internal Service Fund wishes to establish an Equipment
Replacement Reserve. On July 1, 20X5, the index that the fund uses to determine
inflationary trends shows that, during the preceding year, the cost of new vehicles
increased 3%. This increase will be applied to the historical cost of t